Texas Medical Center Library DigitalCommons@The Texas Medical Center

UT GSBS Dissertations and Theses (Open Access)

Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

5-2015

ATP-citrate lyase links cyclin E to cellular metabolism in breast cancer

Kim Lucenay

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu/utgsbs_dissertations Part of the <u>Biology Commons</u>, and the <u>Cancer Biology Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Lucenay, Kim, "ATP-citrate lyase links cyclin E to cellular metabolism in breast cancer" (2015). UT GSBS Dissertations and Theses (Open Access). Paper 594.

This Dissertation (PhD) is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences at DigitalCommons@The Texas Medical Center. It has been accepted for inclusion in UT GSBS Dissertations and Theses (Open Access) by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@The Texas Medical Center. For more information, please contact laurel.sanders@library.tmc.edu.



ATP-CITRATE LYASE LINKS CYCLIN E TO CELLULAR METABOLISM IN BREAST CANCER

A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Faculty of The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston and The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

By

Kimberly S. Lucenay, B.A. Houston, Texas

May, 2015

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my husband and parents:

Charles M. Lucenay

and

Alan and Peggy Szymanski

For their unconditional love, support and sacrifices they made for me, I am eternally grateful.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank my mentor, Dr. Khandan Keyomarsi for her support and guidance of my scientific growth. I also thank my co-mentor, Dr. Kelly Hunt who has offered valuable advice and guidance. I thank members of my advisory, examining and supervisory committees, Michelle Barton, Ph.D., Gordon Mills, Ph.D., Subrata Sen, Ph.D., Craig Logsdon, Ph.D., Janet Price D. Phil., Sendurai Mani, Ph.D., Dos Sarbassov, Ph.D., Francois Claret, Ph.D., Jill Schumacher, Ph.D., Jeffrey Frost, Ph.D., Wei Zhang, Ph.D., and Zhimin Lu for their time and valuable input guiding my research. I thank past and present members of the Keyomarsi laboratory for providing thoughtful discussions as well as making time in the lab enjoyable and fun, Dana Richardson, Hannah Wingate, Ph.D., Ben Mull, Ph.D., Nikki Delk, Ph.D., Sonia Kamrani, Ph.D., Ekem Efuet, Ph.D., Angela Webb, Ph.D., Mylinh Duong, Ph.D., Tony Caruso, Ph.D., Amanda Say, Ph.D., Amanda Hanks, Sira Macalou, Ph.D., Said Akli, Ph.D., Cansu Karakas, Ph.D., Yanna Liu, Ph.D., Angela Alexander, Ph.D., Chun-Hui-Su, Ph.D., Dong Yang, Ph.D., Jason Carey, Ph.D., Kwang Low, Ph.D., Xian Chen, Ph.D., Kavitha Balaji, Ph.D., and Smruthi Vijayaraghavan. I especially thank Tuyen Bui for assistance performing kinase assays as well as Iman Doostan, M.D. for training me on how to do mouse work. I also thank Natalie Jabbour-Leung for her friendship and camaraderie during the last 7 years; it has been great having a true friend by your side through this experience. I thank the Flow Cytometry and Cellular Imaging Facility, Wendy Schober, Nalini Patel, Duncan Mak, and Jared Burks, Ph.D., for their technical assistance. I thank Caroline Baughman and William Norton, D.V.M., from the Department of Veterinary Medicine and Surgery for their expertise and general well-being they

iii

provided the animals used in this project. Lastly, I thank the Department of Defense Breast Cancer Research Program for providing funding that supported this project.

ATP-CITRATE LYASE LINKS CYCLIN E TO CELLULAR METABOLISM IN BREAST CANCER

Kimberly S. Lucenay, B.A. Advisory Professor: Khandan Keyomarsi, Ph.D.

Cyclin E is altered or overexpressed in approximately one-third of tumors from patients with invasive breast cancer and is a powerful independent predictor for survival in women with stage I-III breast cancer. Full-length cyclin E (EL) is post-translationally cleaved into two low-molecular-weight isoforms, LMW-E (T1) and LMW-E (T2). LMW-E have been shown to exhibit greater binding affinity for cyclin-dependent kinase 2 (CDK2), cyclin dependent kinase inhibitors (CKIs), p21 and p27, but are resistant to p21 and p27 inhibition. In addition, transgenic mice expressing LMW-E have increased mammary tumor development and metastasis compared to EL transgenic mice. Therefore, LMW-E are more aggressive in cell cycle abrogation and mammary tumor development. The LMW-E isoforms are tumor specific and accumulate in the cytoplasm due to lack of a nuclear localization sequence (NLS). Therefore, we hypothesized that aberrant localization of LMW-E isoforms leads to molecular events that ultimately contribute to LMW-E breast cancer tumorigenicity. To address this hypothesis, we used a retrovirus-based protein complementation assay (RePCA) to identify LMW-E (T1) protein-protein interactions in breast cancer. Using this methodology, we found ATP-citrate lyase (ACLY) as a novel interacting protein of LMW-E (T1) in the cytoplasm. ACLY is a 125kDa homotetrameric enzyme that catalyzes cytoplasmic citrate to acetyl-CoA and oxaloacetate in the *de novo* lipogenesis

v

pathway. End products of this pathway consist of complex fatty acids that fuel membrane production of highly proliferating cells and lipid-based post-translational modifications that mediate protein-protein interactions. Additionally, we found that LMW-E upregulates ACLY enzymatic activity which leads to lipid droplet formation; thereby providing cells with essential building blocks to support growth. ACLY is also required for LMW-E mediated transformation, migration and invasion *in vitro*, as well as tumor growth *in vivo*. Taken together these data suggest a novel interplay between LMW-E and ACLY and how metabolic pathways and the cell cycle are linked in breast cancer tumorigenesis.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION TO THE LINK BETWEEN BREAST CANCER AND)
THE CELL CYCLE	1
1.1 OVERVIEW OF BREAST CANCER	1
1.2 THE CELL CYCLE AND CANCER	11
1.3 CYCLIN E	27
1.4 LOW MOLECULAR WEIGHT CYCLIN E	35
1.5 GAP IN KNOWLEDGE	40
CHAPTER 2: RETROVIRUS-BASED PROTEIN COMPLEMENTATION ASSAY	
(REPCA) REVEALS NOVEL LMW-E BINDING PROTEINS	42
2.1 INTRODUCTION	42
2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	54
2.3 RESULTS	57
2.4 CONCLUSIONS	66

CHAPTER 3: ATP-CITRATE LYASE LINKS LOW MOLECULAR WEIGHT CYCLIN E

TO CELLULAR METABOLISM IN BREAST CANCER	68
3.1 INTRODUCTION	68
3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	89
3.3 RESULTS	94
3.4 CONCLUSIONS	110

CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	113
4.1 CONCLUSIONS AND MAJOR FINDINGS	113
4.2 FUTURE DIRECTIONS	114
4.3 SIGNIFICANCE	119
REFERENCES	.120
VITA	150

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

FIGURE

1	Schematic of the mammalian cell cycle	12
2	Schematic of human cyclin E1	28
3	Functions of human cyclin E and known substrates	31
4	Schematic of the cyclin E isoforms	36
5	Schematic of the Yeast-2-Hybrid assay	46
6	Schematic of the Split Ubiquitin System	48
7	Schematic of the RePCA screen	51
8	RePCA screening process for LMW-E(T1) interacting proteins	58
9	Validation of RePCA clones	62
10	Analysis of interaction between cyclin E and ACLY	64
11	Molecular pathways that induce the Warburg effect	70
12	Therapeutic targets in molecular pathways	78
13	The <i>de novo</i> lipogenesis pathway	85
14	LMW-E isoforms affect ACLY enzymatic activity	96
15	Cytoplasmic ACLY activity results in lipid droplet formation	99
16	ACLY is required for LMW-E mediated anchorage-independent growth	102
17	Inhibition of ACLY reduces migration and invasion in hMECs	104
18	ACLY is required for LMW-E mediated tumor growth	108

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE

1	The six molecular subtypes of breast cancer	3
2	Biological functions of cyclins abd CDKs in the mammalian cells cycle	14
3	Cell cycle proteins deregulated in cancer	24
4	Common methods for identifying protein-protein interactions	43
5	Advantages and disadvantages of RePCA	52
6	Interacting proteins of LMW-E(T1) identified from RePCA	60
7	Molecular alterations that affect metabolic circuits	72
8	Inhibitors of metabolic enzymes and effectors of common pathways	79

ABBREVIATIONS

ACC	acetyl-CoA carboxylase
ACLY	ATP-citrate lyase
ALDO-A	aldolase A
AP-MS	affinity purification-mass spectrometry
BiF	bimolecular fluorescence
BL1	basal-like 1
BL-2	basal-like 2
BLIA	basal-like immune activated
BLIS	basal-like immune suppressed
CDK	cyclin dependent kinase
CKI	cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor
CSC	cancer stem cell
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DBD	DNA binding domain
DFS	disease free survival
DSS	disease specific survival
DTT	DL-dithiothreitol
EMT	epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition
ER	estrogen receptor
ERM	enhanced retroviral mutagen
FACS	fluorescence activated cell sorting
FASN	fatty acid synthase
FDG-PET	¹⁸ F fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography
FRET	fluorescence resonance energy transfer
GFP	green fluorescence protein
GST	glutathione-S-transferase
HA	hemagglutinin
HER2	human epidermal growth factor receptor
HMEC	human mammary epithelial cell
IFPC	intense fluorescent protein C-terminus
IFPN	intense fluorescent protein N-terminus
IM	immunomodulatory
IPTG	isopropyl-β-D-1thiogalactopyranoside
LAR	luminal androgen receptor
LDs	lipid droplets
LMW-E	low molecular weight cyclin E
M	mesenchymal
MES	mesenchymal
MSL	mesenchymal stem-like
NLS	nuclear localization sequence
ORR	overall response rate
OXPHOS	oxidative phosphorylation
PCA	protein complementation assay
PMSF	phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride

pentose phosphate pathway
progesterone receptor
retrovirus-based protein complementation assay
receptor tyrosine kinases
splice acceptor
splice donor
transcriptional activation domain
tricarboxylic acid cycle
tumor derived cells
triple negative breast cancer
time to progression
yeast-2-hybrid

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION TO THE LINK BETWEEN BREAST CANCER AND THE CELL CYCLE

1.1 OVERVIEW OF BREAST CANCER

1.1a. Breast cancer statistics

Breast cancer is the most frequently diagnosed cancer in women with 1 in 8 women developing the disease over the course her lifetime and an estimated 231,840 new cases in 2015 alone [1]. Moreover, breast cancer in women continues to be a leading cause of cancer death, falling second to cancer of the lung and broncus [1]. Breast cancer develops when normal, healthy mammary cells acquire mutations, or abnormal changes that lead to uncontrolled growth. However, a genetic predisposition is responsible for only 5-10% of all breast cancers leaving 85-90% of breast cancers to arise sporadically [2]. Significant advances have been made in the identification of the genetic drivers of hereditary breast cancer, including BRCA1, BRCA2, CHEK2, ATM PALB2, p53 and PTEN mutations [2-5], but identification of the molecular mechanisms underlying sporadic breast cancer remain largely elusive for this complex disease.

1.1b. Molecular subtypes of breast cancer

Breast cancer is a heterogeneous disease composed of several molecular subtypes harboring distinct prognosis and outcomes. Clinical variables, on their own, such as tumor grade, tumor size and lymph node status are not sufficient to determine prognosis, therefore, determination of the molecular state of the tumor is required to drive treatment decisions [6]. A patient's overall prognosis is largely dependent on the molecular profile of the tumor itself. Studies analyzing gene expression using DNA

microarrays were able to segregate and differentiate breast cancers based on their unique gene expression profile [7]. Data from this seminal paper lead to our current system in subtyping breast cancer. At this time, there are six molecular subtypes of breast cancer: Luminal A, Luminal B, HER2-enriched, Basal-like (which includes triplenegative breast cancer "TNBC" and its relative subtypes), Claudin-low and normal-like.

Luminal A breast cancer originates in the inner (luminal) cells of the mammary ducts and is the most common breast cancer subtype [8, 9]. It is characterized by estrogen receptor positivity (ER+), and/or progesterone receptor positivity (PR+) and negative expression of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2-) (Table 1). Luminal A tumors have a low proliferation rate as seen by Ki67^{-/low} staining [7, 10]. The prevalence of luminal A breast cancer is 28-31% and while the relapse rate is 27.8%, overall, patients have a good prognosis with a 5-year survival rate of 95%, which is the highest of all the intrinsic subtypes [8, 11, 12]. Treatment for luminal A tumors usually requires only endocrine therapy. Interruption of the estrogen-signaling pathway has proven to be the most effective treatment for luminal A breast cancer. Selective estrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) such as tamoxifen; which inhibit the function of ER are given to premenopausal and postmenopausal patients and selective estrogen receptor down-regulators (SERDs) such as fulvestrant are given to postmenopausal patients [13, 14]. Additionally, postmenopausal patients may be given aromatase inhibitors such as anestrozole, exemestane or letrozole which block estrogen production or inactivate ER [8, 15]. However, luminal A tumors often become resistant to endocrine-based therapy and alternate treatment strategies are being developed [12]. The insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) and vascular endothelial growth factor

Subtype	Expression profile	Prognosis	Prevalence	Treatment
Luminal A	ER+ and/or PR+ HER2- Low Ki67	Good	28-31%	Hormone therapy
Luminal B	ER+/or PR+ HER2+/or HER2- with Hi Ki67	Poor	19-23%	Hormone therapy and/or chemotherapy
HER2- enriched	ER-/PR- HER2+ Hi Kl67	Poor	12-21%	Targeted therapy (Trastuzumab, Lapatinib)
Basal-like	ER-/PR-HER2- EGFR Cytokeratin5/6	Poor	11-23%	Combination of surgery, radiation and chemotherapy
Claudin-low	ER-/PR-HER2- Ki67 low Claudin3,4,7 low CD44+/CD24 /-low EpCam-/low	Poor	7-14%	Chemotherapy
Normal-like	N/A	Good	3-10%	N/A
(+): positive		L	L	1

Table: 1 The six molecular subtypes of breast cancer

(-): negative Adapted from:

 Perou, C.M., T. Sorlie, M.B. Eisen, M. van de Rijn, S.S. Jeffrey, C.A. Rees, J.R. Pollack, D.T. Ross, H. Johnsen, L.A. Akslen, O. Fluge, A. Pergamenschikov, C. Williams, S.X. Zhu, P.E. Lonning, A.L. Borresen-Dale, P.O. Brown, and D. Botstein, *Molecular portraits of human breast tumours*. Nature, 2000. **406**(6797): p. 747-52.

2. Eroles, P.a.L., Ana et al., *Molecular biology in breast cancer: Intrinsic subtypes and signaling pathways.* Cancer Treatment Reviews, 2012. **38**: p. 698-707.

3. Carey, L., Perou, CM and Millikan, RC et al., *Race, breast cancer subtypes, and survival in the Carolina breast cancer study.* Journal of the American Medical Association, 2006. **295**(21): p. 2492 2502.

4. Prat A, a.P.C., *Deconstructing the molecular portraits of breast cancer*. Molecular Oncology, 2011. **5**: p. 5-23.

(VEGF) signaling pathways have been shown to contribute to resistance and treatments using an anti-VEGF antibody, bevacizumab, along with the chemotherapeutic, paclitaxel, has been effective [16-18]. Additional therapies targeting VEGFR1, VEGFR2, KIT and PDGFR combined with tamoxifen treatment have been shown to effectively reduce tumor volume [19].

Luminal B breast cancer is similar to luminal A breast cancer in that it originates from the luminal cells of the mammary duct and is ER+ and/or PR+. However, luminal B breast tumors can either be HER2- or HER2+ and display an elevated proliferation rate as seen by high Ki67 staining [7, 8]. The prevalence of luminal B breast cancer is 19-23% and has a higher recurrence rate than luminal A breast cancer [11]. Overall, luminal B breast cancer is more aggressive and leads to a worse prognosis for patients due to its high proliferative capacity and higher histological grade [8].

Current treatment strategies for luminal B breast cancer rely on chemotherapy, endocrine therapy and aromatase inhibitors, but deciding on a treatment regimen can often be convoluted due to the heterogeneity of the tumor, innate chemotherapy insensitivity and resistance to endocrine therapy. Therefore, there are a few diagnostic tools that have been developed over the years that are commercially available to help drive treatment decisions. One type of diagnostic tool is Onco*type* DX. Onco*type* DX was developed by Genomic Health, Inc. and is used for women with early stage ER+ breast cancer [20]. This test helps estimate the likelihood of disease recurrence and also helps define benefits from chemotherapy [20]. Onco*type* DX analyzes gene expression levels from 16 cancer-related genes and normalizes their expression to five background genes in order to determine a Recurrence Score between 0-100 for the

patient [20]. For example, Paik et al. and colleagues found that node-negative ER+ breast cancer patients with a high Recurrence Score were likely to benefit from a chemotherapy regimen such as cyclophosphamide/methotrexate/fluorouracil (CMF), while a low Recurrence Score signified minimal benefit [21]. Therefore, diagnostic tools such as Onco*type* DX provide valuable information for clinicians in designing treatment strategies for ER+ breast cancer patients.

Luminal B tumors are also subject to becoming endocrine resistant [11]. Indeed, a study conducted by the Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group (EBCTCG) found that 33% of breast cancer patients treated with tamoxifen over five years are likely to develop recurrent disease within 15 years [22, 23]. Endocrine resistance develops by multiple mechanisms including loss of ER α protein expression, expressing truncated forms of either ER α or ER β , modifications made to ER α post-translationally, or degregulation of co-activator proteins [22]. For example, overexpression of nuclear receptor co-activator 3 (NCOA3), a co-activator of ER α , results in constitutive ER α transcription and leads to estrogen resistance *in vitro* as well as *in vivo* [22, 24, 25].

Since endocrine resistance is a challenge, there is a focus to identify other biomarkers and molecular pathways that drive luminal B tumors. IGF-1R (Insulin growth factor 1 receptor) monoclonal antibodies are currently in phase I and II clinical trial either alone as a single agent or coupled with chemotherapy [26]. Other targets being investigated for luminal B breast cancer are FGF, PI3K and cyclin D1 [26]. Cyclin D1 is an attractive target for luminal B tumors due to its ability to drive proliferation through interaction with CDK4/6 [27].

Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 or HER2 is a component of the epidermal growth factor receptor family [28]. HER2-enriched breast cancer is characterized by amplification of the HER2 gene located in the 17q12 chromosome and subsequent enrichment of the HER2 protein. It is also characterized by negative expression of ER and PR, but presents positivity for Ki67 [7, 8]. The prevalence of HER2-enriched breast cancer is 12-21% and has a poor prognosis due to positive lymph node status, poor tumor grade, early and frequent recurrence of the tumor, as well as metastasis to the liver and lungs [11, 29]. Additionally, women are diagnosed at an earlier age compared to luminal A or luminal B breast cancer and up to 40% have p53 mutations [8, 9].

Treatment for HER2 positive breast cancer relies mainly on chemotherapy and targeted therapies such as trastuzumab (Herceptin) and lapatinib (Tykerb). Trastuzumab is a humanized monoclonal antibody that targets domain IV in the extracellular domain of HER2 and prevents signal transduction [12, 30]. The combination of trastuzumab plus chemotherapy resulted in increased response and overall survival in HER2 positive metastatic breast cancer patients. Specifically, the overall survival rate increased from 20.3 months to 25.1 months under combination treatment vs. chemotherapy alone [31]. These data along with increased overall response rates (ORR) and time to progression (TTP) rates made this regimen a first-line treatment for HER2 positive metastatic breast cancer in 1998 [31].

A derivative of trastuzumab, pertuzumab, is a monoclonal antibody that targets domain II of HER2 and prevents dimerization [31]. Presently, the first-line treatment for metastatic HER2 postive breast cancer resides from the results of the CLEOPATRA

trial which combined trastuzumab plus docetaxel with or without pertuzumab [31]. Patients in the pertuzumab group displayed significant progression free survival and overall survival [31].

Additional treatment strategies being used to target HER2+ breast cancer is the use of antibody-drug conjugates which specifically target tumor cells to deliver cytotoxic agents [12, 32]. Trastuzumab-emtansine (T-DM1) is currently being used in clinical trials and combines trastuzumab and DM1, a microtubule inhibitor [33, 34]. Patients given T-DM-1 showed an overall response rate of 25.9 to 34.5% [35].

One of the on-going challenges with HER2+ breast cancer is resistance to HER2-targeted therapies, such as trastuzumab. It has been shown that HER2+ breast cancer patients with metastatic disease do quite well initially with trastuzumab treatment, but exhibit progression of the disease within at least one year [36]. There are multiple mechanisms attributed to trastuzumab resistance, including increased activation of PI3K/Akt pathway either by activation of other growth factor receptors like IGF1R or by mutations in the tumor suppressor, PTEN [36]. Moreover, steric hindrance by mucin-4 (MUC4) potentially blocks trastuzumab and HER2 from interacting [36]. Therefore, potential targets bring investigated to treat HER2 positive breast cancer with trastuzumab resistance include inhibitors toward mTOR and PI3K pathways [30].

Another treatment option for HER2+ breast cancer patients are anti-HER2 vaccines [37]. Treating cancer with a vaccine has the potential to induce a long-lasting immune response that could be manufactured against multiple antigens. Moreover, with the help of memory cells within the immune system, cancer vaccines would eliminate risk of recurrence [37]. HER2-based vaccines are currently in phase II clinical

trial [38]. A peptide-based method, called E75, targets amino acids 369-377 in the extracellular domain of HER2. In this trial, 195 patients were given up to six doses, with about half receiving additional immunizations [38]. In the end, although DFS was not statistically significant between treated and non-treated patients, risk of recurrence was down 48% in the treated group [38]. Moreover, in node-positive patients, the differences were greater. Specifically, patients treated with the E75 vaccine had a 53% decrease in recurrence risk along with 24 month DFS rate of 90.2% compared to 79.1% for untreated patients [38].

Basal-like breast cancer is a very aggressive subtype of breast cancer that arises from the basal cells or outer cells surrounding the mammary duct. Basal-like breast tumors exhibit histological features of basal cells including positivity for high molecular weight cytokeratins such as cytokeratin 5, 6, and 17 [8, 39]. These tumors also express P-cadherin, caveolin 1 and 2, nestin, CD44, and EGFR, but do not express ER, PR or HER2 and are often referred to as "triple negative" [8, 29]. However, basal-like breast cancer and triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) are not synonymous due to a discordance rate of up to 30% [8, 40]. A basal-like IHC profile has been identified and has been coined the "Basal Core Group" and is based on the expression of five markers: ER, PR, HER2, EGFR, and CK5/6. This group of markers has 100% specificity and 76% sensitivity when identifying basal-like breast tumors [8, 41].

TNBC, on the other hand, was subtyped in 2011 by Lehmann et al. by gene expression profiling from 21 breast cancer data sets and found that TNBC can be stratified into 6 subtypes: basal-like 1 (BL1), basal-like 2 (BL2), immunomodulatory

(IM), mesenchymal (M), mesenchymal stem-like (MSL), and luminal androgen receptor (LAR) [42]. The BL1 and BL2 subtype displayed a gene expression signature consisting of cell cycle and DNA damage response genes and the M and MSL subtype displayed a gene expression signature for genes involved in the epithelialmesenchymal transition and growth factor pathways. The LAR subtype displayed expression of genes in the androgen receptor signaling pathway. More recently, Berstein et al. also subtyped TNBC tumors from 198 patients and found only four subtypes: Luminal–AR (LAR), mesenchymal (MES), Basal-like immune suppressed (BLIS) and Basal-like Immune-Activated (BLIA) [43]. These two studies provide overlap for the LAR and MES TNBC subtypes, but lack agreement on the other four Lehmann subtypes. Nevertheless, the ongoing efforts to classify TNBC provide a foundation for molecular-targeted therapies and treatment strategies for patients afflicted with TNBC.

The prevalence of basal-like breast cancer is 11-23% and is more common in premenopausal women and women of African decent [9, 11]. Unfortunately, prognosis for basal-like breast cancer is poor due to large tumor size at presentation, high histological grade and proliferation rate, lymph node positivity, and lack of targeted treatment strategies [8, 44]. Surgery, chemotherapy and radiation are the main treatment strategies for basal-like breast tumors [45]. Basal-like tumors have a high rate of p53 mutations as well as BRCA1 mutations, both of which function in DNA damage repair [8]. Thus, these tumors initially respond very well to chemotherapy, however, the relapse rate is common within the first one to three years [46, 47]. In patients with BRCA1 mutations, inhibition of PARP-1 (poly-ADP-ribose-polymerase- 1),

which also aids in DNA repair, leads to cell death due to the accumulation of DNA damage; a concept known as synthetic lethality. One study showed that 47% of breast cancer patients with BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations responded to treatment using the PARP-1 inhibitor, Olaparib (AZD2281), and 63% showed clinical benefit from the drug [48].

In addition to PARP inhibitors as a targeted therapy to treat basal-like breast cancer, inhibition of EGFR is also promising due to its overexpression in TNBC [45]. However, the efficacy of the EGFR monoclonal antibody, cetuximab, is modest. A randomized phase III trial evaluating cisplatin with and without cetuximab showed a response rate of 20% and progression free survival extended about 2 months [49]. Other studies have investigated the efficacy of small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors toward EGFR as a monotherapy with little success and may be beneficial to combine these small molecule inhibitors with a chemotherapy regimen [50]. Lastly, other targets being evaluated for treatment of basal-like breast cancer include c-Kit, EGFR, VEGFR, mTOR, $\alpha\beta$ -crystallin, Src, HDAC inhibitors, HSP90 and the JAK/STAT signaling pathway [51, 52].

The claudin-low subtype was first discovered in 2007 by Herschkowitz et al. and has a similar gene expression pattern to the basal-like subtype including negativity for ER, PR and HER2, but differs from the basal-like group in that claudin-low tumors display low expression of tight junction genes claudin 3, 4, 7 and occludin and the intercellular adhesion gene, E-cadherin [8]. Furthermore, genes involved in the immune response expressed by T- and B-lymphoid cells that infiltrate the tumor are unique to the claudin-low group [53, 54]. Additionally, claudin-low tumors express

genes related to the cancer stem cell (CSC) phenotype such as CD44^{+/high}/CD24^{-/low} along with mesenchymal features such as vimentin and N-cadherin expression [11]. The prevalence of claudin-low breast cancer is 7-14% and, overall, has a poor prognosis [11, 29]. Generally, the poor prognosis of claudin-low tumors is due to radiation and chemotherapy insensitivity, and tumor relapse due to a residual CSC population [11]. Specifically, *in vitro* studies evaluated patient breast tumor biopsies before and after neoadjuvant chemotherapy and showed that chemotherapy increased the percentage of CD44^{+/high}/CD24^{-/low} cells and these cells were more capable of mammosphere formation; both characteristics of CSCs [55]. Therefore, identification of signaling pathways that regulate self-renewal and thus, compounds that target these pathways would provide a treatment strategy for claudin-low tumors. Lastly, normallike tumors have a prevalence rate of 3-10%, a gene expression profile that resembles the normal breast and the prognosis overall is very good [11].

1.2 THE CELL CYCLE AND CANCER

1.2a. The cell cycle

The mammalian cell cycle is a series of synchronized events a single cell must accomplish in order to divide into two daughter cells and consists of two major parts: interphase and mitosis [56]. Interphase encompasses G1, S and G2 phases of the cell cycle and is a period for cell growth (schematic of the mammalian cell cycle Figure 1). G1 is the gap phase between mitosis and DNA replication in which cells grow in



Figure 1. Schematic of the mammalian cell cycle

The mammalian cell cycle consists of 5 phases: G0, G1, S, G2 and M. Progression though one cycle first requires growth factor stimulation and subsequent activation of cyclin/CDK complexes. At the restriction point, the cell is fully committed to the cell cycle and can proceed in the absence of growth factors. G1 cyclin/CDK complexes are controlled by Cip/Kip and INK4 families of inhibitors, while cyclin B/CDK1 are tightly controlled by phosphorylation and dephosphorylation by Cdc25 and Wee1/Myt1, respectively.

volume, analyze growth signals and prepare for DNA replication [57]. DNA synthesis occurs in S phase and G2 is the gap phase between S phase and M phase in which the cell prepares for cell division. Mitosis, or M phase, occurs just prior to cell division when chromosomes condense, align, sister chromatids separate and cytokinesis occurs to form two daughter cells [57]. Cells can reversibly exit the cell cycle at G0 phase and enter a quiescent or non-proliferative state when nutrients are lacking or cell adhesion is inhibited. When conditions become more favorable quiescent cells are able to re-enter the cell cycle [57-59]. In fact, the majority of the non-proliferating cells in the human body are in G0 [60].

Our knowledge of the mammalian cell cycle stemmed from studies using single cell eukaryotes and marine invertebrates [57]. Progression through the mammalian cell cycle occurs mainly through phosphorylation events facilitated by cyclins and their partners; cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs) [56]. Cyclins, as their name implies, oscillate in expression during the cell cycle and are synthesized and degraded in a highly orchestrated fashion, while CDK protein expression remains stable [61]. To date, there are as many as 29 cyclin or cyclin-related proteins (A1, A2, B1, B2, B3, C, D1, D2, D3, E1, E2, F, G1, G2, H, I, J, K, L1, L2, M1, M2, M3, M4, O, T1, T2, Cables 1, Cables 2) and are related to one another by 150 conserved amino acid residues called 'the cyclin box'. In addition there are at least 13 CDKs (CDK1-13) [62, 63]. However, only specific cyclin/Cdk complexes have the required kinase activity to drive the cell cycle forward in a timely fashion (Table 2) [62, 63].

Unlike other cyclins, D-type cyclins levels do not oscillate and are controlled by the presence or absence of growth factors [57]. Mouse knockout studies of

Table: 2. Biological functions of cyclins and CDKs in the mammalian cell cycle

Cyclin or	Biological function	Cell cycle binding	Knockout phenotype	Viability
CDK		partner		
			-A1: males are sterile due	A1: Viable
Cyclin A	(G1-S) and	and	prophase	A2:
	(G2-M)	CDK2		Embryonic
			-A2: Defective mitosis	lethal before E5.5
			-B1: Embryonic lethal	B1: Lethal at E10.5
Cyclin B	Cell cycle (G2-M)	CDK1	-B2: Develop normally, males and females are fertile.	B2: Viable
Cyclin C	Cell cycle (G0-S) Transcription	CDK3 and CDK8	ND*	ND*
			-D1: Small body size, hypoplastic retinopathy, defective breast development during pregnancy, neuropathy -D2: Defective ovarian granulosa cell development and female sterility. Males have hypoplastic testes but are fertile. Impaired proliferation of peripheral B-lymphocytes	D1: Viable D2: Viable D3: Viable D2 and D3: Embryonic lethal before
Cyclin D	Cell cycle (G0-S)	CDK4 and CDK6	 -D3: Hypoplastic thymus with loss of T-cell maturation from (CD4- ,CD8-) to (CD4+, CD8+) cells due to cytokine- independent defects in pre-TCD signaling. -D2 and D3: Severe megaloblasticanemia -D1 and D3: Neuropathy leading to meconium 	E18.5 D1 and D3: Death at P1, but few survive to 2 months D1 and D2: Viable, but die within 3 weeks D1, D2, D3:

			aspiration. Survivors fail to thrive and exhibit hypoplastic retinas. -D1 and D2: Retarded growth and impaired coordination. Inhibited postnatal cerebellar development and hypoplastic retinas. -D1,D2,D3: Severe hematopoietic deficits and death due to anemia and defects of heart development.	Embryonic lethal at E16.5
Cyclin E	Cell cycle (G1-S)	CDK2	-E1: Normal -E2: Hypoplastic testes, reduced sperm count, and male infertility -E1 and E2: Cardiac abnormalities, reduced endoduplication in megakaryocytes	E1: Viable E2: Viable E1 and E2: Embryos dead by E11.5
Cyclin F	Cell cycle (S, G2, M)	ND*	Embryonic lethal due to defects in placental development.	Lethal at E10.5
Cyclin G	DNA damage response	CDK5	ND*	ND*
Cyclin H	CDK7	CDK activation, transcription, DNA repair	ND*	ND*
Cyclin L	CDK12 and CDK13	Transcription, splicing	ND*	ND*
Cyclin K	CDK12 and CDK13	Transcription, CDK activation	ND*	ND*
Cyclin T	CDK9	Transcription	ND*	ND*

CDK1	Cell cycle (G2-M)	Cyclin B	Embryonic lethal due to defects in first cell divisions	Lethal
CDK2	Cell cycle (G1-S)	Cyclin E and Cyclin A	Sterility in males and females due to defects in meiosis; no effect on mitotic cells	Viable
CDK3	Cell cycle (interphase)	Cyclin C	Mutation inducing premature stop codon results in a normal phenotype; most laboratory strains carry this mutation	Viable
CDK4	Cell cycle (G0-S)	Cyclin D	 -CDK4: Small body size. Males are sterile due to hypoplastic tested and low sperm counts. Female sterility due to defects in hypothalamus and pituitary, abnormal estrus and failure of corpus luteum. Abnormal development of pancreatic β-islet cells and insulin- dependent diabetes. -CDK4 and CDK6: Small embryos, partial failure of hematopoiesis resulting from multipotential progenitors and multilineage deficits. 	CDK4: Viable CDK4 and CDK6: Embryonic lethality at E14.5 and few live pups die soon after birth
CDK5	Neuronal cell cycle and differentiation	Cyclin G	Defective development and structure of the nevous system	Perinatal lethality
CDK6	Cell cycle (G0-S)	Cyclin D	 -CDK6: Thymic and splenic hypoplasia. Mild defects in hematopoiesis. T-lymphocytes have delay in S-phase entry. -CDK4 and CDK6: Small embryos, partial failure of hematopoiesis resulting from multipotential 	CDK6: Viable CDK4 and CDK6: Embryonic lethality at E14.5 and few live pups die soon after birth

			progenitors and multilineage deficits.	
CDK7	Phosphoylate and activate CDKs. Controls transcription by phosphorylating TFIIH and CTD of RNA polymerase II	Cyclin H	ND*	ND*
CDK8	Transcription	Cyclin C	ND*	ND*
CDK9	Transcription	Cyclin T	ND*	ND*
CDK10	Cell cycle (G2-M) and transcription	ND*	ND*	ND*
CDK11	Cell cycle (G2-M) and transcription	Cyclin L	Essential for peri- implantation of embryos and defects in mitosis such as centrosome maturation, spindle formation, sister chromatid cohesion and cytokinesis	Lethal at E3.5
CDK12	Splicing regulation	Cyclin K	ND*	ND*
CDK13	Splicing regulation	Cyclin K	ND*	ND*

*Abbreviations:

ND, Not Determined

Adapted from:

1. Sherr, C.J. and Roberts, J.M. CDK inhibitors: positive and negative regulators of G1-phase progression. Genes and Dev. 1999 (13): 1501-1512.

2. Morgan, D.O. Cyclin-dependent kinases: Engines, clocks and microprocessors. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 1997. (13):261-91.

3. Johnson, D.G. and Walker, C.L. Cyclins and cell cycle checkpoints. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 1999. (39):295- 312.

4. Sherr, C.J. and Roberts, J.M. Living with or without cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinases. Genes and Dev. 2004. (18):2699-2711.

5. Geng, Y., Q. Yu, W. Whoriskey, F. Dick, K.Y. Tsai, H.L. Ford, D.K. Biswas, A.B. Pardee, B. Amati, T. Jacks, A. Richardson, N. Dyson, and P. Sicinski, *Expression of cyclins E1 and E2 during mouse development and in neoplasia.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2001. **98**(23): p. 13138-43.

6. Malumbres, M aand Barbacid, M. Mammalian cyclin-dependent kinases. Trends in Biochemical Sci. 2005. 30(11):630-641.

7. Malumbres, M. and Barbacid, M. Cell cycle, CDKs and cancer: a changing paradigm. Nat. Rev. Cancer. 2009. (9):153-166.

8. Hunter, T. and Pines, J. Cyclins and cancer II: cyclin D and CDK2 inhibitors come of age. Cell. 1994 (79):573-582.

9. Kalaszczynska, I., Y. Geng, T. lino, S. Mizuno, Y. Choi, I. Kondratiuk, D.P. Silver, D.J. Wolgemuth, K. Akashi, and P. Sicinski, *Cyclin A is redundant in fibroblasts but essential in hematopoietic and embryonic stem cells*. Cell, 2009. **138**(2): p. 352-65.

10. Brandeis, M., I. Rosewell, M. Carrington, T. Crompton, M.A. Jacobs, J. Kirk, J. Gannon, and T. Hunt, *Cyclin B2-null mice develop normally and are fertile whereas cyclin B1-null mice die in utero.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1998. **95**(8): p. 4344-9.

11. Tetzlaff, MT, Bai C, Finegold M, Wilson J, Harper JW, Mahon KA, Elledge, SJ. Cyclin F disruption compromises placental development and affects normal cell cycle execution. Mol. and Cell Biol. 2004. (24)6:2487-2498.

Kohoutek, J and Blazek, D. Cyclin K goes with CDK12 and CDK13. Cell Div. 2012. 7(12):1-10.
 Li, T. Inoue, A, Lahi, JM, Kidd, VJ et al. Failure to proliferate and mitotic arrest od CDK11^{P110/P58}-null mutant mice at the blastocyst stage of embryonic cell development. Mol. and Cell Biol. 2004. 24(8):3188-3197.

cyclin D1, D2 and D3, collectively referred to as cyclin D, have been shown to be functionally redundant, but have tissue specificity. Studies in mice revealed that knockout of any two D-type cyclins results in dealth, highlighting the functional importance this cyclin [57, 64]. Upon mitogenic stimulation cyclin D binds and activates CDK4 and CDK6 [57, 63]. The cyclin D/CDK4/6 complex partially phosphorylates pocket proteins Rb, p107 and p130. Rb, retinoblastoma tumor suppressor protein, is the primary substrate of the cyclinD/CDK4/6 complex [57]. These pocket proteins are bound to transcription factors E2F1 and DP1 that positively regulate transcription of cell cycle genes cyclin A, cyclin E, CDK1 and cdc25 [57, 60]. The binding of Rb to E2F1 and DP1 restricts E2F1 transcriptional activity and complete inhibition of Rb and dissociation from E2F1 is achieved by hyperphosphorylation by cyclin E/CDK2. This results in a positive feedback loop and the ability of the cell to progress to S phase [57, 63]. In late G1 the cell reaches the restriction point, "R" or "START", in which the cell is no longer responsive to growth factors; and indicates that the cell is fully committed to the cell cycle [60, 65].

Cyclin A1 and cyclin A2 (collectively referred to as cyclin A) function in S phase to promote DNA replication. Upon entry into S phase, cyclin A first binds to CDK2 to phosphorylate substrates involved in DNA synthesis and to drive progression through S phase [66]. Then, cyclin A dissociates from CDK2 and binds CDK1 during G2 to promote entry to M phase. Cyclin A degradation occurs at the end of G2 and the onset of mitosis begins [66].

Cyclin B1 and B2 are both present in dividing mammalian cells, however cyclin B1 is referred to as the mitotic cyclin translocates to the nucleus and binds to CDK1 to

drive the cell through mitosis [63, 67, 68]. The stages of mitosis are prophase, prometaphase, metaphase, anaphase, telophase and cytokinesis. Cyclin B/CDK1 aids the mitotic process by phosphorylating more than 70 substrates involved in initiating centrosome separation, nuclear envelope breakdown and chromosome condensation [63]. At first, in order to prevent premature cell division, Wee1 and Myt1 kinases phosphorylate CDK1 at tyrosine 15 and threonine 14 to inhibit its activity; then Cdc25C dephosphorylates CDK1 at these same sites leading to its activation and allowing the cell to progress through mitosis [60, 65]. A complete cell cycle ends with the ubiquitination of cyclin B by the anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome (APC/C) leading to its degradation [57, 63]. Depending on mitogenic signals, the cell will either go through another cell cycle or enter quiescence.

Regulation of cell cycle CDKs occurs by two families of CDK inhibitors (CKIs): INK4 and Cip/Kip. The INK4 family consists of p15^{INK4b}, p16^{INK4a}, p18^{INK4c} and p19^{INK4d} and function by preventing CDK4 and CDK6 binding to cyclin D [57, 60]. The INK4 proteins display approximately 40% sequence homology that comes from four sequential ankyrin motifs [57]. p16 was initially identified in SV40 T antigen transformed cells and found to be a binding protein and inhibitor of CDK4, but can also inhibit CDK6 in a similar fashion [69]. Importantly, Rb can inhibit p16 gene expression via negative feedback inhibition thus controlling cell proliferation [57]. In contrast, p15 expression is not related to Rb status, rather is induced by the growth inhibitory cytokine, transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) [57].

The Cip/Kip family consists of p21^{Cip1}, p27^{Kip1} and p57^{Kip2} and mainly function to inhibit cyclin/Cdk complexes, but also inhibit kinases not related to the cell cycle [57,

60, 65]. p21 inhibits cyclin D/CDK4, cyclin E/CDK2 and cyclin A/CDK2, and inhibition of cyclin/CDK complexes may require more than one p21 molecule [69]. Additionally, proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) and other components of the DNA replication machinery are inhibited by p21, and are therefore arrested prior to S phase to prevent premature DNA replication [69]. p21 is transcriptionally regulated by p53, a tumor suppressor protein, and is essential for p53-mediated arrest upon DNA damage [57, 69].

The other Cip/Kip proteins, p27 and p57, are similar to p21 in that they share a conserved N-terminus required for cyclin/CDK inhibition [57]. Specifically, p27 controls cell proliferation by facilitating anti-growth signals from TGF- β and proteins involved in cell contact [57]. Whereas p21 and p27 are ubiquitously expressed, p57 is tissue specific and plays a specialized role in controlling cell proliferation [57].

The integrity of the mammalian cell cycle is maintained by two main cell cycle checkpoints: DNA damage checkpoint at G1/S and DNA damage checkpoint at G2/M [63]. Genotoxic agents or environmental factors that cause DNA damage are recognized and evaluated at the G1/S checkpoint. Here, the cell induces cell cycle arrest in a p53-dependent manner to repair damage or if damage is too severe, progress to apoptosis [63, 70]. The induction of p53 causes the upregulation of genes involved in cell cycle arrest (p21), regulation of p53 (Mdm2) and apoptosis (Bax, Fas) [60]. There are also mechanisms in place if damage occurs during DNA replication, but these mechanisms are still being elucidated [60, 71]. Studies have shown that the replication fork stalls due to p21 sequestering PCNA or PCNA being degraded though ubiquitination by Rad6 [70]. The G2/M checkpoint monitors the cell for DNA damage

before mitosis. Here, cell cycle arrest occurs through Wee1 and Myt1 kinase upregulation and well as downregulation of Cdc25C [63, 70]. In addition, cyclin B/CDK1 is sequestered in the cytoplasm by Cdc25A/14-3-3 proteins [70]. Lastly, there is a checkpoint during mitosis call the 'spindle assembly checkpoint' [60, 63]. The spindle assembly checkpoint ensures proper alignment and segregation of the chromosomes [60, 63]. Ultimately, loss of checkpoint control can lead to genetic abnormalities and overall contribute to tumorigenic processes in mammalian cells.

1.2b. Cell cycle deregulation in cancer

Cancer is largely a disease of improper cellular proliferation, but the underlying mechanisms that permit aberrant proliferation in cancer cells are complex and encompass decades of research [72]. Observations that the cell cycle is deregulated in cancer resulted from the early work of Theodor Boveri. In 1889, observed that complementary chromosomes within the nucleus are required for proper embryonic development and reasoned that aberrant chromosomes may lead to malignant transformtion [73]. Later, in 1971, Alfred Knudson demonstrated retinoblastoma could be caused by as little as one mutation in each of the alleles of the retinoblastoma gene (RB1) [74]. This important observation lead to the "two-hit hypothesis" which states that individuals would develop familial retinoblastoma if they first have a hereditary mutation in one RB1 allele and acquire an additional mutation in the second allele by an environmental source. In cases of sporadic retinoblastoma, both mutations would be acquired. Knudson's studies were integral in establishing the idea that cancer arises from genetic changes in either oncogenes, which acquire gain-of-function

mutations, or tumor-suppressor genes, in the case of RB1, which acquire loss-offunction mutations [72].

Since then, molecular studies have shown that the cell cycle machinery is often deregulated in human cancers and alterations in genes encoding proteins involved in G1 and S phases of the cell cycle are the most common (Table 3) [75]. For example, cyclin D1, a G1 cyclin, is amplified and overexpressed in a wide variety of human neoplasias (Table 3). Cyclin D1, originally called PRAD1, was first identified as playing a role in parathyroid tumorigenesis and thought to function during the cell cycle [76]. The causative role for cyclin D1 came in 1994 when Wang et al. and colleagues overexpressed cyclin D1 in the mammary cells of transgenic mice. They found that cyclin D1 overexpression in the mammary tissue resulted in increased proliferation and induced the development of mammary adenocarcinomas [77]. Additionally, cyclin D2 and D3 are also overexpressed in some cancers, but their oncogenic role is not well established [69]. Other cyclins are overexpressed or amplified in human neoplasias as well. For example, cyclin E is amplified, overexpressed or both, in carcinomas of the breast, colon, lung, and leukemia as well as a number of other cancers (Table 3), while cyclin A has been shown to be altered in liver cancer by providing an insertion site for hepatitis B virus (HBV) [57, 60, 69]. The integration of HBV at the CCNA locus produces a chimeric protein in which the N-terminal cyclin box is replaced by the virus. Consequently, cyclin A can no longer be degraded [69].

Moreover, cyclin D kinase partners, CDK4 and CDK6, are overexpressed in many human cancers as a result of gene amplification, but also harbor mutations or

	Deregulated Protein	Molecular Alteration	Cancer Type
	cyclin D1	Gene amplification, overexpression	Breast, lung, pancreas, gastrointestinal, endometrium, bladder, bone marrow (leukemia), head and neck, lymphoma, melanoma, liver, pituitary, prostate, testis/ovary, other sarcomas
	cyclin D2	Overexpression	Gastrointestinal, lymphoma, testis/ovary
	cyclin D3	Overexpression	Pancreas, pituitary, lymphoma
	cyclin E1	Gene amplification, overexpression	Glioblastoma, breast, lung, gastointestinal, endometrium, bladder, bone marrow (leukemia), lymphoma, melanoma, liver, prostate, testis/ovary, bone, other sarcomas
	cyclin A	Overexpression, altered	Liver
ĺ	CDK2	Overexpression	Gastrointestinal, liver
	CDK4	Gene amplification, overexpression, mutations resulting in lack of CKI binding	Glioblastoma, breast, lung, endometrium, bone marrow (leukemia), head and neck, liver, testis/ovary, bone
	CDK6	Gene amplification, overexpression, mutations/translocation resulting in lack of CKI binding	Glioblastoma, lymphoma, other sarcomas
	Rb	Deletion, missense mutation	Glioblastoma, breast, lung, endometrium, bladder, bone marrow (leukemia), lymphoma, liver, pituitary, prostate, testis/ovary, bone
	р15 ^{іNK4B}	Deletion	Glioblastoma, lung, bone marrow (leukemia), lymphoma, liver
ļ	р16 ^{імк4А}	Deletion, mutation	Glioblastoma, lung, pancreas,

Table 3: Cell cycle proteins deregulated in cancer
		gastrointestinal, endometrium, bladder, bone marrow (leukemia), head and neck, melanoma, lymphoma, liver, pituitary, prostate, testis/ovary, bone, other sarcomas
р27 ^{КIР1}	Deletion	Glioblastoma, breast, lung, pancreas, gastrointestinal, endometrium, bladder, bone marrow (leukemia), head and neck, lymphoma, liver, pituitary, prostate, testis/ovary, other sarcomas
Cdc25B	Overexpression	Breast
Adapted from:		·

1. Malumbres, M. and M. Barbacid, To cycle or not to cycle: a critical decision in cancer. Nat Rev. Cancer,2001. 1(3): p. 222-31.

2. Vermeulen, K., D.R. Van Bockstaele, and Z.N. Berneman, The cell cycle: a review of regulation, deregulation and therapeutic targets in cancer. Cell Prolif, 2003. 36(3): p. 131-49.

3. Schafer, K.A., *The cell cycle: a review.* Vet Pathol, 1998. **35**(6): p. 461-78.

4. Johnson, D.G. and C.L. Walker, Cyclins and cell cycle checkpoints. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol, 1999. **39**: p. 295-312.

translocations rendering them insensitive to inhibition by CKIs (Table 3) [57]. Specifically, in neuroblastoma cell lines, mutations found in CDK6 prevent p16^{INK4A} interaction, but preserve its kinase activity, leading to unrestricted phosphorylation of pRb [78].

Cyclin dependent kinase inhibitors are an important class of tumor suppressors and are often either mutated or deleted entirely in human tumors (Table 3). Interestingly, the p16^{INK4A} locus is a close second to p53 in terms of genetic aberrations [57, 60]. Mutated p16 is linked to familial melanoma syndrome and deletions have also been described in nearly 50% of gliomas and mesotheliomas, 40-60% gastrointestinal cancers and 20-30% acute lymphoblastic leukemias [57, 60]. Located in close proximity to the p16 locus, is p15 and is often deleted concurrently [60]. p27 is also found to be deleted or downregulated in many human cancers, including lung, breast and bladder and its loss is implicated with poor prognosis and aggressive disease [60]. On the other hand, in colorectal cancer, p27 loss is due to increased proteolysis by the proteasome [60]. Although p21 is not directly altered in tumors, p21 is a transcriptional target of p53 and p53 is the most common mutated gene in human cancer [57, 60]. Therefore, upon DNA damage, inactive p53 cannot activate p21 to induce cell cycle arrest, thus leading to genomic instability.

The culmination of alterations in G1 and S phase proteins in human cancer highlights the importance of integrity of the cell cycle prior to the Restriction Point. As previously mentioned, the Restriction Point is defined as the threshold in G1 in which cells can proliferate in the absence of growth factors. Cells that lose function of G1 inhibitors (CKIs) and/or gain of function of G1/S drivers such as cyclin D1 or cyclin E

have unrestricted access through this critical checkpoint. Rb is the key regulator of the Restriction Point and is commonly deleted or mutated [65]. Upon inactivation of Rb by deletion, mutation or hyperphosphorylation by G1 cyclin/CDK complexes, Rb releases transcriptional repression of E2F leading to transcriptional activation of cell proliferation genes such as cyclin A, cyclin E, CDK1, Cdc25 and c-myc [57, 69]. Rb is kept in the hyperphosphorylated state by cyclin E/CDK2 creating a positive feedback loop and driving the cell through the Restriction Point and fully committing the cell to cell division [57].

1.3 CYCLIN E

1.3a. Regulation of cyclin E levels

Human cyclin E was first discovered in 1991 through screening of human cDNA libraries for genes that would substitute for mutated G1 cyclins in yeast [79]. There are two E-type cyclins, cyclin E1 and cyclin E2, and display 47% sequence homology throughout the entire gene and 75% sequence homology within the cyclin box [80]. The majority of studies on cyclin E are on cyclin E1 (generally referred to as cyclin E in this dissertation) and cyclin E2 will be addressed specifically as cyclin E2. Full length cyclin E is found on chromosome 19q12-q13, is 409 amino acids in length, and contains numerous regulatory domains (Figure 2) [81, 82]. The MRAIL motif is a hydrophobic stretch of amino acids within the cyclin box that facilitates the recognition of RXL motif containing substrates or CKIs (Figure 2) [82]. The "cyclin box" as well as the last 50 amino acids of cyclin E aid in CDK2 binding and activation. The VDCLE motif is responsible for Rb binding as well as pocket proteins p107 and p130 (Figure 3) [82].



Figure 2. Schematic of human cyclin E1

The known phosphorylation sites of human cyclin E1 are shown in pink circles at their specific amino acid location along with its respective kinase. Known regulatory motifs of cyclin E such as MRAIL and VDCLE are indicated as well as the conserved cyclin box and PEST domain. (*Figure adapted from Hwang, H.C. and B.E. Clurman, Cyclin E in normal and neoplastic cell cycles. Oncogene, 2005.* **24**(17): p. 2776-86).

Expression of cyclin E oscillates throughout the cell cycle and peaks at the G1/S transition [81, 82]. Transcriptional control of cyclin E is mediated by E2F. As previously stated in section 1.2a, E2F transcriptional activity is repressed by pRb and pocket proteins p107 and p130. Upon mitogenic signaling, cyclin D/CDK4/6 complexes partially phosphorylate Rb, therefore activating E2F [81]. E2F activation results in the transcription of S phase genes as well as the transcription of cyclin E. The promoter of cyclin E contains an E2F binding site, and thus, cyclin E can positively regulate its own transcription through a positive feedback loop and reinforce Rb inactivation [81]. Interestingly, cyclin E transcription independent of E2F activation has also been described [83]. However, this phenomenon may be cell type specific. For example, in pancreatic and hepatic cells, cyclin E is transcribed by LRH-1 [84].

The degradation of cyclin E occurs by two different mechanisms and is based on whether cyclin E is bound to CDK2. Proteolysis of monomeric cyclin E in mediated by Cul-3, however the exact mechanisms of degradation are still being elucidated [81, 82]. The second method of cyclin E degradation is through the SCF-Fbw7 pathway and degrades the cyclin E when bound to CDK2. The SCF-Fbw7 complex is comprised of SKP-1, CDC53/Cullin, Rbx1/Roc1, CDC34 and Fbw7 [82]. Ubiquitination of cyclin E occurs in the "PEST-box" or "destruction-box" [82]. For cyclin E to be degraded by the SCF complex, cyclin E must be phosphorylated at T380 and S384 (Figure 2). The former is phosphorylated by GSK3 β or CDK2, while the latter is an autophosphorylation site of cyclin E/CDK2 [81, 82]. Phosphorylation of T62 assists in binding Fbw7 to mediate degradation as well. *In vitro* studies by Koepp et al. and collegues in 2001 showed that mutation of T380 and T62 prevent Fbw7 binding to cyclin E resulting in its

stability [85]. S372 is also thought to play a role mediating cyclin E stability, but the exact mechanism is unknown and more investigation is required [81].

Additional regulation of the cyclin E/CDK2 complex comes from the CKIs such as p21 or p27. p21 and p27 inhibit the kinase activity of the cyclin E/CDK2 complex and therefore the cyclinE/CDK2 complex does not display the appropriate signal to SCF-Fbw7 for degradation [81]. Lastly, cyclin E is able to avoid degradation by localizing to alternative subcellular compartments (discussed in section 1.3d) [81]. Although not completely understood, proteolysis of cyclin E2 occurs in a similar fashion as cyclin E. Specifically, cyclin E2 is degraded by the proteasome and is stabilized by phosphorylation at T392 (T380 in cyclin E) [81].

1.3b. Cyclin E function

The primary function of cyclin E/CDK2 is to promote cell cycle progression through the Restriction Point into S phase by further phosphorylating Rb. As stated previously, full inactivation of pRb by cyclin E/CDK2 results in transcriptional activation of E2F and enables transcription of S phase related genes such as thymidine kinase, polymerase α , MCM, Cdc6, b-myb, cyclin E, cyclin A and Histone H1 [82]. Moreover, cyclin E/CDK2 is able to phosphorylate p21 and p27, thereby promoting their degradation by the proteasome pathway and releasing inhibition of cyclin A (Figure 3) [81, 82, 86, 87].

For the cell to properly progress to S phase, cyclin E also participates in DNA replication origin licensing during DNA synthesis. Cyclin E and Cdc6 work together along with PCNA and polymerase α to load MCM proteins and Cdc45 to the origins of replication (Figure 3) [81, 82]. However, these fundamental functions of cyclin E were



Figure 3. Functions of cyclin E and known substrates

Cyclin E functions and known substrates are shown. Cell cycle related functions are highlighted in green and non cell cycle related functions are highlighted in blue. Cyclin E/CDK2 substrates known to be associated with each respective function are shown on the arrow. (Figure adapted from: *Hwang*, *H.C. and B.E. Clurman*, *Cyclin E in normal and neoplastic cell cycles*. *Oncogene*, 2005. **24**(17): p. 2776-86; *Moroy*, *T. and C. Geisen*, *Cyclin E*. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 2004. **36**(8): p. 1424-39; *Siu*,*K*.*T.*,*M.R. Rosner*, and A.C. *Minella*, *An integrated view of cyclin E function and regulation*. *Cell Cycle*, 2012. **11**(1): p. 57-64.)

challenged in 2003 when Geng et al. created a cyclin E knockout mouse [88]. Surprisingly, the authors showed that cyclin E is largely unnecessary for development in the mouse. However, the authors did find that cyclin E is required for endoreplication of placental trophoblast giant cells and megakaryocytes [81]. Additionally, cyclin E null mice are deficient re-entering the cell cycle from quiescence as well as defective in loading MCM proteins at the origins of replication [88].

Another function of cyclin E is centrosome duplication. Specifically, cyclin E/CDK2 phosphorylates NPM/B23 (nucleophosmini B23) on T199 to facilitate the onset of centrosome duplication (Figure3) [81]. CP110 is also phosphorylated by cyclin E/CDK2 and is involved in duplication and separation of chromosomes [87]. Moreover, cyclin E participates in the regulation of the cell cycle transcriptional program. Transcription factors known to be regulated by cyclin E/CDK2 are Id2, Id3, BAF155 and SWI/SNF [82]. Cyclin E/CDK2 also phosphorylates CBP/p300, resulting in activation of its histone acetyltransferase activity, and E2F5 to promote transcriptional activation assisting in cell cycle progression [87].

Cyclin E is also involved in non-cell cycle related functions. Cyclin E/CDK2 phosphorylates p220/NPAT which functions in histone biosynthesis in S-phase (Figure 3) [82]. Specifically, cells deficient of p220/NPAT arrest late in G1 and are unable to progress to S-phase. Another substrate of cyclin E/CDK2 is EZH2. Cyclin E/CDK2 phosphorylates EZH2 on T350 to facilitate targeting to specific loci and promote EZH2 transcriptional repression by H3K27 tri-methtylation [87]. Lastly, cyclin E is involved in the apoptotic response. Cyclin E/CDK2 phosphorylates FOXO1, a transcription factor that controls expression of pro-apoptotic genes such as Fas and Bim [87]. Specifically,

cyclin E/CDK2 phosphorylates FOXO1 on S249, thereby signaling its cytoplasmic translocation. Since cyclin E performs many cell cycle dependent and independent functions inside the cell, deregulation of any of these functions sets the stage for genomic instability and oncogenic transformation.

1.3c. The role of cyclin E in cancer

One of the first studies examining the oncogenicity of cyclin E found that overexpression of cyclin E in combination with constitutively active H-Ras in rat embryonic fibroblasts (REFs) resulted in foci that had been malignantly transformed [89]. The capability of cyclin E along with active H-Ras to transform REFs puts cyclin E in a elite group of oncogenes whose members also include Myc, SV 40 T-antigen and E1A [81]. Moreover, examination of human cyclin E in transgenic mice revealed that lactating mammary glands contained regions of hyperplasia and over 10% of the cyclin E transgenic mice developed mammary carcinomas [90]. Furthermore, in the cyclin E null mouse, Geng et al. and colleagues found that cyclin E was absolutely required for oncogenic transformation [57].

Many cancer types have been shown to overexpress cyclin E protein or amplify its mRNA transcript by as much as 64 fold including glioblastoma, breast, lung, cervical, endometrium, gastrointestinal tract, bladder, melanoma, liver, prostate, testis/ovary, bone, lymphoma, leukemia, sarcomas and adrenocortical tumors (Table 3) [75, 81, 91, 92]. However, cyclin E and its role in breast cancer has been extensively studied [93-97]. For example, patients displaying high levels of cyclin E have a worse outcome compared to patients with low levels of cyclin E and this was shown to be irrespective of the proliferation index by Ki67 staining [97]. Moreover, Keyomarsi and

colleagues analyzed cyclin E expression and survival in 395 women with stage I-IV breast cancer and found that high expression of cyclin E was an independent predictor of survival; stronger than hormone receptor status and lymph node involvement [98].

There are multiple mechanisms that lead to deregulation of cyclin E expression. First, mutations in the signaling pathways that converge upon Rb increase cyclin E levels through E2F activation and although not as common, 2-20% of endometrial, ovarian, colorectal, breast and gastric cancers contain cyclin E gene amplification that may lead to increased mRNA levels [81]. Furthermore, defects in cyclin E degradation have also been shown to lead to cyclin E overexpression. For example, mutations in Fbw7 have been found in endometrial, pancreatic and colon cancers as well as several human cancer cell lines [81].

The consequences of cyclin E overexpression include genomic instability and centrosome amplification. One of the first studies examining overexpression of cyclin E and genomic instability showed that constitutive overexpression of cyclin E, but not cyclin D1 or cyclin A in murine and human cancer cell lines caused genetic instability, specifically, defects during chromosomal duplication and segregation [99]. Genetic instability mediated by cyclin E overexpression is often linked with prolonged S-phase. During replication excess cyclin E may result in defects of MCM proteins loading at the replication fork and stalled replication forks are vulnerable to breakage [81]. Moreover, defects in the replication process may result in premature mitosis entry and chromosomes that have not been properly replicated leading to inappropriate pairing and segregation [81].

Centrosome amplification is also a consequence of cyclin E overexpression. Studies in *Xenopus laevis* confirmed the requirement of cyclin E/CDK2 in centrosome duplication during S-phase as well as multiple studies from mammalian systems [100-102]. Faithful chromosome segregation during mitosis requires the two centrosomes to form at the spindle poles. Centrosome amplification results in a multipolar spindles and vast chromosome segregation errors. *In vitro* studies have shown that cyclin E overexpression with concomitant p53 loss resulted in centrosome amplification and aneuploidy [103]. Therefore, deregulation of cyclin E causes multiple defects in the genomic integrity of the cell leading to neoplastic formation.

1.4 LOW MOLECULAR WEIGHT CYCLIN E

1.4a Generation and function of low molecular weight cyclin E

In addition to cyclin E gene amplification and protein overexpression in human cancers, cyclin E is post-translationally cleaved into low molecular weight isoforms (LMW-E) that range in size from 33-45kDa, compared to the 50kDa full length form of cyclin E (EL1) (Figure 4) [104]. LMW-E are generated from N-terminal elastase cleavage of EL at amino acids Q40-E45 to form the first isoform, LMW-E (T1), or A69-D70 to form the second isoform, LMW-E(T2) [104]. In all, there are six isoforms of cyclin E either resulting from post-translational cleavage (EL3 and EL6), alternative translational start sites (EL4) or phosphorylation events (EL2 and EL5) (Figure 4) [105].

LMW-E are present in multiple tumor types including breast, ovarian, colorectal cancers and melanomas [92, 106-108]. For example, a prospective study of 340 breast cancer patients with stage I or II disease showed tumor-specific expression of



Figure 4. Schematic of the cyclin E isoforms

Schematic of the cyclin E isoforms. Full length cyclin E (EL1) is 50kDa. Upon elastase cleavage, the first truncation of LMW-E is formed LMW-E(T1) or EL3 and is 44kDa. EL2 is a phosphorylated form of EL3. EL4 is a rare alternatively translated isoform of cyclin E and is 40 kDa. Elastase further leaves EL2/3 giving rise to EL5/6. EL6 is 33kDa and EL5 is the phosphorylated form of EL5 and is 35kDa. The immunoblot is expression of the cyclin E isoforms in MDA-MB-436 cells and the stars denote the phosphorylated forms of LMW-E. (Figure adapted from: Mull, B.B., J. Cox, T. Bui, and K. Keyomarsi, *Post-translational modification and stability of low molecular weight cyclin E.* Oncogene, 2009. **28**(35): p. 3167-76).

LMW-E, while normal adjacent breast tissue showed only full-length cyclin E [109]. A causal role for LMW-E mediating tumorigenesis came from two important studies. First, generation of LMW-E transgenic mice display enhanced mammary tumor formation and metastasis compared to EL transgenic mice [110]. Specifically, 27% (34 of 124) LMW-E transgenic mice developed mammary tumors compared to 10.4% (7 of 67) EL transgenic mice [110]. Moreover, 25% of tumors from LMW-E transgenic mice [110]. Additionally, expression of LMW-E in non-tumorigenic human mammary epithelial cells (hMECs) implanted into mice formed tumors in 74% (23 of 31) of animals, while only 7% (1 of 15) of mice formed tumors when implanted with EL expressing hMECs and LMW-E tumorigenicity was further enhanced by *in vivo* passaging [111].

LMW-E have significant biological effects with respect to the tumorigenic process. One function of the LMW-E isoforms is the deregulation of the G1/S transition [112]. Specifically, expression of LMW-E in 76NE6 cells (non-tumorigenic human mammary epithelial cells that have been immortalized by transfection of the 16E6 gene of HPV) display a shortened G1 phase paired with a 2-fold increase in time spent in S-phase compared to EL or vector expression [112]. Additionally, these cells exhibit a decreased doubling time, 28.3 to 31.1 hours for LMW-E expressing cells and 35.9-45.2 hours for EL and vector expressing cells [112].

Moreover, LMW-E are biologically hyperactive. It has been shown that LMW-E/CDK2 complexes have increased kinase activity; more than EL/CDK2 complexes and efficiently phosphorylate common cyclin E substrates such as histone H1 and Rb [112-114]. Of note, LMW-E bind as efficiently to CDK2, p21 and p27 as EL and the

increased kinase activity observed is not due to increased binding to CDK2 and/or decreased binding to the CKIs [109, 112-114].

Overexpression of LMW-E also causes resistance to anti-estrogens. Specifically, estrogen positive MCF7 cells overexpressing either EL or LMW-E have a significantly greater percentage of cells in S-phase after treatment with the pure antiestrogen, ICI 182,780 [113]. While vector control cells displayed only 10% of cells in Sphase after anti-estrogen treatment, EL and LMW-E cells displayed 31% for EL, 40% for LMW-E(T1) and 48% for LMW-E(T2) of cells in S-phase after treatment [113].

One of the mechanisms by which LMW-E mediates tumorigenesis is through genomic instability. LMW-E overexpressing breast cancer cells have more polyploidy and chromosomal aberrations such as chromosomal fragments, chromosomal breaks, chromosomal fusions and subtelomeric chromatid breaks [109, 113]. The presence of polyploidy is not only found *in vitro*, but *in vivo* as well. Analysis of 331 stage I-III breast cancer patients show a significant correlation between cyclin E levels and polyploidy [113]. Specifically, patients with high levels of cyclin E and polyploidy have a lower 5-year DSS (Disease Specific Survival) than breast cancer patients with diploid tumors [113].

LMW-E mediated chromosomal abnormalities are due to multiple defects during mitosis. First, LMW-E overexpression leads to centrosome amplification [115]. Using an inducible model system, Bagheri-Yarmand et. al and colleagues found that inducible expression of LMW-E lead to a 2.5-fold increase in cells presenting more than two centrosomes [115]. Additionally, these cells display defective spindle formation and a number of other mitotic errors such as micronuclei, chromosome missegregation,

anaphase bridges and cytokinesis failure [115]. These mitotic abnormalities were found to be the result of deregulation of Cdc25C by cyclin E/CDK2 [116].

Another characteristic of LMW-E expression is the acquisition of a cancer stem cell (CSC) phenotype along with the ability to undergo epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) [117]. LMW-E expressing hMECs, especially ones that have undergone *in vivo* passaging also known as TDCs (tumor derived cells), activate an EMT associated gene expression profile [117]. Epithelial genes such as E-cadherin were decreased, while mesenchymal associated genes such as Vimentin, N-cadherin, Twist and Slug all increased expression compared to EL expressing hMECs [117]. Additionally, LMW-E expressing hMECs and TDCs exhibited significantly higher levels of CD44^{+/high}/CD24^{-/low} expressing cells, a characteristic marker of CSCs [117]. Interestingly, the CSC population in LMW-E expressing cells is mediated, at least in part, by a histone acetyltransferase, Hbo1. Specifically, stable knockdown of Hbo1 in cyclin E expressing hMECs significantly reduced the CSC population [117].

1.4b Low molecular weight cyclin E subcellular localization

Cyclin E has a classical nuclear localization sequence (NLS) that targets it to the nucleus via the well characterized importin- α /importin- β import pathway [118]. However, the NLS in the LMW-E isoforms is lost post-translationally due to proteolytic processing by elastase [104]. To examine the subcellular localization of LMW-E, Delk et.al and colleagues first analyzed multiple immortalized mammary epithelial cell lines as well as cancer cell lines of the breast, ovary and osteosarcoma [119]. Fractionation of whole cell lysates followed by western blot analysis for cyclin E expression revealed cytoplasmic localization of the LMW-E isoforms. Furthermore, to examine whether

LMW-E/CDK2 complexes localized to the cytoplasm, green fluorescent protein (GFP) was rationally bisected and each half was either fused to the cyclin E isoforms or CDK2. In concordance with the western blot results, LMW-E/CDK2 complexes preferentially localized to the cytoplasm, while EL/CDK2 complexes were found in the nucleus of 98% of cells examined [119]. Interestingly, while in the cytoplasm, LMW-E/CDK2 complexes were less sensitive to Fbw7 mediated degradation [119].

Cytoplasmic localization of the LMW-E isoforms is correlated to cyclin E biological deregulation. For example, the LMW-E isoforms are linked to cells with centrosome abnormalities. Specifically, in 30 invasive breast carcinoma tissue samples, those that present high levels of cytoplasmic LMW-E also show increased levels of abnormal centrosomes with an r²=0.35 [115]. Moreover, in 118 breast cancer patient tissue samples, patients with cytoplasmic LMW-E expression also display a significantly increased population of CD44^{+/high}/CD24^{-/low} cells [117]. Together, these findings indicate that the LMW-E isoforms are biologically and spatially different from their full-length counterpart and their deregulation implies a functional role in the tumorigenic process.

1.5 GAP IN KNOWLEDGE

Deregulation of cyclin E, especially the LMW-E isoforms, leads to molecular events that are correlated with the tumorigenic process. Moreover, LMW-E expression in women with stage I-III breast cancer is an independent predictor of survival. However, understanding the mechanisms by which LMW-E predisposes the mammary gland to tumorigenesis is still required and the following questions remain:

Do the LMW-E isoforms have protein-binding partner(s) in the cytoplasm?

- Are the function(s) of the LMW-E cytoplasmic binding partner(s) enhanced and/or suppressed?
- Are cytoplasmic LMW-E binding partners required for LMW-E mediated transformation, invasive capabilities and tumor growth?

These are the primary objectives of this dissertation and the following chapters include research data to answer these questions. The overall *hypothesis* of this work is that *aberrant localization of the LMW-E isoforms leads to molecular interactions that ultimately contribute to LMW-E breast cancer tumorigenicity*. This dissertation and future studies will continue to expose tumor-specific signaling pathways in breast cancer that will help define appropriate treatment strategies and enable targeted drug design for cancer therapies.

CHAPTER 2: RETROVIRUS-BASED PROTEIN COMPLEMENTATION ASSAY (REPCA) REVEALS NOVEL LMW-E BINDING PROTEINS

2.1 INTRODUCTION

2.1a. Methods used to identify protein-protein interactions

The study of proteomics involves an understanding how protein structures, modifications, localization and interactions with other proteins affect how the cell functions [120]. Two categories of proteomics research dominate the field, expression proteomics and functional proteomics. Expression proteomics evaluates changes in protein expression from normal cells under different conditions such as exposure to drugs or disease state [121]. Functional proteomics, however, strives to understand protein function and evaluate their role within the cell [121].

One of the most informative methods to understand protein function is through identification of protein-protein interactions. Protein-protein interactions, either transient or stable, are essential for every biological process including building enzyme-substrate complexes for signal transduction pathways, mediating ion channels, and constructing the machinery for the cellular cytoskeleton [122]. One method to identify protein-protein interactions is through affinity purification of proteins coupled to mass spectrometry (AP-MS) (Table 4) [121, 123]. Specifically, the protein of interest is tagged with peptides such as hemagglutinin (HA), FLAG, TAP (consisting of a calmodulin-binding domain, a protease cleavage site, TEV, and a protein A tag) or glutathione-S-transferase (GST) and purified from the protein mixture by an immobilized solid support specific to the tag and/or by an antibody [121]. After binding, the protein complex is then eluted, digested into small peptides and identified by mass

		ao ior iaonairyn		
Method	Abbreviation	Advantages	Disadvantages	High through-put capacity
Affinity purification followed by mass spectroscopy or Co-immuno- precipitation	AP-MS or Co-IP	 Specific Simple and cost effective 	 Limited to more stable interactions and high abundance proteins Tag interference 	yes
Yeast 2 hybrid	Y2H	Time efficientCost effective	 High false positive rate Dependent on subcellular localization Interactions dependent on post-translational modifications not present in yeast 	yes
Split ubiquitin system	SUS	 Suitable to identify membrane proteins 	 Time consuming cloning Protein structure must be taken into consideration False positive readout due to unknown protease cleavage of Cub 	yes
Fluorescence resonance energy transfer	FRET	 Live cell imaging Quantitative measurement between molecules Localization of protein complexes 	 Insufficient on its own to prove protein complex formation Photo-bleaching Expensive equipment Auto- fluorescence of cells 	no

Table 4: Common methods for identifying protein-protein interactions

Bimolecular fluorescence or protein complement- ation	BiF or PCA	 Live cell imaging Localization of protein complex 	 Non-biological levels of protein and tag interference Expensive equipment 	no
ation			equipment	
assays				

spectroscopy; which measures the abundance of the peptides in the sample and the mass-to-charge ratio [121]. AP-MS is amendable for high-throughput methods and has high specificity, however, screening is often limited by subcellular localization and is ineffective at isolating low copy number proteins or transient interactions [124, 125]. Furthermore, the tag added to the protein of interest may affect protein structure and thus, limit protein interactions; but the use of smaller tags and varying the location of the tag between the N- and C- terminal ends of the protein may alleviate this issue [121].

Another method used to identify protein-protein interactions, though less common, is a yeast two-hybrid (Y2H) assay and was developed in 1989 by Stanley Fields and Ok-Kyu Song to confirm the interaction between two known interacting proteins in yeast; SNF1 and SNF4 [126]. The premise behind the Y2H assay relies on the activation of a downstream reporter gene by a transcription factor binding to an upstream activation sequence (Table 4) (Figure 5) [127, 128]. Essentially, the protein of interest or bait 'X' is fused to the DNA-binding domain (DBD), usually GAL4 or LEXA. Then a cDNA library of prey proteins 'Y' are fused to the transcriptional activation domain (TAD), usually GAL4 or B42 (Figure 5) [122]. The binding of 'X' to 'Y' reconstitutes a functional transcription factor and activates transcription of the reporter gene in the nucleus [122, 127]. The Y2H assay is an attractive system to study proteinprotein interactions because it is time efficient and relatively inexpensive, however, the Y2H assay has several limitations [129]. First, screening from a Y2H assay results in a high false positive rate and is dependent on nuclear subcellular localization [125, 126]. The high false positive rate due to spontaneous transcriptional activation has been



Figure 5. Schematic of the yeast-2-hybrid assay

The yeast-2-hybrid assay is a high-throughput method that is able to identify proteinprotein interactions in the nucleus. Activation of a reporter gene occurs when the bait protein; which is fused to the DNA binding domain (DBD) of either GAL4 or LEXA, binds to the prey protein; which is fused to the transcriptional activation domain (TAD) of either GAL4 or B42. (Figure adapted from: Wodak, S.J., J. Vlasblom, A.L. Turinsky, and S. Pu, *Protein-protein interaction networks: the puzzling riches.* Curr Opin Struct Biol, 2013. **23**(6): p. 941-53. reported when some proteins are fused to the DNA-binding domain without activation by the interaction partner [130]. Moreover, protein interactions dependent on posttranslational modifications not present in the yeast system will be left unidentified [127].

The split ubiquitin system (SUS) is similar to the Y2H assay in that upon protein interaction the reporter protein becomes functional (Table 4) [131]. The SUS, as the name implies, utilizes a rationally bisected ubiquitin molecule: the N-terminal half (Nub) and the C-terminal half (Cub) [122, 131]. Nub is fused to protein 'X' and Cub is fused to protein 'Y' along with a transcription factor, PLV. Upon interaction of protein 'X' and protein 'Y' the ubiquitin molecule is reconstituted and ubiquitin-specific proteases cleave the fused proteins from the ubiquitin molecule thereby liberating PLV to act on target genes in the nucleus (Figure 6) [122, 131]. Recently, SUS was used to identify NCX1; a novel interacting protein of Anoctamin6 (Ano6), required for bone calcification [132]. The major advantage to SUS is that it is able to identify interactions between membrane proteins. However, cloning membrane protein ORFs in *E. Coli* often results in toxicity, but can be circumvented by cloning directly into yeast or using specialized *E. Coli* expression vectors [122]. Additionally, SUS is susceptible to false positive readouts due to cleavage of Cub by unknown proteases [122].

A fluorescence-based technique to identify protein-protein interactions is fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) [122]. Essentially, protein 'X' and protein 'Y' are fused to a fluorescent donor and fluorescent acceptor, respectively, and excitation of the donor results in energy transfer to the acceptor leading to dipole-dipole



Figure 6. Schematic of the split ubiquitin system

The split ubiquitin system relies on the reconstitution of a rationally bisected ubiquitin molecule, when reconstituted, activates transcription through the cleavage and liberation of PLV into the nucleus. Specifically, the bait protein is fused to C-terminal half of ubiquitin (Cub) and the prey protein is fused to the N-terminal half of ubiquitin (Nub). Upon interaction of bait and prey proteins, Nub and Cub bind and reconstitute a full ubiquitin molecule and liberates transcription factor PLV to act on target genes in the nucleus. (Figure adapted from: Wodak, S.J., J. Vlasblom, A.L. Turinsky, and S. Pu, *Protein-protein interaction networks: the puzzling riches.* Curr Opin Struct Biol, 2013. **23**(6): p. 941-53.

coupling [133]. FRET was recently used to identify a sumoylation modification by SUMO2 on p35; which alters CDK5 activity under oxidative stress conditions in neurons [134]. The energy transfer, E, can be quantitatively measured by the energy absorbed by the donor and energy emitted by the acceptor. FRET is often described as a molecular measuring tool due to a measuring range of 1-10nm, the distance of molecules during protein complex formation, however, FRET is insufficient on its own to prove protein-protein interactions and other methods are required [122]. Additionally, FRET is subject to false signals due to autofluorescence of cells or reabsorption of emission by donor [122].

Bimolecular fluorescence (BiF), also known as protein complementation assay (PCA), is another method used to identify protein-protein interactions, but is also used mainly to validate protein-protein interactions [122]. Similar to previous methods described, a fluorescent reporter protein, such as GFP, is split into N- and C- terminal fragments and each half is fused to one of the proteins of interest [135]. The interaction between the proteins brings the two halves of the reporter protein together reconstituting fluorescence [135]. This method is a powerful tool to analyze localization of protein complexes and visualize protein-protein interactions *in vivo*, but similar to AP-MS, the size and localization of the reporter protein may result in binding interference [122].

2.1b Retrovirus-based protein complementation assay

The Retrovirus-based protein complementation assay (RePCA) is a high throughput method first utilized to identify protein-binding partners of Akt [125]. Using

RePCA, Ding et al. and colleagues found 24 protein-binding partners of Akt; one of which is ACTN4. ACTN4 was found to mediate Akt translocation to the membrane and effect cellular proliferation [125].

RePCA combines PCA strategies with enhanced retroviral mutagenesis. The enhanced retroviral mutagen (ERM) vector is superior to other retroviral-mutagenesis techniques due to its high efficiency rate, ability to infect all mammalian cell types and its available three ORFs to achieve in-frame integration sequences [136]. Furthermore, the ERM vector provides efficient and regulated mutagenesis through several engineered sequences. These sequences include a splice donor (SD) site and a mutagenesis tag controlled by a tetracycline-responsive promoter, enabling the system to be completely inducible [125].

As shown in Figure 7 the RePCA vector contains a tetracyclineresponsive promoter controlling the C-terminal half of intensely fluorescent protein (IFPC) adjacent to the splice donor site. This SD site uses the endogenous splice acceptor (SA) site within the host to generate in-frame fusions. For our purposes, since Tet-on MCF7 cells were already established [137], we fused LMW-E(T1)- N-terminal half to intensely fluorescent protein (IFPN) and transduced with the RePCA vector. Upon induction with doxycycline, fluorescent cells, indicative of an LMW-E(T1)/Protein 'X' interaction, are sorted by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) to obtain clones from a single cell. Fluorescent cells are expanded and Protein 'X' is identified by RNA extraction followed by rt-PCR using primers specific to the RePCA vector. Finally, the PCR product is gel purified, sequenced, and identified using a Genbank blast.

RePCA has a numerous advantages and are summarized in Table 5. First,



Figure 7. Schematic of RePCA screen.

(A) Creation of RePCA retrovirus. The RePCA vector contains a tetracycline responsive promoter, IFPC sequence and splice donor site. RePCA retrovirus is made in packaging cells. Inside the host genome, the RePCA vector integrates to generate IFPC-tagged "Protein X" fusions. (B) Flow chart of the RePCA screen. Stable LMW E(T1)-IFPN expressing cells were generated in a tet-on MCF7 background and infected with RePCA retrovirus. LMW-E(T1)/ "Protein X" interaction reconstitute fluorescence. Single fluorescent cells were sorted by FACS and "Protein X" is identified by RNA extraction from the fluorescent clone, followed by rt-PCR, sequencing, and a Genbank blast. (Figure adapted from: Ding, Z., J. Liang, Y. Lu, Q. Yu, Z. Songyang, S.Y. Lin, and G.B. Mills, *A retrovirus-based protein complementation assay screen reveals functional AKT1-binding partners.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006. **103**(41): p. 15014-9).

Table 5. Advantages and disadvantages of Ner OA						
Advantages	Disadvantages					
 In vivo high-throughput screening allows for native protein folding and post-translational modifications Does not require generation of cell- line specific cDNA libraries Context-dependent interactions such as drug treatment or genetic manipulation Employs endogenous splicing machinery generating full length or near-full length transcripts Inducible system Limited background fluorescence when the PCA fusion proteins interact Visualization of localization of the protein complex The reconstituted IFP molecule is highly stable and enables transient interactions to be identified Membrane interactions are easily identified Molecular interactions are directly identified Adapted from: 	 The ERM vector cannot capture intron-less genes Genes only available for virus integration are targeted Fluorescent tag may interfere with some protein interactions False positive interactions may be identified 					
Ding, Z., J. Liang, Y. Lu, Q. Yu, Z. Songyang, S.Y. Lin complementation assay screen reveals functional AK 2006. 103 (41): p. 15014-9.	n, and G.B. Mills, <i>A retrovirus-based protein</i> (<i>T1-binding partners.</i> Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A,					

Table 5: Advantages and disadvantages of RePCA

RePCA is performed in an endogenous environment and permits native protein folding and post-translational modifications [125]. RePCA is amendable to any cell type and generates full length or near-full length fusion transcripts due to the retroviral vector integrating at or near transcriptional start sites [125]. Furthermore, the RePCA vector contains a Tet-responsive promoter, which allows for inducible expression of target genes. Finally, RePCA is powerful enough to identify transient interactions such as enzyme-substrate interactions and can stabilize low affinity interactions [125].

Although RePCA has many advantages, there are disadvantages to RePCA technology as well. Similar to AP-MS, the fluorescent tag may inhibit the formation of select protein-protein interactions (Table 5). Also, intron-less genes, which comprise 3% of the human genome, are unable to be discovered by RePCA [125, 138]. Nevertheless, RePCA is a suitable method to identify a wide range of protein-protein interactions in any subcellular compartment that might otherwise go undiscovered by classical methods.

2.1c Hypothesis and specific aims

LMW-E are void of an NLS and thus, LMW-E/Cdk2 complexes accumulate in the cytoplasm with reduced levels in the nucleus [119]. Therefore, we *hypothesize* that *aberrant localization of tumor-specific LMW-E in the cytoplasm leads to oncogenic protein interactions ultimately contributing to LMW-E tumorigenicity in breast cancer.*

The hypothesis will be addressed with the following specific aims:

 Generate Tet-on MCF7 cells stably expressing EL-IFPN, T1-IFPN and T2-IFPN fusion proteins.

- Identify LMW-E(T1) binding proteins in the cytoplasm utilizing the retrovirusbased protein complementation assay.
- Validate novel interactions by co-immunoprecipitation.

Briefly, results presented in this chapter reveal 11 novel interacting proteins of LMW-E(T1). The proteins identified range in function from metabolism and signal transduction to protein trafficking and stress response. Among the novel LMW-E(T1) interacting proteins identified, ATP-citrate lyase, the primary enzyme responsible for synthesis of acetyl-CoA and oxaloacetate in the cytoplasm, is a novel discovery implicating a possible link between the cell cycle machinery and cellular metabolism in breast cancer.

2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.2a. Cell culture and constructs

Breast cancer MCF7 Tet-On cells were purchased from BD Clontech (Palo Alto, CA) and cultured as previously described [139]. The LMW-E (T1) intensely fluorescent protein N terminus (IFPN) construct was generated previously [119] and used to create MCF7 Tet-On cells stably expressing the LMW-E (T1)-IFPN construct by selection with 80 µg/mL zeocin (Invitrogen, Grand Island, NY). Embryonic kidney HEK 293T/17 cells from ATCC (Manassas, VA) were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium supplemented with 10% FBS and used to produce retrovirus. Retroviral RePCA plasmids IC1, IC2 and IC3 and packaging plasmids pcGP and pVSVG were a kind gift from Gordon Mills (The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center).

2.2b. Retrovirus-based protein complementation assay

RePCA was performed as previously described [125]. Briefly, IC1, IC2 or IC3 retrovirus was produced in HEK 293T/17 cells and subsequently used to transduce a total of 10 x 10⁶ MCF7 Tet-On cells stably expressing the LMW-E (T1)-IFPN construct on 6-well p150 plates. Infected cells were grown for 1 week with 2 µg/mL puromycin (Invitrogen). Puromycin-resistant cells were subjected to fluorescence-activated cell sorting for green fluorescent protein (GFP) expression using a BD FACSAria II cell sorter (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA). Single cells were grown at a very low density in minimal essential medium α containing 2 µg/mL puromycin to form clones. The clones were expanded, and RNA was extracted using RNAeasy mini kits (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). Reverse transcription was performed with a random primer (RT-1) as previously described using a Transcriptor First Strand cDNA synthesis kit (Roche, Indianapolis, IN). A T7 primer sequence is embedded within the 5' end of the RT-1 primer. The cDNA was amplified by PCR with an intensely fluorescent protein C terminus (IFPC)-specific primer and a T7 primer using HotStarTaq DNA polymerase (Qiagen). PCR products were gel purified using a QIAEX II gel extraction kit (Qiagen) and sequenced at the Sequencing and Microarray Facility at the MD Anderson Cancer Center. Sequences were identified using GenBank BLAST.

2.2c Immunocytochemical analysis

RePCA clones were cultured on coverslips in the presence of 2 µg/mL doxycycline for 48 hours. The cells were then fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde, and nuclei were counterstained with 4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO).

2.2d Cell lysis, immunoblotting, and co-immunoprecipitation

Cell lysates were prepared and subjected to Western blot analysis as previously described [139]. Western blots were incubated with primary antibodies against Flag M2, Flag produced in rabbit (Sigma), myc-Tag 9B11, glutathione *S*-transferase (GST), ACLY (Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA), cyclin E HE12, Cdk2 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX). All antibodies were used according to the manufacturer's instructions. The blots were washed and probed with horseradish peroxidase-labeled secondary antibody and detected using enhanced chemiluminescence. Co-immunoprecipitation was performed with anti-Flag M2 antibody in lysis buffer (50 mM Tris [pH7.5], 250 mM NaCl, 0.1% NP40, and a protease inhibitor cocktail). The protein/antibody mixture was incubated with Protein G Sepharose 4 Fast Flow (GE Healthcare, Pittsburg, PA) at 4°C overnight. Beads were washed four times with lysis buffer without protease inhibitors and subjected to SDS-PAGE.

2.2e GST pull-down, GST-ACLY protein truncations and kinase assay

GST-ACLY fusion protein and GST-ACLY protein truncations were constructed using the Gateway cloning method from Invitrogen. Recombinant GST-ACLY fusion protein was expressed in *Escherichia coli* BL-21 cells and induced with 0.5 mM Isopropyl β-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG). Cells were lysed in NETN buffer (150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 20 mM Tris [pH8.0], and 0.5% NP-40) plus 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), 1 mM DL-dithiothreitol (DTT), 50 µg/mL lysozyme, and protease inhibitors. GST-ACLY fusion protein was purified using Glutathione Sepharose 4B beads from GE Healthcare. *In vitro* transcription and translation of cyclin E isoforms and Cdk2 were performed using the TNT-coupled

reticulocyte lysate system (Promega, Madison, WI), and these proteins were added to the mixture of GST-ACLY and glutathione beads. Purified SFB-cyclin E isoforms were expressed in 293T cells and isolated using Flag M2 antibody (Sigma) and subsequently eluted using Flag M2 peptide from Sigma. For the GST-ACLY kinase assay, lysates from Sf9 cells expressing either EL, T1 or in combination with CDK2 were immunoprecipitated using CDK2 antibody. GST-ACLY aa426-486 were incubated with Sf9 immunoprecipitates or purified AKT1 (Millipore, Billerica, MA) in kinase buffer containing 60 μ M cold ATP and 5 μ Ci [³²P] ATP to a final volume of 30 μ I at 37°C for 30 min. The products of the reactions were then analyzed on a 7% SDS-PAGE gel. The gel was then stained, destained, dried, and exposed to X-ray film.

2.3 RESULTS

2.3a. RePCA reveals novel LMW-E(T1) binding proteins

To identify LMW-E(T1) binding proteins in the cytoplasm we utilized RePCA technology. We first created Tet-on MCF7 cells that stably express EL-, T1- or T2-IFPN vectors and picked clones for expression. We obtained correct expression from both T1- and T2-IFPN clones, however, EL-IFPN clones showed expression at a reduced molecular weight and were not used as part of the screen (Figure 8A). The second step of RePCA is infection of the host cell line with the RePCA retrovirus. We chose to infect LMW-E(T1)-IFPN clone 5, due to its high expression, with all three ORFs of the RePCA retrovirus. After one week of 2 µg/mL puromycin selection, the infected cell population was subjected to fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) to isolate fluorescent cells that are indicative of an LMW-E(T1)/Protein 'X' interaction. For



Figure 8. RePCA screening process for LMW-E(T1) interacting proteins

(A) Identification of IFPN clones. EL-IFPN, T1-IFPN and T2-IFPN clone lysates were subjected to western blot analysis for cyclin E expression using cyclin E antibodies.
(B) IC1 RePCA infected cells were sorted and fluorescent cells were isolated. (C) RNA from IC1 sorted clones were analyzed on an agarose gel. (D) PCR products were analyzed on an agarose gel to examine size of LMW-E(T1) interacting partners.

example, from 10 x 10⁶ cells infected with IC1 RePCA retrovirus, we isolated 0.8% (approximately 80,000 single cells) fluorescent cells (Figure 8B). The 80,000 cells were plated at a very low density and we obtained 204 colonies that were further isolated and transferred to a 12-well plate. Upon induction of doxycycline, 61 of the 204 (29.9%) colonies retained fluorescence and were further expanded. Next, we extracted RNA from the expanded clones (Figure 8C) and analyzed this for purity or degradation. Lastly, we reverse-transcribed the RNA and amplified the RePCA region of interest by PCR using primers located within the RePCA vector. The PCR products were gel purified (Figure 8D) and sequenced.

We identified 11 independent LMW-E (T1)–binding proteins in MCF7 cells (Table 6). The IFPC fusion transcript integrated at or near the transcriptional start site in 6 of the 11 transcripts, indicating that full-length or near-full-length proteins were generated. We found that the majority of the interacting proteins identified (8 of 11, 73%) were known to be localized to the cytoplasm (Table 6). YWHAQ (14-3-3β) mediates protein signaling by binding to phosphoserine-containing proteins [140]. HSP27 (heat shock protein 27) is a chaperone protein induced upon environmental stress [141]. HSP90 (heatshock protein 90), another chaperone protein, facilitates proper protein folding and protects against promiscuous protein-protein interactions [142]. VAMP8 (vesicle-associated membrane protein 8) is a component of a complex of proteins involved in the docking of synaptic vesicles with the presynaptic membrane [143]. COG4 (component of oligomeric golgi complex 4) is involved with protein trafficking at the Golgi apparatus [144]. RPL41 (ribosomal protein L41) is a component of the 60S subunit of the ribosome and important for mitosis and centrosome integrity

Protein name	Protein symbol	Function	Retroviral reading frame	Amino acid insertion site	Known localization
<i>trans</i> -2,3-enoyl- CoA reductase	TECR	Fatty acid synthesis	IC1	+4	Endoplasmic reticulum
Aldolase-A	ALDO-A	Glycolysis	IC1	-7	Cytoplasm
ATP-citrate lyase	ACLY	Fatty acid synthesis	IC1	-8	Cytoplasm; nucleus
Tyrosine 3- monooxygenase/ tryptophan 5- monooxygenase activation protein, beta polypeptide	YWHAB	Signaling	IC1	-4	Cytoplasm
Heat shock protein 27	HSP27	Stress Response	IC1	-37	Cytoplasm; nucleus
Heat shock protein 90	HSP90	Stabilization	IC1	+1	Cytoplasm
Vesicle-associated membrane protein 8	VAMP8	Protein docking	IC1	+57	Plasma membrane
Component of oligomeric complex 4	COG4	Transport	IC2	+649	Golgi apparatus
RAN binding protein 1	RANBP1	Transport	IC1	+5	Cytoplasm; nucleus
Ribosomal protein L41	RPL41	Protein synthesis	IC2	+11	Cytoplasm
Eukaryotic translation initiation factor, subunit J	elF3J	Protein synthesis	IC1	+49	Cytoplasm

Table 6: Interacting proteins of LMW-E (T1) identified from RePCA
[145]. RANBP1 is a GTPase that facilitates protein transport across the nuclear membrane [146]. Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 3J (eIF3J) is the 13th subunit of the eIF3 complex and aids in the initiation of transcription [147]. The three remaining novel interacting proteins of LMW-E (T1) identified constituted the largest functional group (3 of 11, 27%) of proteins discovered from the screen; these proteins are involved in metabolism. trans-2,3-enoyl-CoA reductase (TECR) catalyzes the final step in synthesizing long and very long chain fatty acids [148]. Aldolase A (ALDO-A), also known as fructose-bisphosphate, plays a key role in glycolysis and gluconeogenesis [149]. ACLY, catalyzes the first step of the *de novo* lipogenesis pathway and converts cytoplasmic citrate to acetyl-CoA and oxaloacetate [150]. The end products of this lipogenesis pathway are fatty acids and other metabolic intermediates needed by proliferating cells [151]. Elevated ACLY protein and activity levels correlate with tumor growth and progression in breast carcinoma, lung adenocarcinoma, and glioblastoma [152-154], and ACLY inhibition by genetic or pharmacologic methods suppresses tumor growth [155]. On the basis of its role in promoting tumor growth and its novel interaction with cyclin E, we selected ACLY for further investigation.

2.3b. Cyclin E and ACLY are interacting proteins

To examine the localization of the LMW-E (T1) protein complexes, we subjected several RePCA clones to fluorescence microscopy. The LMW-E(T1)/ACLY interaction was identified in clones #18 and #46 (Figure 9A) and the LMW-E(T1)/ACLY complex localized primarily to the cytoplasm. In another clone, #16, we identified a interaction between LMW-E(T1) and VAMP8 (Figure 9A). This interaction localizes to the plasma



Figure 9. Validation of RePCA clones.

(A) RePCA clone #46, #18 and #16 were fixed and counterstained with Dapi. Fluorescence shows localization of the LMW-E (T1)/ Protein 'X' interaction. (B) 293T cell lysates expressing SFB-tagged cyclin E isoforms and myc-ACLY were immunoprecipitated using an anti-Flag antibody. (C) Recombinant GST-ACLY protein was incubated with *in vitro transcribed and translated (TnT)* cyclin E isoforms or Cdk2 and isolated using Glutathione sepharose beads. (D) *In vitro* kinase assay using recombinant GST-ACLY aa 426-486 and recombinant Cyclin E isoforms alone or in complex with CDK2 were isolated by Cdk2 immunoprecipitation and incubated with GST-ACLY in the presence of ${}^{32}P-\gamma$ -ATP. The samples were run on an SDS-PAGE gel and the autoradiography film is shown. Akt1 was used as a positive control. membrane. The LMW-E (T1)- ACLY interaction was confirmed by co-

immunoprecipitation. Lysates expressing myc-ACLY and either EL- or T1- N-terminally tagged with SFB (S-tag, Flag epitope tag, and streptavidin-binding peptide tag) showed that both full-length EL and LMW-E (T1) were able to bind ACLY (Figure 9B).

Since Cdk2 is the primary binding partner of cyclin E, we examined whether cyclin E or Cdk2 directly binds ACLY. A GST pull-down assay revealed cyclin E as the direct binding partner of ACLY and the interaction is not mediated by other proteins including CDK2 (Figure 9C). Furthermore, ACLY is phosphorylated post-translationally by multiple proteins, including cAMP-dependent protein kinase, GSK3β, nucleoside diphosphate kinase (NDPK) and protein kinase B (Akt) [156-158]. Therefore, we examined whether ACLY is a substrate of the cyclin E/Cdk2 complex. An *in vitro* kinase assay revealed that ACLY is not a substrate of EL/Cdk2 or T1/Cdk2. Akt1, known to phosphorylate was used as a positive control [153]. Together, these results indicate that ACLY directly binds cyclin E and protein binding does not result in phosphorylation of ACLY.

2.3c. Identification of the ACLY domain that binds to cyclin E

ACLY, a member of the acyl-CoA synthetase (NDP-forming) superfamily [159], is similar in structure to succinyl-CoA synthetase (SCS) and consists of five domains shared by all members of this superfamily [160]. The domains are numbered corresponding to their order in *Escherichia coli* SCS [161]. As shown in figure 10A domain 1 binds CoA and domain 2 binds the catalytic phosphohistidine residue. Together, domains 3 and 4 form an ATP grasp fold and bind nucleotide. Domain 5 binds domain 2, creating one of two "power helices". The region of ACLY between 5



Figure 10. Analysis of interaction between cyclin E and ACLY

(A) Schematic of ACLY protein. An N-terminal GST tag was added to ACLY protein. ACLY consists of five domains followed by a citrate synthase homology domain (*adapted from [160]*). Six truncations of GST-ACLY were generated to study the interaction between cyclin E and ACLY. (B) Coomassie stained gel showing purification of SFB-tagged cyclin E isoforms from HEK 293T cells. (C) Recombinant GST-ACLY protein truncations were incubated with purified SFB-LMW-E(T2) and complex formation was isolated using Glutathione sepharose beads. (D) SFB-LMW-E(T2) alone or SFB-LMW-E(T2) + GST-ACLY WT were incubated in the presence of glutathione beads and complex formation was assessed. and 1 is the highly phosphorylated region of the protein [160]. The C-terminal end of ACLY displays high sequence homology to the large domain of citrate synthase [160]. To identify which region of ACLY interacts with cyclin E we generated six GST-ACLY fusion protein truncations utilizing the Gateway cloning system and expressed these recombinant proteins in *E coli* (Figure 10A). Additionally, we overexpressed SFB-tagged isoforms of cyclin E in HEK 293T cells and purified the cyclin E complexes by Flag pull-down and elution with Flag peptide (Figure 10B). Purification resulted in isolation of all three isoforms of cyclin E.

We performed a GST pull-down assay using our purified cyclin E isoforms and GST-ACLY protein truncations. Expression of GST-ACLY truncations was variable, with aa 2-243, aa 244-425 and aa 426-624 showing very high expression, while GST-ACLY WT was the least expressed, probably due to the size of the fusion protein (over 150kDa). Surprisingly, pull-down analysis showed that all truncations of ACLY bound very effectively to LMW-E(T2) (Figure 10C). This result was also seen in the other isoforms of cyclin E (EL and LMW-E(T1)) (data not shown) and was suspicious because every truncation created should not be able to bind to cyclin E. Therefore, we suspected non-specific binding could be due to something that each of the truncations has in common, the SFB-tag or the glutathione beads. To examine non-specific binding to the beads, we incubated SFB-T2 alone or in combination with the glutathione beads and as suspected, SFB-T2 was able to bind without the requirement of the GST tag (Figure 10D). In our hands, the use of GST and SFB tags on ACLY and LMW-E(T2), respectively, did not result in identification of the region of binding and future

studies will require creation of a different cyclin E fusion protein that minimizes nonspecific binding.

2.4 CONCLUSIONS

In the age of proteomics, methods to identify protein-protein interactions are essential to understanding protein function. The methods to identify protein-protein interactions have become increasingly more reliable by reducing false positive rates and enhancing specificity. In this chapter we have shown that RePCA is an effective, high throughput method to identify protein-protein interactions in an endogenous environment. RePCA was first utilized to identify protein binding partners of Akt1 and we confirm that RePCA is a useful tool to identify protein-protein interactions [125]. We created a host cell line, MCF7, containing IFPN-tagged forms of cyclin E and subsequently transduced LMW-E(T1) with the RePCA vector. From 10 x 10⁶ cells originally infected, we obtained 61 colonies from which to extract RNA. Of the 61 colonies, we identified 11 novel interacting proteins of LMW-E(T1) and most proteins identified localized to the cytoplasm (Table 6). Ding and colleagues found 24 independent binding partners of Akt from all three RePCA ORFs [125]. Specifically, from the IC2 ORF, 2×10^7 cells were infected and subsequently formed 384 colonies. Furthermore, 14% of colonies retained fluorescence after doxycycline induction. These results are similar to what we found using RePCA screening methodology in that RePCA yields tens of candidates, not hundreds like AP-MS.

To validate our results from the RePCA screen, we first subjected several clones to fluorescence microscopy to investigate subcellular localization of the LMW-E(T1)

protein complex. The localization of the LMW-E(T1)/ACLY protein complex from RePCA clones #46 and #18 were localized primarily to the cytoplasm with a small percentage of cells showing nuclear localization (Figure 9A). Moreover, we confirmed the interaction between LMW-E(T1) and ACLY by co-immunoprecipitation and identified the interaction is direct and not mediated by other proteins (Figure 9B,C)

Regulation of ACLY, in part, occurs through multiple phosphorylation events [156-158]. For example, an antibody raised against an Akt substrate consensus sequence proved ACLY to be a substrate of Akt in rat primary adipocytes in an insulindependent manner [158]. Therefore, we investigated whether ACLY could be a substrate of cyclin E/Cdk2 and our results revealed that cyclin E/Cdk2 does not phosphorylate ACLY (Figure 9D).

To gain insight to function of the cyclin E/ACLY protein complex, we investigated which domain of ACLY bound to cyclin E. We created six truncations of a GST-ACLY fusion protein and created purified isoforms of cyclin E to examine binding (Figure 10A,B). However, our binding analysis revealed that our SFB-cyclin E fusion protein was non-specifically binding to the glutathione beads, thus preventing the identification of the region that binds to cyclin E (Figure 10D). Future experimental designs will avoid SFB-tagged proteins and glutathione beads and will utilize other tags such as MBP (maltose binding protein) for purification. Nevertheless, the use of RePCA technology to identify LMW-E(T1) binding protein in the cytoplasm was successful and the identification of ACLY as a cyclin E binding protein sheds new light on how the cell cycle and cellular metabolism are coupled in breast cancer.

CHAPTER 3: ATP-CITRATE LYASE LINKS LOW MOLECULAR WEIGHT CYCLIN E TO CELLULAR METABOLISM IN BREAST CANCER

3.1 INTRODUCTION

3.1a. Overview of cancer cell metabolism

In 2000, Douglas Hanahan and Robert Weinberg published the seminal paper, "The Hallmarks of Cancer" describing six characteristics of human cancers that allow cancer cells to proliferate, survive and metastasize throughout the body [72]. These characteristics include: growth signal self-sufficiency, insensitivity to antigrowth signals, evasion of apoptosis, limitless replicative potential, maintained angiogenesis, and tissue invasion and metastasis [72]. A decade later, they revised the hallmarks to include emerging hallmarks of cancer such as deregulated cellular energetics and evasion from immune destruction [162].

The idea that cancer cells display defects in metabolic regulation was first described almost 100 years earlier by Otto Warburg [163]. Under normal conditions, non-proliferating cells undergo aerobic respiration; a process in which glucose is converted to pyruvate via glycolysis, then to carbon dioxide following oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) in the mitochondria yielding a net total of 36 ATP from one glucose molecule [162, 164]. On the other hand, proliferating cells undergo anaerobic respiration either when oxygen levels are limited or to meet the demands of macromolecular synthesis (DNA, membrane or protein synthesis) and primarily utilizes glycolysis for energy yielding a total of 2 ATP molecules [162]. However, many cancer cells, even under conditions when oxygen is present, primarily exploit glycolysis for

energy production; an event coined the 'glycolytic switch', 'aerobic glycolysis' or 'Warburg effect' [163, 165].

The Warburg effect, on its own, is a highly inefficient method to produce the energy required to fuel a proliferating cell population and therefore, to keep up with demand, the cancer cell increases glucose uptake which in turn results in lactate excretion [165, 166]. The elevated level of glucose uptake by cancer cells is exploited clinically through the use of [¹⁸F] fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET) imaging [163, 165-167]. Specifically, FDG-PET uses a radiolabeled glucose analogue to expose regions of high glucose consumption and has been shown to be efficacious in diagnosing and monitoring tumors [165].

Ultimately, the metabolic reprogramming of cancer cells to aerobic glycolysis is advantageous to fuel growth since aerobic glycolysis consumes glucose; one of the most plentiful extracellular nutrients, and uses it for ATP production [165]. Additionally, elevated influx of glucose provides the substrates required for macromolecular biosynthetic pathways [165, 166]. For example, ribose sugars are used during nucleotide synthesis, and citrate, from a truncated tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA), provides substrates required for fatty acids production, and nonessential amino acids for protein production [166, 167].

3.1b. Deregulated metabolic pathways in cancer

The PI3K/Akt signaling pathway serves as a hub for multiple downstream pathways required for cell survival, proliferation and protein synthesis (Figure 11) [168]. Consequently, this pathway is also one of the most frequently mutated pathways in



Figure 11. Molecular pathways that induce the Warburg effect

The Warburg effect can be induced by oncogenic pathways to confer a glycolytic phenotype. The PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway enhances the glycolytic phenotype by regulating enzymes directly involved in glycolysis or by activating key transcription factors and can be negatively regulated by the AMPK pathway. p53 also plays an important role in regulating the expression of key metabolic enzymes including HK2 and TIGAR as well as influencing PI3K pathway through inhibition of tumor suppressor, PTEN. (*Figure adapted from Cairns, R.A., I.S. Harris, and T.W. Mak, Regulation of cancer cell metabolism. Nat Rev Cancer, 2011.* **11**(2): p. 85-95.)

human cancer (Table 7) [165]. Mutations in the tumor suppressor, phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), mutations in the PI3K complex or inappropriate signaling from receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) all confer a growth and survival phenotype in cancer cells through constitutively activating Akt and promoting the Warburg effect through multiple mechanisms [165]. First, Akt can facilitate glucose transporters such as GLUT1, to translocate to the membrane to increase glucose uptake [165, 166, 169]. Additionally, Akt influences transcriptional changes that result in elevated glycolytic function through inhibition of the forkhead box subfamily O (FOXO) family of transcription factors [165, 170]. Lastly, Akt is responsible for promoting signaling through mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) by inhibition of its negative regulator, tuberous sclerosis 2 (TSC2) [165]. The mTOR pathway acts as a sensor of nutrient availability and if growth conditions are sufficient, can promote protein synthesis, specifically, mRNA translation and ribosome biogenesis [165, 171]. Furthermore, the mTOR pathway in tumor cells can promote transcriptional changes through activation and stabilization of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha (HIF1 α) even when oxygen conditions are normal [165].

Another pathway often deregulated in cancer cells is the AMPK pathway (Figure 11). AMPK (AMP-activated protein kinase) acts a checkpoint for energy stress [165]. Under conditions of energy stress such as a low AMP/ATP ratio, AMPK becomes activated and signals the cell to switch from glycolytic metabolism to oxidative metabolism; thus, abrogating cellular proliferation [165, 172, 173]. Tumor cells are able to bypass this checkpoint pathway by mutating the tumor suppressor, LKB1 (liver kinase B1) (Table 7). LKB1 mutations are responsible for Peutz-Jeghers syndrome; a

Molecule	Activity in cancer	Consequence in cancer	Refs
РІЗК	Mutation; gain-of-function	Activation of Akt and facilitates upregulation of glucose transporters, transcription factors and mTOR	165, 166, 169, 170
PTEN	Mutation; loss-of-function	Activation of Akt and facilitates upregulation of glucose transporters, transcription factors and mTOR	165
LKB1	Mutation; loss-of-function	Increased glycolytic flux; activation of mTOR and HIF1α	165, 173- 175
HIF1α	Constitutive expression; gain- of-function	Increases expression of genes encoding glycolytic enzymes, VEGF and other proteins involved in the hypoxic response	165, 166, 176
Мус	Constitutive expression; gain- of-function	Increases expression of LDH-A; increases glycolysis and lactate production	165
Ras	Mutation; gain-of function	Increases glycolysis and VEGF expression	165
p53	Mutation; loss-of-function	Stabilized by HIF1α; activates HK2; induces apoptosis under hypoxic and acidic conditions through TIGAR expression	165, 179, 180
VHL	Mutation; loss-of-function	Destabilizes hypoxia induced transcripts; VEGF and GLUT1	165, 177, 178
PKM2	Alternative splice variant; lower activity	Guides carbon sources away from	165, 182-

|--|

		OXPHOS	185				
IDH1/2	Mutation; loss-of-function; gain-	Creates onco-	165,				
	of-alternative function	metabolite	190,				
			191				
		Elevated levels of	166,				
		succinate;	192				
SDH	Mutation; loss-of-function	impairment of PHD3;	185 165, 190, 191 166, 192 166, 192				
		elevated levels of	185 165, 190, 191 166, 192 166, 192				
		HIF	185 165, 190, 191 166, 192 166, 192				
		Elevated levels of	166,				
		fumarate;	192				
		modification of					
FH		cysteine residues					
	Mutation; loss of function	leading to negative					
		regulation of Nrf2;					
		upregulation of anti-					
		oxidant response					
		genes					

disease which starts out as benign lesions of the gastrointestinal tract and oral cavity, but shifts to increase the risk of a wide range of other malignancies [165]. Moreover, LKB1 is mutated in 15-35% of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) cases and 20% of cervical carcinomas [173-175]. Ultimately, loss of AMPK signaling can lead to activation of mTOR and HIF1, both leading to an increased glycolytic phenotype [165].

HIF1 α , as previously mentioned, can be induced through transcriptional activation downstream of PI3K, Akt and mTOR (Figure 11) [165]. Under normal oxygen conditions, HIF1 α is posttranslationally modified by prolyl hydroxylation and this modification signals von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) tumor suppressor, a ubiquitin ligase, ultimately leading to HIF1 α degradation [165, 166]. However, under hypoxic conditions, HIF1 α is stabilized and transcriptionally activated to increase expression of glucose transporters and glycolytic enzymes [166, 176]. Of note, HIF1 α can be activated under normoxic conditions in tumor cells by the inactivation of VHL or mutations in the PI3K pathway (Table 7) [165]. For example, in renal-cell carcinoma, mutations in VHL lead to constitutively active HIF1 α and re-expression of VHL is able to rescue HIF1 α function and decrease the aerobic glycolysis phenotype [177, 178].

Lastly, although primarily known for its essential role in regulating DNA damage and the apoptosis response, p53 is also a player in regulating key metabolic genes (Figure 11) [165]. First, p53 can induce the expression of HK2 (hexokinase 2), the first enzyme in glycolysis and produces glucose-6-phosphate (Figure 11) (Table 7) [165, 179]. Glucose-6-phosphate is an important molecule and is present at the crossroads of two metabolic pathways: glycolysis and the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP). Glycolysis produces ATP and synthesizes pyruvate for the tricarboxylic acid cycle

(TCA) and the PPP produces NADPH and ribose sugars, both important for nucleotide synthesis [165]. Furthermore, p53 regulates expression of TIGAR (TP-53 induced glycolysis and apoptosis regulator), an enzyme that controls the levels of a key glycolysis enzyme, fructose-2,6-bisphosphate [165, 180]. Lastly, it is well known that p53 is a regulator of PTEN, a key inhibitor of the PI3K pathway [165, 181].

3.1c. Onco-enzymes and onco-metabolites in metabolic pathways

Pyruvate kinase (PK) functions in the final irreversible step of glycolysis converting phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) to pyruvate (Figure 11) [165, 182]. In mammals, there are multiple isoforms of PK including type L, type R, type M1 and type M2 [165, 183]. Type L is expressed in the liver and kidney; type R is found in erythrocytes; type M1 is expressed in the muscle cells and brain; and type M2 is found in embryonic stem cells, adult stem cells and tumor cells [165, 183]. PK is found either as an inactive monomer, low activity dimers or as active tetramers [182]. The low activity dimer is what is most often found in many cancers and although counterintuitive, its low enzymatic activity decreases the rate of glycolysis and thus, increases metabolic flux required for macromolecular biosynthesis through PPP for nucleotide synthesis and other pathways for phospholipid and amino acid synthesis [165, 167, 183-185]. Indeed, expression of PKM2 in lung cancer cells is more conducive to tumor growth than the PKM1 isoform [184].

The expression of PKM2 over PKM1 in cancer cells is due to preferential expression by myc coupled with unique splicing events [165]. Specifically, myc induces the expression of heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins (hnRNPs) that bind and inhibit exon 9, which encodes PKM1 and liberates exon 10, which encodes PKM2 [165,

186]. At the enzymatic level, negative regulation of PKM2 occurs by growth factorderived phosphotyrosine signaling by FGFR1, Bcr-Abl and JAK2 [187].

PKM2 is primarily a cytoplasmic enzyme, but has recently been shown to localize to the nucleus as well [188]. This translocation is due to apoptotic signals, response to IL-3, acetylation on Lys 433 or by phosphorylation by extracellular signal-related kinase 2 (ERK2) [182]. Specifically, upon EGFR stimulation, ERK2 interacts with and phosphorylates PKM2 at serine 37 [188]. This phosphorylation recruits PIN1 for cis-trans isomerization leading to exposure of its NLS and interaction with importin 5α [188, 189]. Nuclear PKM2 in concert with β -catenin induces myc expression, eventually resulting in GLUT1 and LDH-A expression forming a positive feedback loop [188, 189]. Ultimately, PKM2 expression in tumor cells has the ability to guide carbon precursors away from pyruvate production and into pathways responsible for macromolecular biosynthesis required for growth and proliferation.

Additional onco-enzymes are isocitrate dehydrogenases (IDH1 and IDH2) that function in the TCA cycle to produce α -ketoglutarate (α KG) from isocitrate [165]. In 2008, Parsons et al. and colleagues sequenced 20,661 protein-coding genes in glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) and found a number of genetic aberrations not previously known to be present in GBM [190]. Of particular interest was a mutation in the active site of IDH1 [190]. Studies have now shown that either IDH1 or IDH2 is mutated in almost 80% of grade II and III glioblastomas and acute myeloid leukemias (AML) [165]. Mutations in IDH1 are heterozygous; an indication that this mutation is a gain-of-function event [165]. A year later, in 2009, Dang et al. and colleagues discovered a single mutation at arginine 132 and instead of synthesizing α KG, mutated

IDH1 is responsible for production of a completely new metabolite, R (-)-2hydroxyglutarate (2HG) [191]. Moreover, this onco-metabolite, in excess, results in a higher risk of formation and progression of glioblastoma and AML [165, 191]. Thus, the presence of a tumor-specific metabolic alterations such as a mutations in IDH1 yields a valuable screening protocol for patients as well as a providing a plausible treatment strategy, inhibiting 2HG production.

Lastly, although rare, mutations in succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) and fumarate hydratase (FH) occur in pheochromocytoma, paraganglioma, leiomyoma, and renal carcinoma [166, 192]. Elevated levels of succinate and fumarate are the results of SDH and FH mutations and succinate specifically deregulates PHD3, an α KGdependent enzyme responsible for regulating HIF1 α stability [192]. Similarly, fumarate can deregulate PH2, but is also responsible for negative regulation of the transcription factor, Nrf2, leading to anti-oxidant gene upregulation [192].

3.1d. Therapeutic targets in metabolic pathways

Eradicating tumor cells and leaving normal cells unharmed is the challenge of modern cancer therapy. Indeed, tumor cells undergo a 'metabolic transformation' that aids in proliferation and survival; and consequently, renders altered metabolic pathways susceptible to inhibition (Figure 12) [193]. About 20 years after Otto Warburg described aberrant glycolysis in cancer cells, the first antimetabolites were used in cancer therapy [193, 194]. Farber et al. and colleagues used a folic acid antagonist and observed temporary remission of acute leukemia in children [194]. Since then a number of inhibitors of either metabolic enzymes or inhibitors of metabolic pathways have been generated to target these 'metabolically transformed' cells (Table 8) [193].



Figure 12. Therapeutic targets in metabolic pathways

Metabolic pathways that control growth and proliferation or provide macromolecular intermediates are attractive targets for intervention. PI3K/Akt/mTOR inhibitors indirectly impact metabolic pathways by inhibiting cell growth, proliferation and survival. Direct targets of metabolic enzymes reduce the yield of pathway output leading to a reduction in macromolecular intermediates required for cell proliferation. (Adapted from: Tennant, D.A., R.V. Duran, and E. Gottlieb, *Targeting metabolic transformation for cancer therapy*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2010. **10**(4): p. 267-77.)

Table 8: Inhibitors of metabolic enzymes or effectors of common pathways

Compound	Target	Effect	Stage of approval	Types of cancers	Study number(s)
2- deoxyglucose	Hexokinase	Inhibits glycolysis	Phase I&II	Lung, breast, prostate, gastic, head and neck	 NCT00633087 NCT00096707 NCT00247403
Lonidamine	Hexokinase	Inhibits glycolysis	Phase III	Benign prostatic hyper- plasia	NCT00435448NCT00237536
3- bromopyruvat e	Hexokinase	Inhibits glycolysis	Pre- clinical	N/A	N/A
TLN-232	Pyruvate Kinase	Inhibits glycolysis	Phase II	Metastatic melanoma and renal cell carcinoma	• NCT00735332
	N 1 1 41 1	1 1 1 1			100
Anti- metabolites (i.e. 5-FU, cytarabine, methotrexate)	Nucleotide biosynthetic pathway	cell proliferation	FDA approve d	Multiple cancer types	>100
Anti- metabolites (i.e. 5-FU, cytarabine, methotrexate) MK-0646	Nucleotide biosynthetic pathway IGF1R	Blocks IGF	FDA approve d Phase I&II	Multiple cancer types Lung, pancreas, liver, breast	>100 • NCT00799240
Anti- metabolites (i.e. 5-FU, cytarabine, methotrexate) MK-0646 BIIB022	Nucleotide biosynthetic pathway IGF1R IGF1R	Blocks IGF signaling Blocks IGF	FDA approve d Phase I&II Phase I&II	Multiple cancer types Lung, pancreas, liver, breast Lung, pancreas, liver, breast	 >100 NCT00799240 NCT00555724
Anti- metabolites (i.e. 5-FU, cytarabine, methotrexate) MK-0646 BIIB022 AVE1642	IGF1R IGF1R	Blocks IGF signaling Blocks IGF signaling Blocks IGF signaling	FDA approve d Phase I&II Phase I&II Phase I&II	Multiple cancer types Lung, pancreas, liver, breast Lung, pancreas, liver, breast Lung, pancreas, liver, breast	 >100 NCT00799240 NCT00555724 NCT00791544
Anti- metabolites (i.e. 5-FU, cytarabine, methotrexate) MK-0646 BIIB022 AVE1642 GDC-0941	Nucleotide biosynthetic pathway IGF1R IGF1R IGF1R PI3K	Inhibits cell proliferation Blocks IGF signaling Blocks IGF signaling Blocks IGF signaling Inhibits PI3K signaling	FDA approve d Phase I&II Phase I&II Phase I&II Phase I&II	Multiple cancer types Lung, pancreas, liver, breast Lung, pancreas, liver, breast Lung, pancreas, liver, breast Breast, lymphoma	 >100 NCT00799240 NCT00555724 NCT00791544 NCT00876109

		signaling				
BEZ235	PI3K/mTOR	Inhibits signaling from PI3K and mTORC1 and mTORC2	Phase I&II	Advanced solid tumors (i.e. lung, brain)	•	NCT00485719
XL765	PI3K/mTOR	Inhibits signaling from PI3K and mTORC1 and mTORC2	Phase I&II	Advanced solid tumors (i.e. lung, brain	•	NCT00777699
SF1126	PI3K/mTOR	Inhibits signaling from PI3K and mTORC1 and mTORC2	Phase I&II	Advanced solid tumors (i.e. lung, brain	•	NCT00704080 NCT00907205
BGT226	PI3K/mTOR	Inhibits signaling from PI3K and mTORC1 and mTORC2	Phase I&II	Advanced solid tumors (i.e. lung, brain	•	NCT00600275
Torin1	mTORC1 and mTORC2	Inhibits mTORC1 and mTORC2	Pre- clinical	N/A		N/A
PP242	mTORC1 and mTORC2	Inhibits mTORC1 and mTORC2	Pre- clinical	N/A		N/A
Periforsine	Akt	Inhibits Akt	Phase I&II	Renal cancer, lung, lymphoma	•	NCT00399789 NCT00399152
GSK690693	Akt	Inhibits Akt	Phase I&II	Renal cancer, lung, lymphoma	•	NCT00493818
PX-478	HIF1α	Inhibits HIF	Phase I	Advanced	•	NCT00522652

		signaling		solid tumors and	
A arifle in a		labibita LUE	Dre	iymphoma	N1/A
Acrinavine	HIF1α	signaling	clinical	IN/A	N/A
Metformin	AMPK complex and Complex I of mitochondria	Activates AMPK	Phase I&II	Solid tumors and lymphoma	 NCT00659568 NCT00881725 NCT00984490 NCT00909506
SB-204990	ATP-citrate lyase	Inhibits fatty acid synthesis	Pre- clinical	N/A	N/A
Orlistat	FASN	Inhibits fatty acid synthesis	Pre- clinical	N/A	N/A
GSK837149A	FASN	Inhibits fatty acid synthesis	Pre- clinical	N/A	N/A
C75	FASN	Inhibits fatty acid synthesis	Pre- clinical	N/A	N/A
Adapted from: Tennant, D.A., R.V. Duran, and E. Gottlieb, <i>Targeting metabolic transformation for cancer therapy.</i> Nat Rev Cancer, 2010. 10 (4): p. 267-77.					

Growth signaling pathway inhibitors such as those targeting IGF1R, PI3K and Akt are used as an indirect method to target tumor cell metabolism and have had success in decreasing cancer cell progression [195]. One of the most well known metabolic drugs identified that is clinically used is metformin, an AMPK activator. Metformin was first used in patients with type 2 diabetes; however, a study found that diabetes patients that were treated with metformin had a higher probability of being cancer-free after an 8-year follow-up compared to patients treated with other regimens [193, 196]. These results were corroborated in preclinical mouse models as well as in diabetes patients with breast cancer and found that metformin has a profound antitumor effect [193, 197, 198].

Another attractive target for intervention is glycolysis. As previously stated, many tumor cells display elevated levels of glycolysis and greatly uptake glucose regardless of bioenergetic requirement [165]. However, many inhibitors of glycolysis used as a monotherapy, such as 2-deoxyglucose (a glucose mimetic which targets hexokinase 2), are unsuccessful in osteosarcoma and NSCLC and require combination treatment with either chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy [193, 199, 200]. For example, 2-deoxyglucose is synergistic when combined with adriamycin and paclitaxel in both osteosarcoma and non-small cell lung cancer [199].

Moreover, the conversion of phosphoenolpyruvate to pyruvate by pyruvate kinase is an important rate-limiting step of glycolysis and the PK inhibitor, TLN-232, is currently in Phase II clinical trial [193]. However, TLN-232 is a PKM1 specific inhibitor and as previously mentioned in chapter 3.1c, PKM2 is the predominant isoform of PK in cancer cells. Recently, a PKM2 knockdown in a mouse model showed that PKM2 is

not required for tumor growth *in vivo* and that other growth pathways may become activated following its removal [201].

Another mode of intervention includes agents developed to reduce HIF1 levels either by targeting effector molecules or by inhibiting HIF1 dimerization (Table 8) [193]. For example, acriflavine prevents dimerization between HIF1 α and HIF1 β subunits and has been shown to be effective at inhibiting xenograft prostate cancer growth [193, 202]. Similarly, PX-478 has been shown to decrease HIF1 α levels leading to a profound inhibition of tumor growth both *in vitro* and *in vivo* in multiple cancer types [193, 203].

Inhibition of the mTOR pathway is also an attractive target due to its overactivity in multiple types of cancers [193]. Unfortunately, the mTOR inhibitor, rapamycin, and its many rapalogues have had limited success as a monotherapy due to additional activation of PI3K/Akt [193, 204]. Therefore, the creation of compounds targeting the combination of mTORC1, mTORC2 and PI3K such as BEZ235 and XL765 have been developed for lung and brain cancers and are currently in Phase I and II clinical trial [193].

Lastly, cancer cells are largely dependent on *de novo* fatty acid synthesis for their supply of fatty acids rather than from exogenous accumulation and as a consequence, upregulate the *de novo* lipogenesis pathway [205]. The *de novo* lipogenesis pathway will be described in more detail in Chapter 3.1e, however, agents have been developed that target enzymes in this pathway; mainly inhibitors of fatty acid synthase (FASN) and ATP-citrate lyase (ACLY) [193, 205]. FASN is overexpressed in a variety of cancers, including cancers of the breast, colon and endometrium and the

inhibition of FASN using C75, orlistat and GSK837149A, are very effective *in vitro* and *in vivo* [206-208]. Additionally, FASN inhibitors have been used in combination with 5-FU and traztuzumab to synergistically induce cell death [209, 210]. Likewise, ACLY is overexpressed at the mRNA, protein and enzymatic level in lung adenocarcinoma [153]. Inhibition of ACLY by either genetic or pharmacologic means, reduces glucosedependent lipid synthesis, proliferation and survival *in vitro* and *in vivo* [211]. ACLY will be discussed in further detail in Chapter 3.1f and 3.1g. Ultimately, targeting metabolic pathways and enzymes as a monotherapy or in combination in transformed cells provides an effective avenue to target tumor-specific alterations and prevent toxicity to normal tissues.

3.1e. The de novo lipogenesis pathway

In order to promote growth and proliferation, tumor cells are required to synthesize macromolecular building blocks such as nucleotides, amino acids and fatty acids. Fatty acids are derived from two sources: exogenously via dietary means and endogenously via *de novo* synthesis [212]. The *de novo* lipogenesis pathway synthesizes complex fatty acids such as phospholipids, triglycerides and cholesterylesters that are important for synthesis of cell membranes and lipid-based post-translational modifications on proteins [212]. In contrast to normal cells, tumor cells obtain almost 93% of triacylglycerols from *de novo* synthesis [212]. Therefore, enzymes of this pathway are commonly upregulated in a variety of cancers including cancers of the ovary, breast, stomach, colorectum, lung, bladder and prostate among others [212].



Figure 13. The de novo lipogenesis pathway

The de novo lipogenesis pathway is downstream of glycolysis and a truncated citric acid cycle. Citrate is exported from the mitochondria into the cytoplasm and converted to acetyl-CoA and oxaloacetate by ATP-citrate lyase (ACLY). Acetyl-CoA is used as a substrate for Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) and synthesizes malonyl-CoA. Fatty acid synthase (FASN) condenses malonyl-CoA and acetyl-CoA to form palmitate and other complex fatty acids such as phospholipids, triglycerides, cholesterol esters. (Adapted from: Menendez, J.A. and R. Lupu, *Fatty acid synthase and the lipogenic phenotype in cancer pathogenesis*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2007. **7**(10): p. 763-77.)

The first enzyme of the lipogenesis pathway is ATP-citrate lyase (ACLY). ACLY catalyzes the conversion of cytoplasmic citrate to acetyl-CoA and oxaloacetate downstream of a truncated citric acid cycle (Figure 13) [205, 212]. Next, acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) synthesizes malonyl-CoA in a rate-limiting fashion [212]. In breast carcinomas, ACC is overexpressed at the mRNA and protein level with its inhibition resulting in decreased cell proliferation and cell viability [213-215]. The last reaction of the pathway is the condensation of malonyl-CoA and acetyl-CoA by FASN to palmitate and other complex fatty acids (Figure 13) [212]. Elevated levels of FASN are found in over 20 types of cancer including breast, colorectal, bladder, ovary and lung [212]. Moreover, high FASN expression is also correlated with increased risk of disease recurrence and death in breast cancer patients [208, 216].

3.1f. ATP-citrate lyase

As previously stated, ATP-citrate lyase (ACLY) catalyzes cytoplasmic citrate into acetyl-CoA and oxaloacetate in the *de novo* lipogenesis pathway. In 2004, Beigneux et al. and colleagues attempted to generate an ACLY knockout mouse by crossing ACLY heterozygous mice [217]. However, no ACLY -/- mice were obtained from at least 60 litters and therefore, ACLY is required for embryonic development. Interestingly, heterozygous mice were completely normal in spite of displaying only 50% of ACLY mRNA and protein expression [217].

In mammals, ACLY is highly expressed in white adipose tissue and liver cells, whereas brain, heart, small intestine and muscle cells display low levels of ACLY [218, 219]. Moreover, ACLY is localized primarily in the cytoplasm of cells to synthesize acetyl-CoA in the *de novo* lipogenesis pathway, but recently has been found to be in

the nucleus in murine embryonic fibroblasts, murine pro-B-cell lymphoid cells, glioblastomas and in colorectal carcinomas [220]. In the nucleus, it has been proposed that ACLY is responsible for acetyl-CoA production required for histone acetylation [220].

Sterol regulatory element binding protein-1 (SREBP-1) is a lipogenic transcription factor suggested to regulate the expression of lipogenic enzymes, including ACLY, however, it found that ACLY mRNA levels do not correlate with SREBP-1 levels [153]. Therefore, it was suggested that ACLY might be regulated not at the transcriptional level, but post-translationally by phosphorylation and that the phosphorylation may lead to enzyme activity and protein stability [153]. Indeed, ACLY is phosphorylated by Akt on Ser454 in primary adipocytes as well as Thr 446 and Ser 450 by GSK3 β in an insulin dependent manner [158]. However, Migita et al. and collegues noted that ACLY phosphorylation and enzymatic activity were not completely abolished and only exhibited a modest reduction when lung adenocarcinoma cells were treated with the PI3K inhibitor, LY294002 [153]. Therefore, these data indicate that ACLY activity may be regulated in part by another pathway.

3.1g. ATP-citrate lyase and cancer

ACLY has shown to be upregulated either at the protein level or the enzymatic level in multiple cancer types including cancers of the lung, prostate, bladder, breast, liver, stomach and colon [218]. Specifically in breast cancer, ACLY activity is 160 fold higher in breast carcinoma compared to normal breast tissue [152]. Moreover, in lung adenocarcinoma, ACLY is elevated at both mRNA and protein levels with high levels of activated ACLY correlating with stage, grade and poor survival. In contrast, inhibition

of ACLY at both genetic and pharmacologic levels has been effective at suppressing proliferation and tumor growth in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* [211, 221]. These data support the notion that increased ACLY expression and activity provide tumor cells with selective growth advantages in order to support the tumorigenesis program.

3.1f. Hypothesis and specific aims

Metabolic transformation is a common feature of many tumor cells. Upregulation of lipid synthesis as well as upregulation of lipogenic enzymes provide tumor cells with essential building blocks required to maintain growth and survival in unfavorable conditions. In the previous chapter, we found ACLY, a lipogenic enzyme, to be a novel interacting protein of LMW-E in the cytoplasm. Therefore, we *hypothesize* that *LMW-E mediated tumorigenesis requires ACLY*. The following specific aims will address this hypothesis:

- Examine LMW-E mediated changes of ACLY enzymatic activity.
- Analyze lipid synthesis in an LMW-E inducible model system.
- Determine the affects of ACLY knockdown on anchorage-independent growth, migration and invasion of LMW-E expressing cells.
- Examine the requirement of ACLY in xenograft tumor growth in LMW-E expressing breast cancer cells.

Briefly, results presented in this chapter reveal that ACLY is regulated at the enzymatic level by LMW-E. In addition to total ACLY activity increases, ACLY enzymatic activity in the cytoplasm is elevated upon the induction of LMW-E and correlates with lipid droplet formation; which is indicative of activation of the *de novo* lipogenesis pathway. Moreover, ACLY is required for anchorage-independent growth, migration and invasion

in LMW-E expressing cells. Lastly, ACLY is required for xenograft tumor growth of MCF7 cells expressing LMW-E. Taken together, these data provide a unique insight of how metabolic pathways and the cell cycle are intrinsically linked and will help delineate treatment strategies for LMW-E expressing breast cancer patients.

3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.2a. Cell culture and plasmids

Human breast cancer MCF cells stably overexpressing cyclin E isoforms were cultured as previously described [113]. The immortalized non-tumorigenic human mammary epithelial cell line, 76NE6, which ectopically express cyclin E isoforms under a doxycycline-inducible promoter were cultured as previously described [111, 112]. 76NE6-tumor derived cells (TDCs) were generated and cultured as previously described [111]. The shRNA constructs were purchased from the shRNA and ORFeome core at the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center (Houston, TX) and were generated in a lentiviral packaging system as previously described [117]. Briefly, HEK293T cells were co-transfected with packaging vectors, pCMV Δ R8.2 and pMD2.G, along with either pGIPZ scrambled shRNA sequence or shACLY using LipoD293T transfection reagent. Lentiviral supernatant was filtered through a 0.45µm filter and transduced target cells for 48 hrs. Infected cells were selected with 0.5 µg/ml (76NE6) or 2 µg/ml (MCF7) puromycin.

3.2b. Cell lysis, immunoblotting and kinase assays

Cell lysates were prepared and subjected to western blot analysis as previously described in Chapter 2.2d. Western blots were incubated with primary antibodies

against ACLY, Parp and β -tubulin (Cell signaling, Danvers, MA), cyclin E HE12 and CDK2 were obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas, TX), and β -actin was obtained from EMB Millipore (Billerica, MA). For the kinase assay, lysates from MCF7 cells expressing the cyclin E isoforms and shRNA toward ACLY were immunoprecipitated using a CDK2 antibody. Lysates were incubated with Histone H1 in kinase buffer containing 60 μ M cold ATP and 5 μ Ci of [³²P] ATP to a final volume of 30 μ l at 37°C for 30 min. The products of the reactions were then analyzed on a 7% SDS-PAGE gel. The gel was then stained, destained, dried, and exposed to X-ray film.

3.2c. In vitro transcription and translation (TnT)

Cyclin E isoforms and CDK2 proteins were generated according to the manufacturers instructions using the TnT T7 Quick Coupled Transcription/Translation System from Promega (Madison, WI).

3.2d. ACLY activity

ACLY activity was measured by the malate dehydrogenase-coupled method as previously described [153]. Briefly, cell lysates were extracted from MCF7 and 76NE6 cell lines and incubated with the reaction mixture (200mM Tris Hcl pH 8.7, 20mM MgCL₂, 20mM potassium citrate, 1mM DTT, 0.2mM NADH, 1U/mL MDH, 0.5mM CoA) with and without ATP and subjected to the assay. ACLY activity was measured every 3 minutes for 30 minutes using a NanoDrop 2000c spectrophotometer from Thermo Scientific (Wilmington, DE). ACLY specific activity was calculated as the change in absorbance with ATP minus the change in absorbance without ATP normalized to protein concentration, however, 25ng was used in *in vitro* assays from utilizing purified recombinant ACLY enzyme (US Biological, Salem, MA).

3.2e. Cell fractionation

2 x 10⁶ cells were plated on p150 tissue culture plates for 48 hours before harvesting. To harvest cell lysates, cells were washed twice with PBS and removed from the plate using a cell scraper in ice cold PBS. Cells were centrifuged at 2500rpm for 5 minutes at 4°C. Cells were resuspended in RSB buffer (10mM Tris-HCI, pH 7.4, 10mM NaCl, 3mM MgCl₂) and centrifuged at 2500rpm for 5 minutes at 4°C. Cells were again resuspended in RSB buffer and homogenized using a loose fitting glass homogenizer then passed through a 25-gauge syringe to break the cell membrane. Lysate was incubated on ice for 10 minutes and centrifuged at 2500rpm for 5 minutes at 4°C. The pellet is the nuclear fraction and the supernatant is the cytosol. The supernatant was removed and placed in a clean tube. The pellet was washed with RSB buffer and centrifuged again. The pellet was resuspended in 50µl Nuclear Extraction Buffer (Cell Biolabs, San Diego, CA) along with 0.5µl of DL-dithiothreitol (DTT) and 5µl protease inhibitors. The pellet was kept on ice for 30 minutes and vortexed at the highest setting every 10 minutes. The pellet was centrifuged for 30 minutes at 14,000 x g at 4°C with the supernatant being the soluble nuclear fraction.

3.2f. Lipid staining

Lipid staining was conducted using the LipidTox reagent according to the manufacturers instructions (Invitrogen, Grand Island, NY). Briefly, cells were fixed using 4% paraformaldehyde and permeabilized with 0.1% saponin for 60 minutes at room temperature. LipidTox reagent was diluted 1:200 in PBS and incubated with cells for 45-60 minutes and imaged on an Olympus Epi-fluorescence microscope with a 60X objective and Hamamatsu Orca camera.

3.2g. Anchorage-independent growth assay

Anchorage-independent growth assays were performed as previously described with the following modifications [222]. Briefly, MCF7 cells were plated at a density of 2,500 cells/well on 12-well plates in 0.35% Seaplaque Agarose (Lonza, Rockland, ME). Cells were grown for 10 to 30 days in their recommended media and fed every 3-4 days. Colonies were measured by using the GelCount system (Oxford Optronix, Abingdon, UK) with colonies greater than 50µm in diameter scored. Three biological replicates were conducted in duplicate, with results reported as average number ± SD.

3.2h. Migration assay

A total of 300,000 cells were plated on a 6-well tissue culture plate and allowed to grow until confluent. The plate was then scratched with a pipet tip. Pictures were taken at 0 and 24 hours using an EVOS XL Core light microscope with a 10X objective (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY) and scratch opening was measured using Adobe Photoshop (San Jose, CA).

3.2i. Transwell invasion assay

The transwell invasion assay was performed as previously described [111]. Briefly, for each sample, 100 μ l of 1 mg/ml Matrigel in serum-free cold MEM media was placed into the upper chamber of 24-well transwell plate (Corning, Corning, NY) and incubated at 37°C for 4–5 hours. Trypsinized cells were washed and suspended in serum-free medium at a concentration of 1×10⁶ cells/ml. 100 μ l of cell suspension was transferred onto the upper chamber, while the lower chamber contains 600 μ l of complete media containing 10 μ g/ml fibronectin. After 24 hours, the cells were fixed

and permeabilized with 4% formaldehyde for 15 minutes, rinsed with PBS three times, incubated with 100% methanol for 20 minutes and washed again. The wells were stained with 0.2% crystal violet for 15 minutes. The crystal violet was removed and the invaded cells were photographed with an EVOS XL Core light microscope. Cells were quantified by trypsinizing the cells and counted using a BioRad TC20 cell counter (Hercules, CA). Each sample was repeated 3 times independently.

3.2j. Cell proliferation assay

Cells were seeded at a density of 1000 cells/well in a 96-well plate and harvested every 24 hours for 96 hours. On day of harvest, 50µl per well of 2.5 mg/mL MTT (3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphentItetrazolium bromide) (Sigma) was added to serum-free media and allowed to incubate at 37°C for 3 hours. After incubation, media was removed and 100µl solubilization solution (0.04M HCl, 1%SDS, in isopropanol) was added to each well. Plates were incubated with shaking for 1 hour before reading on a plate reader (Epoch Microplate Spectrophotometer Gen 5 software, BioTek, Winooski, VT) at 590nm. Doubling time was calculated in Graphpad Prism software (La Jolla, CA).

3.2k. Real-time PCR

Total RNA was isolated from cell culture with RNAeasy kit with DNase treatment according to the manufacture's protocol (Qiagen). 2 μ g of the RNA samples was reverse-transcribed using cDNA synthesis kit (Applied Biosystems). Realtime PCR was done with aliquots of the cDNA samples mixed with SYBR Green Master Mix (Sigma). Reactions were carried out in triplicate. The fold difference in transcripts was calculated by the $\Delta\Delta$ CT method using GAPDH as a control. E-cadherin forward 5'-

TGCCCAGAAAATGAAAAA GG, reverse 3'-GTGTATGTGGCAATGCGTTC Twist forward 5'-GGAGTCCGCAGTCTTA CGAG, reverse 3'-TCTGGAGGACCTGGTAGAG G; Slug forward 5'- GGGGAGAAGCCTTT TTCTTG, reverse 3'-TCCTCATGTTTGTGCAGG AG; and GAPDH forward 5'- ACCCAGAA GACTGTGGATGG-3', reverse 5'-CTGGACTGG ACGGCAGATCT-3'

3.21. In vivo xenograft model

Nude mice were obtained from the department of Experimental Radiation Oncology at The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center (Houston, TX). MCF7 cells were injected in a 50:50 ratio of cells:Matrigel at a density of 2.5 x 10⁶ cells/mL in the mammary fat pad. Tumors were measured twice per week with caliper starting at 3 weeks for 12 weeks.

3.2m. Statistical analysis

Experiments were performed in at least duplicate with at least three technical replicates per experiment. All error bars are representative of standard deviation from the mean Statistical analyses were performed using the Student's *t*-test (two sample equal variance; two-tailed distribution) using Graphpad Software, La Jolla, CA).

3.3 RESULTS

3.3a. LMW-E isoforms affects ACLY enzymatic activity

ACLY enzymatic activity has shown to be elevated in breast carcinoma and lung adenocarcinoma compared to normal tissue [152, 153]. Therefore, we examined the effect of cyclin E expression on ACLY enzymatic activity using the malate dehydrogenase in human breast cancer cells that ectopically express the cyclin E

isoforms. Expression of LMW-E(T1) and LMW-E(T2) significantly increased ACLY enzymatic activity by 25-60% , while EL expression resulted in no change (Figure 14A). Moreover, increased ACLY enzymatic activity was only detected upon doxycycline induction of the LMW-E isoforms using the non-tumorigenic human mammary epithelial cell line (hMEC), 76NE6; that contains inducible expression of cyclin E (Figure 14C). The phosphorylation of ACLY on Ser454 by Akt is thought to regulate ACLY enzymatic activity, however, the increase in ACLY enzymatic activity observed upon expression of the LMW-E isoforms did not result in changes of total or phosphorylated ACLY protein levels, indicating the increase in activity is independent of Akt (Figure 14B,D) [153]. Furthermore, examination of the LMW-E isoforms revealed that LMW-E(T1) and LMW-E(T2) directly upregulate ACLY enzymatic activity 35-50%, while addition of EL or CDK2 did not result in a significant increase of ACLY enzymatic activity (Figure 14E).

3.3b. Cytoplasmic ACLY activity results in lipid droplet accumulation

ACLY is primarily found in the cytoplasm, but has also been found to localize to the nucleus in murine embryonic fibroblasts, murine pro-B-cell lymphoid cells, glioblastomas and in colorectal carcinomas [220]. To examine whether the LMW-E isoforms specifically upregulate cytoplasmic ACLY activity, 76NE6 cells with inducible expression of cyclin E were fractionated and enzymatic activity was measured by the malate dehydrogenase coupled method. ACLY enzymatic activity was higher in the cytoplasm compared to the nucleus of all conditions examined, however, ACLY enzymatic activity was increased by 40% in the cytoplasmic fraction of cells containing LMW-E(T1) and LMW-E(T2) expression compared to uninduced conditions (Figure





5 ACLY EL T1 T2 CDK2

+
-

_

+ - - +

+ - - - -

+ - + - - -



D



+ - + -
Figure 14. LMW-E isoforms affects ACLY enzymatic activity

(A) Stable expression of LMW-E isoforms increases ACLY enzymatic activity. ACLY activity was determined by the malate dehydrogenase coupled method for 3 independent replicates. Error bars= SEM (Student's t-test,**p<0.007). (B) Western blot analysis showing protein expression. (C) Inducible expression of the LMW-E isoforms increases ACLY enzymatic activity. ACLY activity was determined by the malate dehydrogenase coupled method for 3 independent replicates. Error bars= SEM (Student's t-test,**p<0.004 and *p<0.03). (D) Western blot analysis showing protein expression. (E) ACLY activity is shown from 2 independent replicates generated from *in vitro transcribed and translated* proteins incubated with recombinant ACLY. Error bars= SEM (Student's t-test,**p<0.03).

15B). Importantly, EL had no effect on activity, while nuclear LMW-E isoforms only increase ACLY activity about 10% (Figure15B).

End products of the *de novo* lipogenesis pathway include phospholipids and complex fatty acids resulting in lipid droplet formation [212]. Lipid droplets (LDs) are intracellular structures comprised of a phospholipid and sterol outer layer and hydrophobic core containing neutral lipids such as triacy/glycerides and cholesterylesters [223, 224]. Thus, lipid droplet stores provide building blocks for membrane production, protein degradation, substrates for lipid-based post-translational modifications and viral replication [224]. Therefore, to investigate lipid accumulation, 76NE6 cells containing inducible expression of the cyclin E isoforms were stained with a neutral lipid dye. Neutral lipid staining under uninduced conditions showed a diffuse pattern in all cyclin E isoforms, however, upon doxycycline induction, only LMW-E expressing cells revealed a punctate pattern of neutral lipid staining indicating lipid droplet formation (Figure 15C,D). LMW-E expression increased LD formation from 20% to 60% in LMW-E(T1) and from 20% to 45% in LMW-E(T2) expressing cells (Figure 15 D).

Moreover, lipid droplet accumulation in LMW-E expressing cells requires ACLY. Specifically, lipid droplets were present in only 20-30% of cells when ACLY is knocked down, compared to 40-60% in control shRNA and indicates that expression of LMW-E(T2) does not independently induce lipid droplet formation (Figure 15G,H). Together, these data show that ACLY is highly active in the cytoplasm due to the presence of LMW-E and results in lipid droplet formation in human mammary epithelial cells.









Figure 15. Cytoplasmic ACLY activity results in lipid droplet accumulation

(A) Western blot showing protein expression from fractionated cells. (B) ACLY activity is shown for 3 independent replicates from fractionated 76NE6 cells. Statistical analysis was conducted using the student's t-test. Error bars= SEM (**p<0.008 and *p<0.04). (C) Intracellular lipid accumulation was measured using fluorescent dyes. (D) Cells were counted for the formation of lipid droplets before and after addition of doxycycline (n=100). Statistical analysis was performed using the student's t-test (*p<0.05). (E) Western blot showing protein expression. (F) ACLY activity is shown for 3 independent replicates. Error bars=SEM (**p<0.002). (G) Intracellular lipid accumulation was measured using fluorescent dyes. (H) Cells were counted for the formation of doxycycline (n=100). Statistical analysis was performed using fluorescent dyes. (H) Cells were counted for the formation of lipid droplets before and after addition of doxycycline (n=100). Statistical analysis was performed using fluorescent dyes. (H) Cells were counted for the formation of lipid droplets before and after addition of doxycycline (n=100). Statistical analysis was performed using the student's t-test (*p<0.05).

3.3c. ACLY is required for LMW-E mediated transformation

The LMW-E isoforms are biologically hyperactive and display increased tumorigenic potential compared to EL [113]. Therefore, to examine the requirement of ACLY in LMW-E mediated tumorigenesis, an anchorage-independent growth assay was performed in MCF7 cells containing knockdown of ACLY. Knockdown of ACLY had no effect on vector cells and a slight reduction was observed in EL cells at 10 days, but was rescued by 30 days (Figure 16D). Knockdown of ACLY in LMW-E expressing cells resulted in colony formation being reduced up to 50% (Figure 16D). Moreover, the average colony diameter was reduced by 20-40% in LMW-E expressing cells with knockdown of ACLY (Figure 16E). Importantly, knockdown of ACLY did not affect CDK2 associated kinase activity in cyclin E expressing cells, indicating that reduced growth is not due to reduced proliferation in LMW-E expressing cells (Figure 16C). Together, these data suggest that ACLY contributes to LMW-E mediated transformation in the context of anchorage-independent growth.

3.3d. Inhibition of ACLY reduces migratory and invasive capabilities of HMECs

ACLY has been implicated in playing a role during migration in glioblastoma [225]. In addition, it has been shown that LMW-E expression in non-tumorigenic human mammary epithelial cells (76NE6-HMECs) that have been serially passaged through mice; called tumor derived cells (TDCs), have an increased propensity to invade using a transwell invasion assay [111]. Therefore, to examine whether ACLY is required for LMW-E mediated migration and invasion in TDCs, ACLY was knocked-down using shRNA (Figure 17A,B). The wound healing assay showed that migration of LMW-E expressing TDCs was significantly inhibited within 24 hours in the ACLY





Figure 16. ACLY is required for LMW-E mediated anchorage-independent growth

(A) Western blot showing protein expression. (B) ACLY enzymatic activity in MCF7 cells containing shACLY. Error bars=SEM, **p<0.005. (C) CDK2 associated kinase activity in knockdown cells. (D) Quantitation of colonies formed after 10 days and 30 days in anchorage-independent growth conditions. Statistical analysis was performed using the student's t-test. For 10 days *p<0.04,**p<0.009, ***p,0.0002. For 30 days *p<0.04 and **p<0.0025. The assay was performed in triplicate with images from whole wells from one representative experiment are shown. (E) Average colony diameter. Statistical analysis was performed using the student's t-test with **p<0.0085 and performed in triplicate with images from representative colonies are shown.







E				
Cells	shRNA	Doubling time (hrs.)		
	Scrambled	40.24 +/- 0.670		
Parental	#12shACLY	34.42 +/- 6.790		
	#13shACLY	37.25 +/- 3.495		
EL	Scrambled	29.10 +/- 2.010		
	#12shACLY	29.31 +/- 0.245		
	#13shACLY	33.61 +/- 1.160		
	Scrambled	24.16 +/- 2.145		
T1	#12shACLY	24.37 +/- 1.535		
	#13shACLY	24.44 +/- 1.975		
2.2	Scrambled	29.34 +/- 3.230		
	#12shACLY	28.96 +/-2.355		
	#13shACLY	29.76 +/- 2.800		
	Scrambled	36.27 +/- 0.370		
3.1	#12shACLY	27.89 +/- 8.756		
	#13shACLY	34.92 +/- 4.195		
	Scrambled	30.48 +/- 3.170		
4.2	#12shACLY	29.52 +/- 4.305		
	#13shACLY	30.41+/- 5.760		

F

G



Figure 17. Inhibition of ACLY reduces migration and invasion in HMECs

(A) Western blot analysis showing protein expression. (B) ACLY enzymatic activity in 76NE6 and TDCs containing shACLY. Error bars=SEM, *p<0.05, **p<0.009. (C) Proliferation was assessed by MTT assay and read at 590nm. Doubling time was calculated in GraphPad Prism software. (D) 76NE6 and TDCs containing either scrambled shRNA or shRNA toward ACLY were allowed to reach confluency and scratched. Images were taken at 0 and 24 hours post-scratch. (E) Quantitation of migration assay. Statistical analysis was conducted using the student's t-test from 3 independent replicates for each condition. Error bars=SEM; *p<0.05, **p<0.008. (F) Cells were plated on a transwell chamber containing Matrigel and incubated on top of fibronectin-containing media for 24 hours and invaded cells were stained with crystal violet. Images of 20X magnification were taken with a light microscope. (G) Quantitation of transwell invasion assay. Cells on the bottom of the transwell were collected at 24 hours and counted. Statistical analysis was conducted using the student's t-test from 3 independent replicates for each condition. Error bars=SEM, p<0.05,**p<0.005. (H) gRT-PCR for selected EMT related genes. Reactions were carried out in triplicate with the fold difference in transcripts was calculated by the $\Delta\Delta$ CT method using GAPDH as a control.

knockdown cells, while vector control and EL had no effect (Figure 17C,D).

Specifically, migration was reduced in 76NE6-T1 shACLY cells by 50% and up to 30% in ACLY knockdown TDCs. Importantly, reduced migration was not due to changes in the proliferative capacity of the ACLY knockdown cells, as no changes were observed in doubling time (Figure 17E). Moreover, using the transwell invasion method, indeed, ACLY is required for LMW-E TDC mediated invasion. The invasive capacity of LMW-E TDCs was reduced up to 60%, with minimal or no effect in vector or EL cells containing knockdown ACLY (Figure 17F,G). LMW-E TDCs have also been reported to undergo EMT, however, ACLY is not required for this process. Examination of EMT related genes such as E-cadherin, Twist, Slug and Zeb1 displayed no change when ACLY was inhibited (Figure 17H). Together, these data demonstrate that ACLY is required for migration and invasion of LMW-E expressing TDCs and that proliferation and the EMT process are unaffected.

3.3e. ACLY is required for LMW-E mediated tumor growth

To further examine the requirement of ACLY in LMW-E mediated tumorigenesis, we performed an *in vivo* xenograft tumor assay and injected MCF7 cells containing both stable expression of the cyclin E isoforms and stable knockdown of ACLY into the mammary fat pad of nude mice. Knockdown in MCF7 vector cells displayed a modest reduction in tumor growth, while knockdown of ACLY in EL expressing cells were uninhibited (Figure 18A). Knockdown of ACLY in LMW-E expressing cells, however, displayed substantial inhibition of tumor growth (Figure 18A). Specifically, on average, vector expressing cells increased in volume about 3-fold and EL expressing cells increased in volume about 6-fold, however, LMW-E expressing cells containing



Cyclin E expression	shRNA sequence	# of tumors 3 weeks	# of tumors 12 weeks
Vector	Scr.shRNA	100% (5/5)	100% (5/5)
	#12shACLY	100% (5/5)	100% (5/5)
	#13shACLY	100% (5/5)	100% (5/5)
EL	Scr.shRNA	100% (5/5)	100% (5/5)
	#12shACLY	100% (5/5)	100% (5/5)
	#13shACLY	100% (5/5)	100% (5/5)
LMW-(T1)	Scr.shRNA	100% (5/5)	100% (5/5)
	#12shACLY	80% (4/5)	100% (5/5)
	#13shACLY	40% (2/5)	40% (2/5)
LMW-E(T2)	Scr.shRNA	100% (5/5)	100% (5/5)
	#12shACLY	0% (0/5)	100% (5/5)
	#13shACLY	20% (1/5)	40% (2/5)

Figure 18. ACLY is required for LMW-E mediated tumor growth

(A) Inhibition of tumor growth in MCF7 cells containing stable overexpression of the cyclin E isoforms and either scrambled shRNA or shRNA targeted to ACLY. Cells were injected at a concentration of 2.5×10^6 cells/100 µL into the mammary fat pad of nude mice. Tumors were measured for 12 weeks starting at 3 weeks. Statistical analysis was conducted using the student's t-test. N=5; error bars=SEM; **p<0.008 and ***p<0.0007. (B) Representative pictures of #12shACLY tumors and quantitation of tumor weights. Statistical analysis was conducted using the student's t-test. N=5; error bars=SEM; *p<0.008 and ***p<0.0007. (B) Representative pictures of #12shACLY tumors and quantitation of tumor weights. Statistical analysis was conducted using the student's t-test. Error bars=SEM; *p<0.05, ***<0.0002 and ****p<0.0001. (C) Propensity of tumor growth. LMW-E expressing cells containing knockdown of ACLY have delayed tumor latency.

knockdown of ACLY exhibited virtually no change in tumor volume over the 12 week period (Figure18A). These changes were corroborated with examination of tumor weight, in that LMW-E expressing cells with knockdown of ACLY were extremely small with weights ranging in size from 6mg-65mg (Figure 18B). Moreover, knockdown of ACLY in LMW-E expressing cells delays tumor latency. Specifically, transcript #12 delayed tumor formation to 6 weeks in LMW-E(T1) and up to 9 weeks in LMW-E(T2) expressing cells. Similarly, tumor formation was delayed in transcript #13, with only 40% of tumors forming after 12 weeks (Figure 18C). Taken together, these data show that ACLY is required for LMW-E mediated tumor formation and tumor growth.

3.4 CONCLUSIONS

Energy deregulation is now recognized as a hallmark of cancer cells and a characteristic of the transformed phenotype [162]. Indeed, metabolic enzymes have been shown to be deregulated in cancer cells including deregulation of enzymes in the *de novo* lipogenesis pathway [223]. Specifically, lipogenesis enzymes, ACC and FASN, have shown to have elevated expression in breast and prostate cancers [223]. Moreover, ACLY has shown to be upregulated either at the protein level or the enzymatic level in multiple cancer types including cancers of the lung, prostate, bladder, breast, liver, stomach and colon [218].

This study demonstrates, for the first time, a direct link between the metabolic enzyme, ACLY, with cell cycle protein, cyclin E. Specifically, the LMW-E isoforms significantly increased ACLY enzymatic activity in human breast cancer, MCF7 cells, and non-tumorigenic human mammary epithelial cells. Other studies have shown that

ACLY enzymatic activity is mediated by phosphorylation by Akt [153]. However, in lung adenocarcinoma A549 cells treated with the PI3K inhibitor, LY294002, showed only partial inactivation of ACLY enzymatic activity, suggesting additional mechanisms of ACLY activation [153]. We propose that ACLY is also enzymatically regulated by the LMW-E isoforms.

Moreover, LMW-E mediated activation of ACLY is specific to cytoplasmic ACLY and results in lipid droplet formation. Lipid droplets are energy reservoirs that provide cells with the substrates required to support cell growth, proliferation, energy homeostasis, resistance to oxidative stress and function in signaling [223]. Therefore, these data indicate that LMW-E activation of ACLY and subsequent formation of lipid droplets provides LMW-E expressing cells the necessary building blocks to sustain growth.

Additionally, ACLY has been implicated in playing a role during migration in glioblastoma [225]. In 76NE6-TDCs with LMW-E expression, knockdown of ACLY significantly reduced migration and invasion with migration reduced up to 30% and invasion reduced up to 60%. Changes in EMT related gene expression where not detected, therefore, the reduced migratory and invasive phenotype may be due to changes in lipid-based signals. Indeed, eicosanoids, phosphoinositides and sphingolipids are signaling lipids shown to mediate multiple cellular processes such as cell proliferation and migration [226]. It would be interesting to determine whether changes in migratory behavior of LMW-E TDCs with ACLY expression was due to depletion of these key lipid signaling molecules.

Lastly, ACLY is required for LMW-E mediated tumor growth in vitro and in vivo. Knockdown of ACLY in MCF7 cells expressing the LMW-E isoforms significantly reduced anchorage-independent growth as early as 10 days with colony diameter after 30 days being reduced up to 40%. Moreover, reduced colony formation was irrespective of CDK2-associated kinase activity, as kinase activity was only moderately inhibited in vector cells containing knockdown of ACLY. Moreover, inhibition of ACLY in LMW-E expressing cells significantly reduced tumor formation in vitro. Nude mice bearing xenograft tumors expressing the LMW-E isoforms and containing knockdown of ACLY exhibited substantial inhibition of tumor formation and tumor growth, while knockdown of ACLY in vector cells had minimal reduction in tumor growth. No inhibition of tumor growth was observed in EL expressing cells containing knockdown of ACLY. These data indicate that LMW-E expressing tumors rely on ACLY and presumably through the *de novo* lipogenesis pathway to support tumor growth and formation. Taken together, LMW-E mediated activation of ACLY serves as a mechanism of LMW-E mediated tumorigenesis and inhibition of ACLY may serve as a viable target in breast cancers and other cancers with LMW-E expression.

CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

4.1 CONCLUSIONS AND MAJOR FINDINGS

Deregulation of the LMW-E isoforms leads to tumorigenesis and research provided in this dissertation has addressed the primary hypothesis that *aberrant localization the LMW-E isoforms leads to molecular interactions that ultimately contribute to LMW-E breast cancer tumorigenicity.* The evidence delineated in this dissertation has provided answers to the key questions outlined in chapter 1.

1. Does LMW-E have protein-binding partner(s) in the cytoplasm?

 Indeed, using a retrovirus-based protein complementation assay, we found 11 novel interacting proteins of LMW-E. One of the interacting proteins identified, ATP-citrate lyase (ACLY), is capable of directly binding all cyclin E isoforms, but is not a substrate of cyclin E/CDK2.

2. Are the function(s) of the LMW-E cytoplasmic binding partner(s)

enhanced and/or suppressed?

 Expression of the LMW-E isoforms elevates ACLY enzymatic activity in breast cancer cells and non-tumorigenic human mammary epithelial cells. Moreover, in cyclin E inducible cells, we found that activation of ACLY by LMW-E occurs in the cytoplasm and results in lipid droplet formation, a cellular energy reservoir important for providing lipid/energy substrates required to fuel many cellular processes.

3. Are cytoplasmic LMW-E binding partners required for LMW-E mediated transformation, invasive capabilities and tumor growth?

Downregulation of ACLY impairs anchorage-independent growth in MCF7 cells expressing LMW-E, but not in control cells or EL expressing cells.
 Migration and invasion are also diminished when ACLY is downregulated, that is irrespective of the EMT program. *In vivo*, we found that downregulation of ACLY in LMW-E expressing cells is required for tumor growth and well as tumor formation.

4.2 FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Research provided in this dissertation contributes to the body of work addressing the mechanisms of LMW-E induced tumorigenesis. While data presented here advanced our knowledge by identifying cytoplasmic LMW-E binding proteins, due to the number of binding protein identified, it is clear that LMW-E mediated tumorigenesis is multifocal with many pathways and/or proteins contributing to LMW-E mediated tumorigenicity. Therefore, further investigation is required; particularly examination of the metabolic requirements of LMW-E expressing breast cancer cells.

From the RePCA screen, three metabolic proteins where identified as cytoplasmic binding partners of LMW-E (T1): trans, 2,3-enoyl-CoA reductase (TECR), Aldolase A (ALDO-A) and ATP-citrate lyase (ACLY). TECR functions in lipogenesis to reduce long chain and very long chain fatty acids [148]. Exome sequencing revealed a mutation that converts a leucine residue to a proline residue that is implicated in autosomal recessive non-syndromic mental retardation (NSMR), but no known link to cancer has been established [227]. ALDO-A, on the other hand, has been linked to human neoplasias. ALDO-A functions in glycolysis to catalyze the conversion of

fructose-1,6-bisphosphate to glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate and dihydroxyacetone phosphate [228]. For example, in Ras transformed NIH-3T3 cells, ALDO-A inhibition by siRNA resulted in a reduction in cell proliferation upwards of 90% [229]. Moreover, malignant adrenocortical tumors exhibit high expression of ALDO-A compared to benign tumors and high expression of ALDO-A in lung squamous cell carcinoma (LSCC) correlates with poor prognosis, reduced differentiation and increased tumor grade [228, 230].

Since multiple metabolic enzymes from different pathways were identified in the RePCA screen, it is plausible that LMW-E expressing cells broadly deregulate cellular metabolism and exploit flux through glycolysis and the *de novo* lipogenesis pathway. Glucose uptake is a characteristic of a more aggressive breast cancer phenotype and in general, MCF7 cells are less aggressive [177]. However, it can be hypothesized that breast cancer cells containing LMW-E expression shift to a more glycolytic phenotype since LMW-E expression renders breast cancer cells more aggressive and have a poor prognosis compared to breast cancer cells only containing expression of full-length cyclin E (EL) [98, 109, 111, 231]. Therefore, examination of glucose uptake in LMW-E expressing cell would provide additional insight regarding the metabolic alterations in LMW-E expressing breast cancer cells.

We also found that LMW-E expression results in lipid droplet formation. Lipid droplets (LDs) are intracellular energy reservoirs composed of triacylglycerides and cholesterylesters surrounded by a phospholipid monolayer [223]. LDs and increased fatty acid synthesis have shown to be involved in many areas of cancer progression [223]. In general, fatty acids promote membrane synthesis important for cell growth

and proliferation, but also exhibit non-proliferative roles. For example, fatty acids lead to membrane saturation important for resistance to oxidative stress and survival under energy stress [223]. Additionally, metabolic intermediates such as NADPH provide redox balance and fatty acid derived lipids facilitate signaling through membrane receptors or lipid-based posttranslational modifications [223]. Since knockdown of ACLY did not affect proliferation in LMW-E expressing 76NE6 human mammary epithelial cells, LDs with respect to LMW-E may play a non-proliferative role. We showed that knockdown of ACLY resulted in reduced migration and invasion that may be due to decreased fatty acids that regulate these functions. For example, watersoluble phospholipid, lyosophosphatidic acid (LPA), has shown to promote migration through G-protein-coupled receptors and the PI3K pathway [223, 232]. Furthermore, prostaglandins derived from cyclooxygenase 2 (COX2), also promote migration and support tumor-microenvironment interactions [233]. Preliminary examination of these lipid signaling molecules may prove to be involved in LMW-E mediated migration and invasion.

Another function of LDs is resistance to oxidative stress [223]. Activation of *de novo* lipogenesis results in an intracellular increase of saturated and mono-unsaturated phospholipids that are more resistant to peroxidation while decreasing poly-unsaturated phospholipids [234]. Therefore, inhibition of *de novo* fatty acid synthesis or inhibition of lipogenic enzymes has been shown to sensitize cells to oxidative stress causing cell death [234]. Moreover, decreased membrane saturation enables diffusion of chemotherapeutic agents such as doxorubicin; thereby providing rationale for the combination of lipogenesis inhibitors with chemotherapeutic agents [234].

In addition to investigating the broad scope of metabolic deregulation in LMW-E expressing breast cancer cells, the mechanism behind the LMW-E/ACLY interaction has yet to be established. It can be hypothesized that ACLY binds cyclin E in the MRAIL motif; which facilitates recognition of RXL containing proteins [81]. ACLY contains three RXL regions of interest. The first RXL motif is located at the N-terminus of ACLY, but is unlikely the site of cyclin E binding due steric hindrance by the ATP grasp fold between domains 3 and 4 of ACLY [235]. The next RXL motif and the most likely site of cyclin E binding, is found in the highly variable region of ACLY (aa426-486). It is within this region ACLY is phosphorylated by multiple kinases including Akt and GSK3 β [158]. This RXL motif lies just 27 amino acids downstream of S454, the site of phosphorylation by Akt [158]. The final RXL motif in ACLY is located within domain 1 which binds CoA [235]. Due to the power helices fold between domains 2 and 5, domain 1 is probably not easily accessible to a large protein such as cyclin E and can also be ruled out due to steric hindrance.

Since ACLY binds all isoforms of cyclin E (EL, LMW-E(T1) and LMW-E(T2)), it is logical that ACLY would bind in a common region of all cyclin E isoforms and not the N-terminus; which LMW-E are lacking. CDK2 binds cyclin E through the cyclin box motif and the last 50 amino acids [82]. It is possible that ACLY requires multiple regions on cyclin E to bind as well. Therefore, truncations of cyclin E can be generated to examine this possibility. Lastly, if ACLY binds cyclin E in the cyclin box, it is possible that ACLY has affinity to other cyclins as well since the cyclin box is a conserved region shared among all cyclins [75]. To examine this possibility, co-immunoprecipitation

assays can be performed to investigate interaction between ACLY and other cyclins involved in the cell cycle such as cyclin D, cyclin A or cyclin B.

Finally, we found that genetic downregulation of ACLY resulted in reduced anchorage-independent growth *in vitro* and xenograft tumor growth *in vivo* that was specific to LMW-E expressing breast cancer cells. Thus, in order to utilize this antitumor affect clinically, it would be imperative to examine whether pharmacologic inhibition was equally effective. There are several competitive and non-competitive inhibitors of ACLY [236]. Hydroxycitrate, one of the most studied competitive inhibitors, has shown modest success [225, 237, 238]. Hydroxycitrate is derived from Garcinia fruits and/or flowers and is commonly added to diet supplements, however, studies with mice have shown no differences in regards to weight [158, 236]. The anti-neoplastic effect of hydroxycitrate has been shown in bladder and colon carcinoma cell lines with growth inhibition ranging from 5-60% [238].

Butanedioic acid derivatives are another type of competitive inhibitor of ACLY [236]. Specifically, SB-204990, the pro-drug of SB-201076, has shown to be effective at reducing glucose-dependent lipid synthesis *in vitro* and tumor growth *in vivo* [211, 221]. Hatzivassiliou et al. and collegues report SB-204990 reduces lipid synthesis in a dose-dependent manner in a murine pro-B-cell lymphoid cell line as well as a significant reduction in xenograft tumor growth from mouse pancreatic ductal cell lines containing K-Ras^{G12D} mutations [221]. Finally, non-competitive inhibitors of ACLY are effective at inhibiting ACLY *in vitro*, with only a few examining the inhibitory effect *in vivo*, but their toxicity is problematic and there is no evidence relating to their anti-neoplastic properties [236].

4.3 SIGNIFICANCE

Breast cancer continues to be among the leading causes of cancer death in women in the United States and the identification of the molecular mechanisms of sporadic breast cancer remain largely elusive for this complex disease [1]. Breast cancer patients that express high levels of LMW-E have a poor prognosis and this dissertation identified ACLY, a cytoplasmic LMW-E binding protein, that mediates breast cancer tumorigenicity [98]. Genetic inhibition of ACLY in LMW-E expressing breast cancer cells attenuates tumor growth. Pharmacologic inhibition of ACLY in LMW-E positive breast cancer patients has the potential to be a viable treatment strategy to combat sporadic breast cancer. Moreover, inhibition of ACLY may prove to be beneficial in targeting other cancer types that display LMW-E expression such as ovarian, colorectal cancers and melanomas.

REFERENCES

- Siegel, R.L., K.D. Miller, and A. Jemal, *Cancer statistics, 2015.* CA CANCER J CLIN, 2015. 65(1): p. 5-29.
- Ellisen, L.W. and D.A. Haber, *Hereditary breast cancer*. Annu Rev Med, 1998.
 49: p. 425-36.
- Nevanlinna, H. and J. Bartek, *The CHEK2 gene and inherited breast cancer susceptibility*. Oncogene, 2006. 25(43): p. 5912-9.
- Antoniou, A.C., S. Casadei, T. Heikkinen, D. Barrowdale, K. Pylkas, J. Roberts, A. Lee, D. Subramanian, K. De Leeneer, F. Fostira, E. Tomiak, S.L. Neuhausen, Z.L. Teo, S. Khan, K. Aittomaki, J.S. Moilanen, C. Turnbull, S. Seal, A. Mannermaa, A. Kallioniemi, G.J. Lindeman, S.S. Buys, I.L. Andrulis, P. Radice, C. Tondini, S. Manoukian, A.E. Toland, P. Miron, J.N. Weitzel, S.M. Domchek, B. Poppe, K.B. Claes, D. Yannoukakos, P. Concannon, J.L. Bernstein, P.A. James, D.F. Easton, D.E. Goldgar, J.L. Hopper, N. Rahman, P. Peterlongo, H. Nevanlinna, M.C. King, F.J. Couch, M.C. Southey, R. Winqvist, W.D. Foulkes, and M. Tischkowitz, *Breast-cancer risk in families with mutations in PALB2*. N Engl J Med, 2014. **371**(6): p. 497-506.
- Ahmed, M. and N. Rahman, *ATM and breast cancer susceptibility*. Oncogene, 2006. 25(43): p. 5906-11.
- Haque, R.a.P., MF, Impact of breat cancer subtypes and treatment on survival: An analysis spanning two decades. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 2012.
 21(10): p. 1848-1855.

- Perou, C.M., T. Sorlie, M.B. Eisen, M. van de Rijn, S.S. Jeffrey, C.A. Rees, J.R. Pollack, D.T. Ross, H. Johnsen, L.A. Akslen, O. Fluge, A. Pergamenschikov, C. Williams, S.X. Zhu, P.E. Lonning, A.L. Borresen-Dale, P.O. Brown, and D. Botstein, *Molecular portraits of human breast tumours.* Nature, 2000. 406(6797): p. 747-52.
- 8. Eroles, P.a.L., Ana et al., *Molecular biology in breast cancer: Intrinsic subtypes and signaling pathways.* Cancer Treatment Reviews, 2012. **38**: p. 698-707.
- Carey, L., Perou, CM and Millikan, RC et al., *Race, breast cancer subtypes, and survival in the Carolina breast cancer study*. Journal of the American Medical Association, 2006. 295(21): p. 2492-2502.
- Sorlie T, P.C.a.T.R., et al., *Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications.* Proc. Natl Acad Sci, 2001. **98**(19): p. 10869-74.
- Prat A, a.P.C., *Deconstructing the molecular portraits of breast cancer.* Molecular Oncology, 2011. 5: p. 5-23.
- Zhang, M.a.M., SL, *Estrogen receptor positive breast cancer molecular* signatures and therapeutic potentials (*Review*). Biomedical Reports, 2013. 2: p. 41-52.
- Eroles, P., A. Bosch, J.A. Perez-Fidalgo, and A. Lluch, *Molecular biology in breast cancer: intrinsic subtypes and signaling pathways.* Cancer Treat Rev, 2012. 38(6): p. 698-707.

- Brenton, J.D., L.A. Carey, A.A. Ahmed, and C. Caldas, *Molecular classification* and molecular forecasting of breast cancer: ready for clinical application? J Clin Oncol, 2005. 23(29): p. 7350-60.
- Mauri, D.a.I., JP, Survival with aromatase inhibitors and inactivators versus standard hormonal therapy in advanced breast cancer: meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst, 2006. 98: p. 1285-1291.
- 16. Rutanen, E.a.W., T, *Insulin-like growth factor and their binding proteins in benign and malignant uterine diseases.* Growth Regul, 1993. **3**: p. 74-77.
- 17. O'Toole, S.a.S., BL, *Oestrogen regulated gene expression in normal and malignant endometrial tissue.* Maturitas, 2005. **51**: p. 187-198.
- Miller, K.a.E., AD, Phase II study of SU1248, a multitargeted tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI), in patients (pts) with previously treated metastaic breast cancer (MBC). J Clin Oncol, 2005. 23: p. 563.
- Coxon, A.a.S., D, Broad antitumor activity in breast cancer xenografts by motesanib, a highly selective, oral inhibitor of vascular endothelial growth factor, platelet-derived growth factor and Kit receptors. Clin Cancer Res, 2009. 15: p. 110-118.
- Zanotti, L., A. Bottini, C. Rossi, D. Generali, and M.R. Cappelletti, *Diagnostic tests based on gene expression profile in breast cancer: from background to clinical use.* Tumour Biol, 2014. **35**(9): p. 8461-70.
- Paik, S., G. Tang, S. Shak, C. Kim, J. Baker, W. Kim, M. Cronin, F.L. Baehner,
 D. Watson, J. Bryant, J.P. Costantino, C.E. Geyer, Jr., D.L. Wickerham, and N.
 Wolmark, *Gene expression and benefit of chemotherapy in women with node-*

negative, estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 2006. **24**(23): p. 3726-34.

- 22. Musgrove, E.A. and R.L. Sutherland, *Biological determinants of endocrine resistance in breast cancer.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2009. **9**(9): p. 631-43.
- CTSU, R.I., Effects of chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. Lancet, 2005. 365: p. 1687-1717.
- 24. Ali, S. and R.C. Coombes, *Endocrine-responsive breast cancer and strategies for combating resistance.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2002. **2**(2): p. 101-12.
- Ring, A. and M. Dowsett, *Mechanisms of tamoxifen resistance*. Endocr Relat Cancer, 2004. **11**(4): p. 643-58.
- Tran, B.a.B., PL, *Luminal-B breast cancer and novel therapeutic targets.* Breast Cancer Res, 2011. 13(6): p. 221.
- 27. Jeselsohn, R.a.H., PW, Cyclin D1 kinase activity is required for the self-renewal of mammary stem and progenitor cells that aretargets for MMTV-ErbB2 *tumorigenesis* Cancer Cell, 2010. **17**: p. 65-76.
- Salmon, D.a.M.W., Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2/neu oncogene. Science, 1987. 235: p. 177-182.
- Cadoo, K.a.M., PG, Biological subtypes of breast cancer: current concepts and implications for recurrence patterns. Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging, 2013. 57: p. 312-21.

- 30. Singh, J.a.E., FJ, *HER2-positive advanced breast cancer: optimizing patient outcomes and opportunities for drug development.* Br J Cancer, 2014. 388: p. 1-11.
- Slamon, D.a.N., L, Use of chemotherapy plus a monoclonal antibody against HER2 for metastatic breast cancer that overexpresses HER2. N Engl J Med, 2001. 344(11): p. 783-792.
- 32. Wu, A.a.S., PD, *Arming antibodies: prospects and challenges for immunoconjugates.* Nat Biotechnol, 2005. **23**: p. 1137-1146.
- Lewis-Phillips, G.a.S., MX, *Targeting HER2-positive breast cancer with trastuzumab-DM-1, an antibody-cytotoxic drug conjugate.* Cancer Res, 2008. 68: p. 9280-9290.
- Krop, I.a.B., HA, Phase I study of trastuzumab-DM-1, an HER2 antibody-drug conjugate, given 3 weeks to patients with HER2-postive metastatic breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 2010. 28: p. 2698-2704.
- Burris, H.a.O.S., JA, Phase II study of the antibody drug conjugate trastuzumab-DM-1 for the treatment of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2)positive breast cancer after prior HER2-directed therapy. J Clin Oncol, 2011. 29: p. 398-405.
- Nahta, R., D. Yu, M.C. Hung, G.N. Hortobagyi, and F.J. Esteva, *Mechanisms of disease: understanding resistance to HER2-targeted therapy in human breast cancer.* Nat Clin Pract Oncol, 2006. **3**(5): p. 269-80.

- Milani, A., D. Sangiolo, M. Aglietta, and G. Valabrega, *Recent advances in the development of breast cancer vaccines.* Breast Cancer (Dove Med Press), 2014.
 p. 159-68.
- Mittendorf, E.A., G.T. Clifton, J.P. Holmes, E. Schneble, D. van Echo, S.
 Ponniah, and G.E. Peoples, *Final report of the phase I/II clinical trial of the E75* (*nelipepimut-S*) vaccine with booster inoculations to prevent disease recurrence in high-risk breast cancer patients. Ann Oncol, 2014. 25(9): p. 1735-42.
- Cheang, M.a.N., TO, Basal-like breast cancer defined by five biomarkers has superior prognostic value than triple-negative phenotype. Clin Cancer Res, 2008. 14(5): p. 1368-76.
- Kreike, B.a.H., H, Gene expression profiling and histopathological characterization of triple-negative/basal-like breast carcinomas. Breast Cancer Res, 2007. 9(5): p. R65.
- 41. Nielsen, T.O.a.J., K., *Immunohistochemical and clinical characterization of the basal-like subtype of invasive breast carcinoma.* Clin Cancer Res, 2004. **10**(16):
 p. 5367-74.
- Lehmann, B.D., J.A. Bauer, X. Chen, M.E. Sanders, A.B. Chakravarthy, Y. Shyr, and J.A. Pietenpol, *Identification of human triple-negative breast cancer subtypes and preclinical models for selection of targeted therapies.* J Clin Invest, 2011. **121**(7): p. 2750-67.
- G. Hilsenbeck; Jenny C. Chang; Gordon B. Mills; Ching C. Lau; Powel H. Brown,
 M.D.B.A.T.G.M.P.K.R.C.A.C.S.A.W.F.M.I.S.C.K.O.S., *Comprehensive Genomic*

Analysis Identifies Novel Subtypes and Targets of Triple-negative Breast Cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 2014.

- Bosch, A.a.L., A., *Triple-negative breast cancer: molecular features,* pathogenesis, treatment and current lines of research. Cancer Treatment Reviews, 2010. 36(3): p. 206-15.
- 45. Reddy, K., *Triple-negative breast cancers: an updated review on treatment options*. Curr Oncol, 2011. **18**(4): p. e173-e179.
- 46. Rouzier, R.a.S., WF, *Breast cancer molecular subtypes respond differently to preoperative chemotherapy.* Clin Cancer Res, 2005. **11**(16): p. 5678-85.
- 47. Dent, R.a.P., KL, *Triple-negative breast cancer: clinical features and patterns of recurrence.* Clin Cancer Res, 2007. **13**(15): p. 4429-34.
- 48. Fong, P.a.Y., TA, *Inhibition of poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase in tumors from BRCA mutation carriers.* N Engl J Med, 2009. **361**(2): p. 123-34.
- Baselga, J., P. Gomez, R. Greil, S. Braga, M.A. Climent, A.M. Wardley, B. Kaufman, S.M. Stemmer, A. Pego, A. Chan, J.C. Goeminne, M.P. Graas, M.J. Kennedy, E.M. Ciruelos Gil, A. Schneeweiss, A. Zubel, J. Groos, H. Melezinkova, and A. Awada, *Randomized phase II study of the anti-epidermal growth factor receptor monoclonal antibody cetuximab with cisplatin versus cisplatin alone in patients with metastatic triple-negative breast cancer.* J Clin Oncol, 2013. **31**(20): p. 2586-92.
- Corkery, B., J. Crown, M. Clynes, and N. O'Donovan, *Epidermal growth factor* receptor as a potential therapeutic target in triple-negative breast cancer. Ann Oncol, 2009. 20(5): p. 862-7.

- 51. Crown, J., J. O'Shaughnessy, and G. Gullo, *Emerging targeted therapies in triple-negative breast cancer.* Ann Oncol, 2012. **23 Suppl 6**: p. vi56-65.
- Yehiely, F., J.V. Moyano, J.R. Evans, T.O. Nielsen, and V.L. Cryns, Deconstructing the molecular portrait of basal-like breast cancer. Trends Mol Med, 2006. 12(11): p. 537-44.
- Parker, J.a.M., M, Supervised risk predictor of breast cancer based on intrinsic subtypes. J Clin Oncol, 2009. 27(8): p. 1160-1167.
- 54. Prat, A.a.K., O., *Phenotypic and molecular characterization of the claudin-low intrinsic subtype of breast cancer.* Breast Cancer Res, 2010. **12**(5): p. R68.
- Li, X., M.T. Lewis, J. Huang, C. Gutierrez, C.K. Osborne, M.F. Wu, S.G. Hilsenbeck, A. Pavlick, X. Zhang, G.C. Chamness, H. Wong, J. Rosen, and J.C. Chang, *Intrinsic resistance of tumorigenic breast cancer cells to chemotherapy.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 2008. **100**(9): p. 672-9.
- Collins, K., T. Jacks, and N.P. Pavletich, *The cell cycle and cancer*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1997. **94**(7): p. 2776-8.
- 57. Johnson, D.G. and C.L. Walker, *Cyclins and cell cycle checkpoints.* Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol, 1999. **39**: p. 295-312.
- Coller, H.A., L. Sang, and J.M. Roberts, *A new description of cellular quiescence*. PLoS Biol, 2006. **4**(3): p. e83.
- 59. Oki, T., K. Nishimura, J. Kitaura, K. Togami, A. Maehara, K. Izawa, A. Sakaue-Sawano, A. Niida, S. Miyano, H. Aburatani, H. Kiyonari, A. Miyawaki, and T. Kitamura, A novel cell-cycle-indicator, mVenus-p27K-, identifies quiescent cells and visualizes G0-G1 transition. Sci Rep, 2014. 4: p. 4012.

- Vermeulen, K., D.R. Van Bockstaele, and Z.N. Berneman, *The cell cycle: a* review of regulation, deregulation and therapeutic targets in cancer. Cell Prolif, 2003. 36(3): p. 131-49.
- Bardin, A.J. and A. Amon, *Men and sin: what's the difference?* Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2001. 2(11): p. 815-26.
- Malumbres, M. and M. Barbacid, *Mammalian cyclin-dependent kinases*. Trends
 Biochem Sci, 2005. **30**(11): p. 630-41.
- Malumbres, M. and M. Barbacid, *Cell cycle, CDKs and cancer: a changing paradigm.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2009. 9(3): p. 153-66.
- 64. Sherr, C.J. and J.M. Roberts, *Living with or without cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinases.* Genes Dev, 2004. **18**(22): p. 2699-711.
- 65. Schafer, K.A., *The cell cycle: a review.* Vet Pathol, 1998. **35**(6): p. 461-78.
- Kalaszczynska, I., Y. Geng, T. Iino, S. Mizuno, Y. Choi, I. Kondratiuk, D.P. Silver, D.J. Wolgemuth, K. Akashi, and P. Sicinski, *Cyclin A is redundant in fibroblasts but essential in hematopoietic and embryonic stem cells.* Cell, 2009.
 138(2): p. 352-65.
- Brandeis, M., I. Rosewell, M. Carrington, T. Crompton, M.A. Jacobs, J. Kirk, J. Gannon, and T. Hunt, *Cyclin B2-null mice develop normally and are fertile whereas cyclin B1-null mice die in utero.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1998. **95**(8): p. 4344-9.
- Yang, J., E.S. Bardes, J.D. Moore, J. Brennan, M.A. Powers, and S. Kornbluth, Control of cyclin B1 localization through regulated binding of the nuclear export factor CRM1. Genes Dev, 1998. 12(14): p. 2131-43.

- 69. Hunter, T. and J. Pines, *Cyclins and cancer. II: Cyclin D and CDK inhibitors come of age*. Cell, 1994. **79**(4): p. 573-82.
- Sancar, A., L.A. Lindsey-Boltz, K. Unsal-Kacmaz, and S. Linn, *Molecular mechanisms of mammalian DNA repair and the DNA damage checkpoints.* Annu Rev Biochem, 2004. **73**: p. 39-85.
- 71. Bartek, J., C. Lukas, and J. Lukas, *Checking on DNA damage in S phase.* Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2004. **5**(10): p. 792-804.
- Hanahan, D. and R.A. Weinberg, *The hallmarks of cancer*. Cell, 2000. **100**(1): p. 57-70.
- 73. Weinberg, R., *In Retrospect: The chromosome trail.* Nature, 2008. **453**(725): p. 725.
- Knudson, A.G., Jr., *Mutation and cancer: statistical study of retinoblastoma.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1971. 68(4): p. 820-3.
- Malumbres, M. and M. Barbacid, *To cycle or not to cycle: a critical decision in cancer.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2001. 1(3): p. 222-31.
- Arnold, A., T. Motokura, T. Bloom, C. Rosenberg, A. Bale, H. Kronenberg, J. Ruderman, M. Brown, and H.G. Kim, *PRAD1 (cyclin D1): a parathyroid neoplasia gene on 11q13.* Henry Ford Hosp Med J, 1992. 40(3-4): p. 177-80.
- Wang, T.C., R.D. Cardiff, L. Zukerberg, E. Lees, A. Arnold, and E.V. Schmidt, Mammary hyperplasia and carcinoma in MMTV-cyclin D1 transgenic mice.
 Nature, 1994. 369(6482): p. 669-71.

- 78. Easton, J., T. Wei, J.M. Lahti, and V.J. Kidd, Disruption of the cyclin D/cyclindependent kinase/INK4/retinoblastoma protein regulatory pathway in human neuroblastoma. Cancer Res, 1998. 58(12): p. 2624-32.
- 79. Lew, D.J., V. Dulic, and S.I. Reed, *Isolation of three novel human cyclins by rescue of G1 cyclin (Cln) function in yeast.* Cell, 1991. **66**(6): p. 1197-206.
- Geng, Y., Q. Yu, W. Whoriskey, F. Dick, K.Y. Tsai, H.L. Ford, D.K. Biswas, A.B. Pardee, B. Amati, T. Jacks, A. Richardson, N. Dyson, and P. Sicinski, *Expression of cyclins E1 and E2 during mouse development and in neoplasia.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2001. **98**(23): p. 13138-43.
- 81. Hwang, H.C. and B.E. Clurman, *Cyclin E in normal and neoplastic cell cycles*.Oncogene, 2005. **24**(17): p. 2776-86.
- Moroy, T. and C. Geisen, *Cyclin E.* Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 2004. **36**(8): p. 1424-39.
- Lukas, J., T. Herzinger, K. Hansen, M.C. Moroni, D. Resnitzky, K. Helin, S.I. Reed, and J. Bartek, *Cyclin E-induced S phase without activation of the pRb/E2F pathway.* Genes Dev, 1997. **11**(11): p. 1479-92.
- Botrugno, O.A., E. Fayard, J.S. Annicotte, C. Haby, T. Brennan, O. Wendling, T. Tanaka, T. Kodama, W. Thomas, J. Auwerx, and K. Schoonjans, *Synergy between LRH-1 and beta-catenin induces G1 cyclin-mediated cell proliferation.*Mol Cell, 2004. **15**(4): p. 499-509.
- Koepp, D.M., L.K. Schaefer, X. Ye, K. Keyomarsi, C. Chu, J.W. Harper, and S.J. Elledge, *Phosphorylation-dependent ubiquitination of cyclin E by the SCFFbw7 ubiquitin ligase*. Science, 2001. **294**(5540): p. 173-7.

- 86. Carrano, A.C., E. Eytan, A. Hershko, and M. Pagano, *SKP2 is required for ubiquitin-mediated degradation of the CDK inhibitor p27.* Nat Cell Biol, 1999.
 1(4): p. 193-9.
- 87. Siu, K.T., M.R. Rosner, and A.C. Minella, *An integrated view of cyclin E function and regulation.* Cell Cycle, 2012. **11**(1): p. 57-64.
- Geng, Y., Q. Yu, E. Sicinska, M. Das, J.E. Schneider, S. Bhattacharya, W.M. Rideout, R.T. Bronson, H. Gardner, and P. Sicinski, *Cyclin E ablation in the mouse*. Cell, 2003. **114**(4): p. 431-43.
- Haas, K., C. Johannes, C. Geisen, T. Schmidt, H. Karsunky, S. Blass-Kampmann, G. Obe, and T. Moroy, *Malignant transformation by cyclin E and Ha-Ras correlates with lower sensitivity towards induction of cell death but requires functional Myc and CDK4*. Oncogene, 1997. **15**(21): p. 2615-23.
- Bortner, D.M. and M.P. Rosenberg, *Induction of mammary gland hyperplasia* and carcinomas in transgenic mice expressing human cyclin E. Mol Cell Biol, 1997. **17**(1): p. 453-9.
- Buckley, M.F., K.J. Sweeney, J.A. Hamilton, R.L. Sini, D.L. Manning, R.I. Nicholson, A. deFazio, C.K. Watts, E.A. Musgrove, and R.L. Sutherland, *Expression and amplification of cyclin genes in human breast cancer.* Oncogene, 1993. 8(8): p. 2127-33.
- 92. Keyomarsi, K. and A.B. Pardee, *Redundant cyclin overexpression and gene amplification in breast cancer cells.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1993. **90**(3): p. 1112-6.

- 93. Donnellan, R., I. Kleinschmidt, and R. Chetty, Cyclin E immunoexpression in breast ductal carcinoma: pathologic correlations and prognostic implications.
 Hum Pathol, 2001. 32(1): p. 89-94.
- 94. Dutta, A., R. Chandra, L.M. Leiter, and S. Lester, *Cyclins as markers of tumor proliferation: immunocytochemical studies in breast cancer.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1995. **92**(12): p. 5386-90.
- Keyomarsi, K., N. O'Leary, G. Molnar, E. Lees, H.J. Fingert, and A.B. Pardee, *Cyclin E, a potential prognostic marker for breast cancer.* Cancer Res, 1994.
 54(2): p. 380-5.
- 96. Porter, P.L., M.J. Lund, M.G. Lin, X. Yuan, J.M. Liff, E.W. Flagg, R.J. Coates, and J.W. Eley, *Racial differences in the expression of cell cycle-regulatory proteins in breast carcinoma.* Cancer, 2004. **100**(12): p. 2533-42.
- 97. Porter, P.L., K.E. Malone, P.J. Heagerty, G.M. Alexander, L.A. Gatti, E.J. Firpo, J.R. Daling, and J.M. Roberts, *Expression of cell-cycle regulators p27Kip1 and cyclin E, alone and in combination, correlate with survival in young breast cancer patients.* Nat Med, 1997. 3(2): p. 222-5.
- Keyomarsi, K., S.L. Tucker, T.A. Buchholz, M. Callister, Y. Ding, G.N. Hortobagyi, I. Bedrosian, C. Knickerbocker, W. Toyofuku, M. Lowe, T.W. Herliczek, and S.S. Bacus, *Cyclin E and survival in patients with breast cancer.* N Engl J Med, 2002. **347**(20): p. 1566-75.
- Spruck, C.H., K.A. Won, and S.I. Reed, *Deregulated cyclin E induces* chromosome instability. Nature, 1999. 401(6750): p. 297-300.
- 100. Hinchcliffe, E.H., C. Li, E.A. Thompson, J.L. Maller, and G. Sluder, *Requirement of Cdk2-cyclin E activity for repeated centrosome reproduction in Xenopus egg extracts.* Science, 1999. **283**(5403): p. 851-4.
- 101. Okuda, M., H.F. Horn, P. Tarapore, Y. Tokuyama, A.G. Smulian, P.K. Chan,
 E.S. Knudsen, I.A. Hofmann, J.D. Snyder, K.E. Bove, and K. Fukasawa, *Nucleophosmin/B23 is a target of CDK2/cyclin E in centrosome duplication.* Cell,
 2000. **103**(1): p. 127-40.
- Saavedra, H.I., B. Maiti, C. Timmers, R. Altura, Y. Tokuyama, K. Fukasawa, and
 G. Leone, *Inactivation of E2F3 results in centrosome amplification*. Cancer Cell, 2003. 3(4): p. 333-46.
- 103. Kawamura, K., H. Izumi, Z. Ma, R. Ikeda, M. Moriyama, T. Tanaka, T. Nojima, L.S. Levin, K. Fujikawa-Yamamoto, K. Suzuki, and K. Fukasawa, *Induction of centrosome amplification and chromosome instability in human bladder cancer cells by p53 mutation and cyclin E overexpression.* Cancer Res, 2004. **64**(14): p. 4800-9.
- 104. Porter, D.C., *Tumor-specific proteolytic processing of cyclin E generates hyperactive lower-molecular-weight forms.* Mol Cell Biol, 2001. **21**: p. 6254-69.
- 105. Mull, B.B., J. Cox, T. Bui, and K. Keyomarsi, *Post-translational modification and stability of low molecular weight cyclin E.* Oncogene, 2009. **28**(35): p. 3167-76.
- 106. Bedrosian, I., *Cyclin E deregulation alters the biologic properties of ovarian cancer cells.* Oncogene, 2004. **23**: p. 2648-57.

- Corin, I., Tumor-specific hyperactive low-molecular weight cyclin E isoforms detection and characterization in non-metastatic colorectal tumors. Cancer Biol Ther, 2006. 5.
- Bales, E., The low molecular weight cyclin E isoformsaugment angiogenesis and metastasis of human melanoma cells in vivo. Cancer Research, 2005. 65: p. 692-7.
- 109. Wingate, H., A. Puskas, M. Duong, T. Bui, D. Richardson, Y. Liu, S.L. Tucker, C. Van Pelt, L. Meijer, K. Hunt, and K. Keyomarsi, *Low molecular weight cyclin E is specific in breast cancer and is associated with mechanisms of tumor progression.* Cell Cycle, 2009. **8**(7): p. 1062-8.
- 110. Akli, S., Overexpression of the low molecular weight cyclin E in transgenic mice induces metastatic mammary carcinomas through the disruption of the ARF-p53 pathway. Cancer Research, 2007. **67**: p. 7212-22.
- 111. Duong, M.T., S. Akli, C. Wei, H.F. Wingate, W. Liu, Y. Lu, M. Yi, G.B. Mills, K.K. Hunt, and K. Keyomarsi, *LMW-E/CDK2 deregulates acinar morphogenesis, induces tumorigenesis, and associates with the activated b-Raf-ERK1/2-mTOR pathway in breast cancer patients.* PLoS Genet, 2012. **8**(3): p. e1002538.
- 112. Wingate, H., I. Bedrosian, S. Akli, and K. Keyomarsi, *The low molecular weight* (*LMW*) isoforms of cyclin E deregulate the cell cycle of mammary epithelial cells.
 Cell Cycle, 2003. 2: p. 461-6.
- 113. Akli, S., P. Zhang, A. Multani, H. Wingate, S. Pathak, N. Zhang, S. Tucker, S. Chang, and K. Keyomarsi, *Tumor-specific low molecular weight forms of cyclin E*

induce genomic instability and resistance to p21, p27 and antiestrogens in breast cancer. Cancer Research, 2004. **64**: p. 3198-208.

- 114. Wingate, H., *The tumor-specific hyperactive forms of cyclin E are resistant to inhibition by p21 and p27.* J Biol Chem, 2005. **280**: p. 15148-57.
- 115. Bagheri-Yarmand, R., A. Biernacka, K.K. Hunt, and K. Keyomarsi, Low molecular weight cyclin E overexpression shortens mitosis, leading to chromosome missegregation and centrosome amplification. Cancer Res, 2010. 70(12): p. 5074-84.
- 116. Bagheri-Yarmand, R., A. Nanos-Webb, A. Biernacka, T. Bui, and K. Keyomarsi, Cyclin E deregulation impairs mitotic progression through premature activation of Cdc25C. Cancer Res, 2010. **70**(12): p. 5085-95.
- 117. Duong, M.T., S. Akli, S. Macalou, A. Biernacka, B.G. Debeb, M. Yi, K.K. Hunt, and K. Keyomarsi, *Hbo1 is a cyclin E/CDK2 substrate that enriches breast cancer stem-like cells*. Cancer Res, 2013. **73**(17): p. 5556-68.
- 118. Moore, J.D., J. Yang, R. Truant, and S. Kornbluth, Nuclear import of Cdk/cyclin complexes: identification of distinct mechanisms for import of Cdk2/cyclin E and Cdc2/cyclin B1. J Cell Biol, 1999. **144**(2): p. 213-24.
- 119. Delk, N., K. Hunt, and K. Keyomarsi, Altered subcellular localization of tumor specific cyclin E isoforms affects Cdk2 complex formation and proteosomal regulation. Cancer Research, 2009. 69: p. 2817-25.
- 120. de Hoog, C.L. and M. Mann, *Proteomics.* Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet, 2004. 5: p. 267-93.

- 121. Abu-Farha, M.a.F., D., *Identification of protein-protein interactions by mass* spectrometry coupled techniques. Adv Biochem Engin/Biotechnol, 2008. **110**: p. 67-80.
- Lalonde, S., D.W. Ehrhardt, D. Loque, J. Chen, S.Y. Rhee, and W.B. Frommer, Molecular and cellular approaches for the detection of protein-protein interactions: latest techniques and current limitations. Plant J, 2008. 53(4): p. 610-35.
- 123. Miernyk, J.A. and J.J. Thelen, *Biochemical approaches for discovering proteinprotein interactions*. Plant J, 2008. **53**(4): p. 597-609.
- 124. Lin, D., D.L. Tabb, and J.R. Yates, 3rd, *Large-scale protein identification using mass spectrometry*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2003. **1646**(1-2): p. 1-10.
- 125. Ding, Z., J. Liang, Y. Lu, Q. Yu, Z. Songyang, S.Y. Lin, and G.B. Mills, A retrovirus-based protein complementation assay screen reveals functional AKT1-binding partners. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006. **103**(41): p. 15014-9.
- Fields, S. and O. Song, A novel genetic system to detect protein-protein interactions. Nature, 1989. 340(6230): p. 245-6.
- 127. Ngounou Wetie, A.a.D., CC, Protein-protein interactions: switch from classical methods to proteomics and bioinformatics-based approaches. Cell. Mol. Life Sci., 2013. 2014(71): p. 205-228.
- 128. Wodak, S.J., J. Vlasblom, A.L. Turinsky, and S. Pu, *Protein-protein interaction networks: the puzzling riches.* Curr Opin Struct Biol, 2013. **23**(6): p. 941-53.
- 129. Uetz, P., L. Giot, G. Cagney, T.A. Mansfield, R.S. Judson, J.R. Knight, D. Lockshon, V. Narayan, M. Srinivasan, P. Pochart, A. Qureshi-Emili, Y. Li, B.

Godwin, D. Conover, T. Kalbfleisch, G. Vijayadamodar, M. Yang, M. Johnston, S. Fields, and J.M. Rothberg, *A comprehensive analysis of protein-protein interactions in Saccharomyces cerevisiae.* Nature, 2000. **403**(6770): p. 623-7.

- Hamdi A, C.P., Yeast two-hybrid methods and their applications in drug discovery. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2012. 33(2): p. 109-118.
- Johnsson, N. and A. Varshavsky, Split ubiquitin as a sensor of protein interactions in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1994. 91(22): p. 10340-4.
- Ousingsawat, J., P. Wanitchakool, R. Schreiber, M. Wuelling, A. Vortkamp, and K. Kunzelmann, *Anoctamin 6 controls bone mineralization by activating the calcium transporter NCX1.* J Biol Chem, 2015.
- 133. Jares-Erijman, E.A. and T.M. Jovin, *FRET imaging*. Nat Biotechnol, 2003.**21**(11): p. 1387-95.
- Buchner, A., P. Krumova, S. Ganesan, M. Bahr, K. Eckermann, and J.H.
 Weishaupt, *Sumoylation of p35 Modulates p35/Cyclin-Dependent Kinase (Cdk) 5 Complex Activity.* Neuromolecular Med, 2014.
- 135. Kodama, Y.a.H., CD, *Bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC): A 5year update and future perspectives.* BioTechniques, 2012. **53**(5): p. 285-298.
- Liu, D.a.S., Z., Genetic screens in mammalian cells by enhanced retroviral mutagens. Oncogene, 2000. 19: p. 5964-5972.
- 137. Bagheri-Yarmand, R., *Cyclin E deregulation impairs mitotic progression through premature activation of Cdc25C.* Cancer Res, 2010. **70**: p. 5085-5095.

- Grzybowska, E.A., Human intronless genes: functional groups, associated diseases, evolution, and mRNA processing in absence of splicing. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2012. 424(1): p. 1-6.
- Nanos-Webb, A., *Targeting low molecular weight cyclin E (LMW-E) in breast cancer.* Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2012. **132**: p. 575-588.
- 140. Morrison, D., *The 14-3-3 proteins: integrators of diverse signaling cues that impact cell fate and cancer development.* Trends Cell Biol., 2009. **19**: p. 16-23.
- 141. Jego, G.a.G., C, *Targeting heat shock proteins in cancer*. Cancer Lett., 2013.332: p. 275-85.
- 142. Whitesell, L. and S.L. Lindquist, *HSP90 and the chaperoning of cancer*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2005. **5**(10): p. 761-72.
- 143. Wong, S.H., T. Zhang, Y. Xu, V.N. Subramaniam, G. Griffiths, and W. Hong, Endobrevin, a novel synaptobrevin/VAMP-like protein preferentially associated with the early endosome. Mol Biol Cell, 1998. **9**(6): p. 1549-63.
- 144. Richardson, B.C., R.D. Smith, D. Ungar, A. Nakamura, P.D. Jeffrey, V.V. Lupashin, and F.M. Hughson, *Structural basis for a human glycosylation disorder caused by mutation of the COG4 gene.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2009. **106**(32): p. 13329-34.
- 145. Wang, S.a.X., S, *RPL41, a small ribosomal peptide deregulated in tumors, is essential for mitosis and centrosome integrity.* Neoplasia, 2010. **12**(3): p. 284-93.

- 146. Hayashi, N., N. Yokoyama, T. Seki, Y. Azuma, T. Ohba, and T. Nishimoto, *RanBP1, a Ras-like nuclear G protein binding to Ran/TC4, inhibits RCC1 via Ran/TC4.* Mol Gen Genet, 1995. **247**(6): p. 661-9.
- 147. Smith, M.D., Y. Gu, J. Querol-Audi, J.M. Vogan, A. Nitido, and J.H. Cate, *Human-like eukaryotic translation initiation factor 3 from Neurospora crassa.* PLoS One, 2013. 8(11): p. e78715.
- 148. Moon, Y.A. and J.D. Horton, *Identification of two mammalian reductases involved in the two-carbon fatty acyl elongation cascade.* J Biol Chem, 2003.
 278(9): p. 7335-43.
- 149. Dalby, A., Z. Dauter, and J.A. Littlechild, *Crystal structure of human muscle aldolase complexed with fructose 1,6-bisphosphate: mechanistic implications.* Protein Sci, 1999. 8(2): p. 291-7.
- Chypre, M.a.S.K., ATP-citrate lyase: a mini review. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2012. 422(1): p. 1-4.
- 151. Menendez, J.A., *Fatty acid synthase and the lipogenic phenotype in cancer pathogenesis.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2007. **7**(10): p. 763-77.
- 152. Szutowicz, A., J. Kwiatkowski, and S. Angielski, *Lipogenic and glycolytic enzyme activities in carcinoma and nonmalignant diseases of the human breast.* Br J Cancer, 1979. **39**(6): p. 681-7.
- 153. Migita, T., T. Narita, K. Nomura, E. Miyagi, F. Inazuka, M. Matsuura, M. Ushijima, T. Mashima, H. Seimiya, Y. Satoh, S. Okumura, K. Nakagawa, and Y. Ishikawa, *ATP citrate lyase: activation and therapeutic implications in non-small cell lung cancer.* Cancer Res, 2008. **68**(20): p. 8547-54.

- 154. Beckner, M., *Identification of ATP citrate lyase as a positive regulator of glycolytic function in glioblastomas.* Int J Cancer, 2010. **126**(10): p. 2282-95.
- 155. Hatzivassiliou, G., *ATP citrate lyase inhibition can suppress tumor growth.*Cancer Cell, 2005. 8(4): p. 311-21.
- 156. Potapova, I.a.B., WB, Phosphorylation of recombinant human ATP:citrate lyase by cAMP-dependent protein abolishes homotropic allosteric regulation of the enzyme by citrate and increases the enzyme activity. Allosteric activation of ATP:citrate lyase by phosphorylated sugars. Biochemistry, 2000. **39**(5): p. 1169-1179.
- 157. Wagner, P.a.V., ND, *Phosphorylation of ATP-citrate lyase by nucleoside diphosphate kinase.* J Biol Chem, 1995. **270**(37): p. 21758-21764.
- 158. Berwick, D.a.T., JM, *The identification of ATP-citrate lyase as a protein kinase B* (*Akt*) substrate in primary adipocytes. J Biol Chem, 2002. **277**: p. 33895-33900.
- 159. Sanchez, L.a.M., M, Acetyl-CoA Synthetase from the Amitochondriate EukaryoteGiardia lamblia Belongs to the Newly Recognized Superfamily of Acyl-CoA Synthetases (Nucleoside Diphosphate-forming). J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(8): p. 5794-5803.
- Sun, T.a.F., ME, Identification of the citrate binding site of human ATP-citrate lyase using X-ray crystallography. J. Biol. Chem, 2010. 285(35): p. 27418-27428.
- Wolodko, W.T., M.E. Fraser, M.N. James, and W.A. Bridger, *The crystal structure of succinyl-CoA synthetase from Escherichia coli at 2.5-A resolution.* J Biol Chem, 1994. **269**(14): p. 10883-90.

- 162. Hanahan, D. and R.A. Weinberg, *Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation*. Cell, 2011. **144**(5): p. 646-74.
- 163. Warburg, O., On the origin of cancer cells. Science, 1956. 123(3191): p. 309-14.
- 164. Jones, R.G. and C.B. Thompson, *Tumor suppressors and cell metabolism: a recipe for cancer growth.* Genes Dev, 2009. **23**(5): p. 537-48.
- 165. Cairns, R.A., I.S. Harris, and T.W. Mak, *Regulation of cancer cell metabolism*.Nat Rev Cancer, 2011. **11**(2): p. 85-95.
- 166. DeBerardinis, R.J., J.J. Lum, G. Hatzivassiliou, and C.B. Thompson, *The biology of cancer: metabolic reprogramming fuels cell growth and proliferation.* Cell Metab, 2008. **7**(1): p. 11-20.
- 167. Hsu, P.P. and D.M. Sabatini, *Cancer cell metabolism: Warburg and beyond.*Cell, 2008. **134**(5): p. 703-7.
- Vivanco, I. and C.L. Sawyers, *The phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase AKT pathway in human cancer*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2002. 2(7): p. 489-501.
- 169. Elstrom, R.L., D.E. Bauer, M. Buzzai, R. Karnauskas, M.H. Harris, D.R. Plas, H. Zhuang, R.M. Cinalli, A. Alavi, C.M. Rudin, and C.B. Thompson, *Akt stimulates aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells.* Cancer Res, 2004. **64**(11): p. 3892-9.
- Khatri, S., H. Yepiskoposyan, C.A. Gallo, P. Tandon, and D.R. Plas, *FOXO3a* regulates glycolysis via transcriptional control of tumor suppressor TSC1. J Biol Chem, 2010. 285(21): p. 15960-5.
- 171. Guertin, D.A. and D.M. Sabatini, *Defining the role of mTOR in cancer*. CancerCell, 2007. **12**(1): p. 9-22.

- 172. Kuhajda, F.P., *AMP-activated protein kinase and human cancer: cancer metabolism revisited.* Int J Obes (Lond), 2008. **32 Suppl 4**: p. S36-41.
- 173. Shackelford, D.B. and R.J. Shaw, *The LKB1-AMPK pathway: metabolism and growth control in tumour suppression.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2009. **9**(8): p. 563-75.
- Wingo, S.N., T.D. Gallardo, E.A. Akbay, M.C. Liang, C.M. Contreras, T. Boren,
 T. Shimamura, D.S. Miller, N.E. Sharpless, N. Bardeesy, D.J. Kwiatkowski, J.O.
 Schorge, K.K. Wong, and D.H. Castrillon, *Somatic LKB1 mutations promote cervical cancer progression*. PLoS One, 2009. 4(4): p. e5137.
- Ji, H., M.R. Ramsey, D.N. Hayes, C. Fan, K. McNamara, P. Kozlowski, C. Torrice, M.C. Wu, T. Shimamura, S.A. Perera, M.C. Liang, D. Cai, G.N. Naumov, L. Bao, C.M. Contreras, D. Li, L. Chen, J. Krishnamurthy, J. Koivunen, L.R. Chirieac, R.F. Padera, R.T. Bronson, N.I. Lindeman, D.C. Christiani, X. Lin, G.I. Shapiro, P.A. Janne, B.E. Johnson, M. Meyerson, D.J. Kwiatkowski, D.H. Castrillon, N. Bardeesy, N.E. Sharpless, and K.K. Wong, *LKB1 modulates lung cancer differentiation and metastasis*. Nature, 2007. 448(7155): p. 807-10.
- 176. O'Rourke, J.F., C.W. Pugh, S.M. Bartlett, and P.J. Ratcliffe, *Identification of hypoxically inducible mRNAs in HeLa cells using differential-display PCR. Role of hypoxia-inducible factor-1.* Eur J Biochem, 1996. **241**(2): p. 403-10.
- 177. Gatenby, R.A. and R.J. Gillies, *Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis?*Nat Rev Cancer, 2004. 4(11): p. 891-9.
- 178. Robey, I.F., A.D. Lien, S.J. Welsh, B.K. Baggett, and R.J. Gillies, *Hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha and the glycolytic phenotype in tumors.* Neoplasia, 2005.
 7(4): p. 324-30.

- Mathupala, S.P., C. Heese, and P.L. Pedersen, *Glucose catabolism in cancer cells. The type II hexokinase promoter contains functionally active response elements for the tumor suppressor p53.* J Biol Chem, 1997. **272**(36): p. 22776-80.
- Bensaad, K., A. Tsuruta, M.A. Selak, M.N. Vidal, K. Nakano, R. Bartrons, E. Gottlieb, and K.H. Vousden, *TIGAR, a p53-inducible regulator of glycolysis and apoptosis.* Cell, 2006. **126**(1): p. 107-20.
- 181. Stambolic, V., D. MacPherson, D. Sas, Y. Lin, B. Snow, Y. Jang, S. Benchimol, and T.W. Mak, *Regulation of PTEN transcription by p53*. Mol Cell, 2001. 8(2): p. 317-25.
- 182. Lincet, H. and P. Icard, *How do glycolytic enzymes favour cancer cell proliferation by nonmetabolic functions?* Oncogene, 2014. **0**.
- Mazurek, S., C.B. Boschek, F. Hugo, and E. Eigenbrodt, *Pyruvate kinase type M2 and its role in tumor growth and spreading*. Semin Cancer Biol, 2005. **15**(4): p. 300-8.
- 184. Christofk, H.R., M.G. Vander Heiden, M.H. Harris, A. Ramanathan, R.E. Gerszten, R. Wei, M.D. Fleming, S.L. Schreiber, and L.C. Cantley, *The M2 splice isoform of pyruvate kinase is important for cancer metabolism and tumour growth*. Nature, 2008. **452**(7184): p. 230-3.
- 185. Wong, N., D. Ojo, J. Yan, and D. Tang, *PKM2 contributes to cancer metabolism.* Cancer Lett, 2015. **356**(2 Pt A): p. 184-91.

- 186. David, C.J., M. Chen, M. Assanah, P. Canoll, and J.L. Manley, *HnRNP proteins controlled by c-Myc deregulate pyruvate kinase mRNA splicing in cancer.* Nature, 2010. **463**(7279): p. 364-8.
- 187. Christofk, H.R., M.G. Vander Heiden, N. Wu, J.M. Asara, and L.C. Cantley, *Pyruvate kinase M2 is a phosphotyrosine-binding protein.* Nature, 2008.
 452(7184): p. 181-6.
- Yang, W., Y. Zheng, Y. Xia, H. Ji, X. Chen, F. Guo, C.A. Lyssiotis, K. Aldape,
 L.C. Cantley, and Z. Lu, *ERK1/2-dependent phosphorylation and nuclear translocation of PKM2 promotes the Warburg effect.* Nat Cell Biol, 2012. **14**(12):
 p. 1295-304.
- 189. Yang, W. and Z. Lu, *Regulation and function of pyruvate kinase M2 in cancer*.Cancer Lett, 2013. **339**(2): p. 153-8.
- Parsons, D.W., S. Jones, X. Zhang, J.C. Lin, R.J. Leary, P. Angenendt, P. Mankoo, H. Carter, I.M. Siu, G.L. Gallia, A. Olivi, R. McLendon, B.A. Rasheed, S. Keir, T. Nikolskaya, Y. Nikolsky, D.A. Busam, H. Tekleab, L.A. Diaz, Jr., J. Hartigan, D.R. Smith, R.L. Strausberg, S.K. Marie, S.M. Shinjo, H. Yan, G.J. Riggins, D.D. Bigner, R. Karchin, N. Papadopoulos, G. Parmigiani, B. Vogelstein, V.E. Velculescu, and K.W. Kinzler, *An integrated genomic analysis* of human glioblastoma multiforme. Science, 2008. **321**(5897): p. 1807-12.
- 191. Dang, L., D.W. White, S. Gross, B.D. Bennett, M.A. Bittinger, E.M. Driggers,
 V.R. Fantin, H.G. Jang, S. Jin, M.C. Keenan, K.M. Marks, R.M. Prins, P.S.
 Ward, K.E. Yen, L.M. Liau, J.D. Rabinowitz, L.C. Cantley, C.B. Thompson, M.G.

Vander Heiden, and S.M. Su, *Cancer-associated IDH1 mutations produce 2hydroxyglutarate.* Nature, 2009. **462**(7274): p. 739-44.

- 192. Ward, P.S. and C.B. Thompson, *Metabolic reprogramming: a cancer hallmark* even warburg did not anticipate. Cancer Cell, 2012. **21**(3): p. 297-308.
- 193. Tennant, D.A., R.V. Duran, and E. Gottlieb, *Targeting metabolic transformation for cancer therapy*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2010. **10**(4): p. 267-77.
- 194. Farber, S. and L.K. Diamond, *Temporary remissions in acute leukemia in children produced by folic acid antagonist, 4-aminopteroyl-glutamic acid.* N Engl J Med, 1948. **238**(23): p. 787-93.
- 195. Engelman, J.A., L. Chen, X. Tan, K. Crosby, A.R. Guimaraes, R. Upadhyay, M. Maira, K. McNamara, S.A. Perera, Y. Song, L.R. Chirieac, R. Kaur, A. Lightbown, J. Simendinger, T. Li, R.F. Padera, C. Garcia-Echeverria, R. Weissleder, U. Mahmood, L.C. Cantley, and K.K. Wong, *Effective use of PI3K and MEK inhibitors to treat mutant Kras G12D and PIK3CA H1047R murine lung cancers*. Nat Med, 2008. **14**(12): p. 1351-6.
- 196. Libby, G., L.A. Donnelly, P.T. Donnan, D.R. Alessi, A.D. Morris, and J.M. Evans, New users of metformin are at low risk of incident cancer: a cohort study among people with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care, 2009. **32**(9): p. 1620-5.
- 197. Anisimov, V.N., L.M. Berstein, P.A. Egormin, T.S. Piskunova, I.G. Popovich, M.A. Zabezhinski, I.G. Kovalenko, T.E. Poroshina, A.V. Semenchenko, M. Provinciali, F. Re, and C. Franceschi, *Effect of metformin on life span and on the development of spontaneous mammary tumors in HER-2/neu transgenic mice.* Exp Gerontol, 2005. 40(8-9): p. 685-93.

- 198. Jiralerspong, S., S.L. Palla, S.H. Giordano, F. Meric-Bernstam, C. Liedtke, C.M. Barnett, L. Hsu, M.C. Hung, G.N. Hortobagyi, and A.M. Gonzalez-Angulo, *Metformin and pathologic complete responses to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in diabetic patients with breast cancer.* J Clin Oncol, 2009. **27**(20): p. 3297-302.
- 199. Maschek, G., N. Savaraj, W. Priebe, P. Braunschweiger, K. Hamilton, G.F. Tidmarsh, L.R. De Young, and T.J. Lampidis, 2-deoxy-D-glucose increases the efficacy of adriamycin and paclitaxel in human osteosarcoma and non-small cell lung cancers in vivo. Cancer Res, 2004. 64(1): p. 31-4.
- 200. Singh, D., A.K. Banerji, B.S. Dwarakanath, R.P. Tripathi, J.P. Gupta, T.L. Mathew, T. Ravindranath, and V. Jain, *Optimizing cancer radiotherapy with 2-deoxy-d-glucose dose escalation studies in patients with glioblastoma multiforme*. Strahlenther Onkol, 2005. **181**(8): p. 507-14.
- 201. Cortes-Cros, M., C. Hemmerlin, S. Ferretti, J. Zhang, J.S. Gounarides, H. Yin, A. Muller, A. Haberkorn, P. Chene, W.R. Sellers, and F. Hofmann, *M2 isoform of pyruvate kinase is dispensable for tumor maintenance and growth.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2013. **110**(2): p. 489-94.
- 202. Lee, K., H. Zhang, D.Z. Qian, S. Rey, J.O. Liu, and G.L. Semenza, Acriflavine inhibits HIF-1 dimerization, tumor growth, and vascularization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2009. **106**(42): p. 17910-5.
- 203. Welsh, S., R. Williams, L. Kirkpatrick, G. Paine-Murrieta, and G. Powis, *Antitumor activity and pharmacodynamic properties of PX-478, an inhibitor of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha.* Mol Cancer Ther, 2004. **3**(3): p. 233-44.

- 204. Manning, B.D., Balancing Akt with S6K: implications for both metabolic diseases and tumorigenesis. J Cell Biol, 2004. 167(3): p. 399-403.
- 205. Mashima, T., H. Seimiya, and T. Tsuruo, *De novo fatty-acid synthesis and related pathways as molecular targets for cancer therapy.* Br J Cancer, 2009. **100**(9): p. 1369-72.
- 206. Pizer, E.S., S.F. Lax, F.P. Kuhajda, G.R. Pasternack, and R.J. Kurman, *Fatty acid synthase expression in endometrial carcinoma: correlation with cell proliferation and hormone receptors.* Cancer, 1998. **83**(3): p. 528-37.
- 207. Wu, T.T., B. Rezai, A. Rashid, M.C. Luce, M.C. Cayouette, C. Kim, N. Sani, L. Mishra, C.A. Moskaluk, J.H. Yardley, and S.R. Hamilton, *Genetic alterations and epithelial dysplasia in juvenile polyposis syndrome and sporadic juvenile polyps.*Am J Pathol, 1997. **150**(3): p. 939-47.
- 208. Alo, P.L., P. Visca, A. Marci, A. Mangoni, C. Botti, and U. Di Tondo, *Expression of fatty acid synthase (FAS) as a predictor of recurrence in stage I breast carcinoma patients.* Cancer, 1996. **77**(3): p. 474-82.
- 209. Li, J.N., M. Gorospe, F.J. Chrest, T.S. Kumaravel, M.K. Evans, W.F. Han, and E.S. Pizer, *Pharmacological inhibition of fatty acid synthase activity produces both cytostatic and cytotoxic effects modulated by p53.* Cancer Res, 2001.
 61(4): p. 1493-9.
- 210. Vazquez-Martin, A., R. Colomer, J. Brunet, and J.A. Menendez, *Pharmacological blockade of fatty acid synthase (FASN) reverses acquired autoresistance to trastuzumab (Herceptin by transcriptionally inhibiting 'HER2*)

super-expression' occurring in high-dose trastuzumab-conditioned SKBR3/Tzb100 breast cancer cells. Int J Oncol, 2007. **31**(4): p. 769-76.

- Bauer, D.E., G. Hatzivassiliou, F. Zhao, C. Andreadis, and C.B. Thompson, *ATP citrate lyase is an important component of cell growth and transformation.* Oncogene, 2005. 24(41): p. 6314-22.
- 212. Menendez, J.A. and R. Lupu, *Fatty acid synthase and the lipogenic phenotype in cancer pathogenesis.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2007. **7**(10): p. 763-77.
- 213. Milgraum, L.Z., L.A. Witters, G.R. Pasternack, and F.P. Kuhajda, *Enzymes of the fatty acid synthesis pathway are highly expressed in in situ breast carcinoma.* Clin Cancer Res, 1997. **3**(11): p. 2115-20.
- 214. Brusselmans, K., E. De Schrijver, G. Verhoeven, and J.V. Swinnen, RNA interference-mediated silencing of the acetyl-CoA-carboxylase-alpha gene induces growth inhibition and apoptosis of prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res, 2005. 65(15): p. 6719-25.
- Chajes, V., M. Cambot, K. Moreau, G.M. Lenoir, and V. Joulin, *Acetyl-CoA carboxylase alpha is essential to breast cancer cell survival.* Cancer Res, 2006.
 66(10): p. 5287-94.
- 216. Visca, P., V. Sebastiani, C. Botti, M.G. Diodoro, R.P. Lasagni, F. Romagnoli, A. Brenna, B.C. De Joannon, R.P. Donnorso, G. Lombardi, and P.L. Alo, *Fatty acid synthase (FAS) is a marker of increased risk of recurrence in lung carcinoma.* Anticancer Res, 2004. **24**(6): p. 4169-73.

- 217. Beigneux, A.P., C. Kosinski, B. Gavino, J.D. Horton, W.C. Skarnes, and S.G. Young, *ATP-citrate lyase deficiency in the mouse*. J Biol Chem, 2004. **279**(10): p. 9557-64.
- Chypre, M., N. Zaidi, and K. Smans, *ATP-citrate lyase: a mini-review.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2012. **422**(1): p. 1-4.
- 219. Wang, Q., S. Li, L. Jiang, Y. Zhou, Z. Li, M. Shao, W. Li, and Y. Liu, *Deficiency in hepatic ATP-citrate lyase affects VLDL-triglyceride mobilization and liver fatty acid composition in mice.* J Lipid Res, 2010. **51**(9): p. 2516-26.
- Wellen, K.E., G. Hatzivassiliou, U.M. Sachdeva, T.V. Bui, J.R. Cross, and C.B. Thompson, *ATP-citrate lyase links cellular metabolism to histone acetylation.* Science, 2009. **324**(5930): p. 1076-80.
- Hatzivassiliou, G., F. Zhao, D.E. Bauer, C. Andreadis, A.N. Shaw, D. Dhanak,
 S.R. Hingorani, D.A. Tuveson, and C.B. Thompson, *ATP citrate lyase inhibition can suppress tumor cell growth.* Cancer Cell, 2005. 8(4): p. 311-21.
- 222. Hartman, Z.C., G.M. Poage, P. den Hollander, A. Tsimelzon, J. Hill, N. Panupinthu, Y. Zhang, A. Mazumdar, S.G. Hilsenbeck, G.B. Mills, and P.H. Brown, *Growth of triple-negative breast cancer cells relies upon coordinate autocrine expression of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-8.* Cancer Res, 2013. **73**(11): p. 3470-80.
- 223. Santos, C.R. and A. Schulze, *Lipid metabolism in cancer.* FEBS J, 2012.
 279(15): p. 2610-23.
- 224. Walther, T.C. and R.V. Farese, Jr., *Lipid droplets and cellular lipid metabolism.* Annu Rev Biochem, 2012. **81**: p. 687-714.

- 225. Beckner, M.E., W. Fellows-Mayle, Z. Zhang, N.R. Agostino, J.A. Kant, B.W. Day, and I.F. Pollack, *Identification of ATP citrate lyase as a positive regulator of glycolytic function in glioblastomas.* Int J Cancer, 2010. **126**(10): p. 2282-95.
- Wymann, M.P. and R. Schneiter, *Lipid signalling in disease*. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2008. 9(2): p. 162-76.
- 227. Caliskan, M., J.X. Chong, L. Uricchio, R. Anderson, P. Chen, C. Sougnez, K. Garimella, S.B. Gabriel, M.A. dePristo, K. Shakir, D. Matern, S. Das, D. Waggoner, D.L. Nicolae, and C. Ober, *Exome sequencing reveals a novel mutation for autosomal recessive non-syndromic mental retardation in the TECR gene on chromosome 19p13.* Hum Mol Genet, 2011. **20**(7): p. 1285-9.
- 228. Du, S., Z. Guan, L. Hao, Y. Song, L. Wang, L. Gong, L. Liu, X. Qi, Z. Hou, and S. Shao, *Fructose-bisphosphate aldolase a is a potential metastasis-associated marker of lung squamous cell carcinoma and promotes lung cell tumorigenesis and migration.* PLoS One, 2014. **9**(1): p. e85804.
- 229. Ritterson Lew, C. and D.R. Tolan, *Targeting of several glycolytic enzymes using RNA interference reveals aldolase affects cancer cell proliferation through a non-glycolytic mechanism.* J Biol Chem, 2012. **287**(51): p. 42554-63.
- Xjellin, H., H. Johansson, A. Hoog, J. Lehtio, P.J. Jakobsson, and M. Kjellman,
 Differentially expressed proteins in malignant and benign adrenocortical tumors. PLoS One, 2014. 9(2): p. e87951.
- 231. Wingate, H., N. Zhang, M.J. McGarhen, I. Bedrosian, J.W. Harper, and K. Keyomarsi, *The tumor-specific hyperactive forms of cyclin E are resistant to inhibition by p21 and p27.* J Biol Chem, 2005. **280**(15): p. 15148-57.

- Mills, G.B. and W.H. Moolenaar, *The emerging role of lysophosphatidic acid in cancer*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2003. 3(8): p. 582-91.
- 233. Gupta, G.P., D.X. Nguyen, A.C. Chiang, P.D. Bos, J.Y. Kim, C. Nadal, R.R. Gomis, K. Manova-Todorova, and J. Massague, *Mediators of vascular remodelling co-opted for sequential steps in lung metastasis.* Nature, 2007.
 446(7137): p. 765-70.
- 234. Rysman, E., K. Brusselmans, K. Scheys, L. Timmermans, R. Derua, S. Munck,
 P.P. Van Veldhoven, D. Waltregny, V.W. Daniels, J. Machiels, F.
 Vanderhoydonc, K. Smans, E. Waelkens, G. Verhoeven, and J.V. Swinnen, *De novo lipogenesis protects cancer cells from free radicals and chemotherapeutics by promoting membrane lipid saturation.* Cancer Res, 2010. **70**(20): p. 8117-26.
- Sun, T., K. Hayakawa, K.S. Bateman, and M.E. Fraser, *Identification of the citrate-binding site of human ATP-citrate lyase using X-ray crystallography.* J Biol Chem, 2010. **285**(35): p. 27418-28.
- Zu, X.Y., Q.H. Zhang, J.H. Liu, R.X. Cao, J. Zhong, G.H. Yi, Z.H. Quan, and G.
 Pizzorno, *ATP citrate lyase inhibitors as novel cancer therapeutic agents.*Recent Pat Anticancer Drug Discov, 2012. 7(2): p. 154-67.
- Schwartz, L., M. Abolhassani, A. Guais, E. Sanders, J.M. Steyaert, F. Campion, and M. Israel, A combination of alpha lipoic acid and calcium hydroxycitrate is efficient against mouse cancer models: preliminary results. Oncol Rep, 2010.
 23(5): p. 1407-16.
- 238. Berkhout, T.A., L.M. Havekes, N.J. Pearce, and P.H. Groot, *The effect of (-)hydroxycitrate on the activity of the low-density-lipoprotein receptor and 3-*

hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase levels in the human hepatoma cell line Hep G2. Biochem J, 1990. **272**(1): p. 181-6. Kimberly Marie Szymanski was born March 19, 1983 to Alan and Peggy Szymanski in Cleveland, Ohio. After graduating from Kingwood High School in 2001, she attended Baylor University in Waco, Texas and graduated in 2005 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Biochemistry. Unsure as to whether she wanted to pursue a career in research, she worked as a research assistant at UT Southwestern in Dallas, Texas under Joel M. Goodman, Ph.D. from 2005-2007 and this experience initiated her passion for medical research. In 2008, she married Charles Lucenay and began studies at The University of Texas Health Science Center Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences to pursue a doctor of philosophy degree in cancer biology. In 2011, she and her husband welcomed their first son, Connor, and three years later welcomed their second son, Camden. Both boys fill their lives with endless happiness and joy.